
 
BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
CITRUS HEIGHTS WATER DISTRICT (CHWD) 

SEPTEMBER 28, 2022 beginning at 6:00 PM 
 

DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE 
6230 SYLVAN ROAD, CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 

 
PHONE CALL IN: (253) 215-8782 

PHONE MEETING ID: 864 2984 1645 
COMPUTER AUDIO/LIVE MEETING PRESENTATIONS: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86429841645 

 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you have a disability and need a 
disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact 
the General Manager at (916) 725-6873. Requests must be made as early as possible, and at 
least one full business day before the start of the meeting.  

CALL TO ORDER: 
Upon request, agenda items may be moved to accommodate those in attendance wishing 
to address that item. Please inform the General Manager. 

 
ROLL CALL OF DIRECTORS: 
 

  PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
CLOSED SESSION: 
CL-1. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

a. Pursuant to Section 54956.8: 
Property: Parcel Number 257-0040-024-0000 
Agency Negotiators: Brian Hensley, Rebecca Scott, Josh Nelson, Melissa 
Pieri, Hilary Straus, Steve Anderson, Brittney Moore, Lea Park-Kim, Alberto 
Preciado 
Negotiating Parties: San Juan Unified School District 
Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Payment 

 
FUTURE CHWD BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING DATES: 
    September 28, 2022   6:30 PM   Regular Meeting 

October 19, 2022 6:30 PM Regular Meeting 
November 16, 2022 6:30 PM Regular Meeting 
December 21, 2022 6:30 PM Regular Meeting 

 
ADJOURNMENT: 

 
CERTIFICATION: 

 
I do hereby declare and certify that this agenda for this Special Meeting of the Board of Directors 
of the Citrus Heights Water District was posted in a location accessible to the public at the District 
Administrative Office Building, 6230 Sylvan Road, Citrus Heights, CA 95610 at least 24 hours 
prior to the special meeting in accordance with Government Code Section 54956. 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86429841645


 

Dated: September 22, 2022

 
 

Brittney Moore, Chief Board Clerk 



                   
BOARD MEETING AGENDA  

      REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
CITRUS HEIGHTS WATER DISTRICT (CHWD) 

SEPTEMBER 28, 2022 beginning at 6:30 PM 
 

DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE 
6230 SYLVAN ROAD, CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 

 
PHONE CALL IN: (253) 215-8782 

PHONE MEETING ID: 864 2984 1645 
COMPUTER AUDIO/LIVE MEETING PRESENTATIONS: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86429841645 

 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you have a disability and need a 
disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact 
the General Manager at (916) 725-6873.  Requests must be made as early as possible, and at 
least one full business day before the start of the meeting.  
 
Members of the public may attend the meeting in person at the District headquarters or remotely 
through the phone number and link above.  
 
CALL TO ORDER: 

Upon request, agenda items may be moved to accommodate those in attendance wishing 
to address that item. Please inform the General Manager. 

 
ROLL CALL OF DIRECTORS: 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
  
VISITORS:  
  
PUBLIC COMMENT: 

The Public shall have the opportunity to directly address the Board on any item of interest 
to the public before or during the Board’s consideration of that item pursuant to 
Government Code Section 54954.3. Public comment on items of interest within the 
jurisdiction of the Board is welcome. The Presiding Officer will limit comments to three 
(3) minutes per speaker. 

 
(A) Action Item  (D) Discussion Item                 (I) Information Item 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR: (I/A) 

All items under the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and will be approved by 
one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a member of the 
Board, Audience, or Staff request a specific item be removed for separate discussion/action 
before the motion to approve the Consent Calendar. 

  
CC-1a. Minutes of the Regular Meeting – August 17, 2022 (A) 
CC-1b. Minutes of the Special Meeting – September 6, 2022 (A) 
CC-1c. Minutes of the Special Meeting – September 19, 2022 (A) 

Recommendation:  
Approve the minutes of the August 17, 2022 Regular Meeting, minutes of 
the September 6, 2022 Special Meeting, and the minutes of the September 
19, 2022 Special Meeting. 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86429841645


 
 
 

Citrus Heights Water District  Page 2 
 

CC-2.    Revenue Analysis Report for August 2022 (I) 
CC-3.  Assessor/Collector’s Roll Adjustment for August 2022 (I) 
CC-4.  Treasurer’s Report for August 2022 (I)  
CC-5.  Treasurer’s Report of Fund Balances for August 2022 (I) 
CC-6.  Operating Budget Analysis for August 2022 (I) 
CC-7.  Capital Projects Summary for August 2022 (I) 
CC-8.  Warrants for August (I) 
CC-9.  Purchase Card Distributions for August (I) 
CC-10.  Employee Recognitions (I) 
CC-11.  Long-Range Agenda (I) 
CC-12.  Engineering Department Report (I) 
CC-13.  Operations Department Report (I) 
CC-14.  2022 Water Supply (I) 
CC-15.  Water Supply Reliability (I)  
CC-16.  Water Efficiency and Safety Program Update (I) 

            CC-17.   Discussion and Possible Action to Extend Resolution 07-2021 Authorizing    
  Remote Public Meetings (A) 

   Recommendation: 
   Extend Resolution 07-2021 to permit future hybrid remote public   

  meetings by the Board of Directors.     
            CC-18.    Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Agreement with TAK    
                            Communications Ca, Inc. for the 6700 Madison Avenue at Dewey Drive  
                            Water Main Project (A) 
   Recommendation: 

  Accept the bid of TAK Communications Ca, Inc. in the amount of  
                        $57,930.00 and establish a contingency fund in the amount of $5,793.00  
                         (10%), for a total amount of $63,723.00. Authorize the General Manager  
                         to execute an agreement with TAK Communications Ca, Inc. 

 
PRESENTATIONS: 
            None.  
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
            None.  
 
STUDY SESSION: 
 None. 
 
BUSINESS: 
         B-1. Advanced Water Meter Replacement Planning Study Update (A) 
   Recommendations: 

1. Receive and file the Study’s Technical Memos. 
2. Provide direction to Staff to return to the Board in Q2 of 2023 with an 

update on CHWD’s meter program and the Regional Program.  
            
MANAGEMENT SERVICES REPORTS (I):  
 None. 
 



 
 
 

Citrus Heights Water District  Page 3 
 

CONSULTANTS’ AND LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORTS (I): 
None.  

 
DIRECTOR’S AND REPRESENTATIVE'S REPORTS (I):  

D-1. Regional Water Authority (Sheehan/Straus). 
D-2. Sacramento Groundwater Authority (Sheehan). 
D-3. San Juan Water District (All). 
D-4. Association of California Water Agencies (Wheaton).  
D-5. ACWA Joint Powers Insurance Authority (Wheaton/Moore). 
D-6. City of Citrus Heights (Pieri). 
D-7.  Chamber of Commerce Update (Park-Kim). 
D-8. RWA Legislative and Regulatory Affairs Update (Park-Kim).  
D-9.  Customer Advisory Committee (Riehle/Park-Kim).  
D-10. Other Reports.  

 
CLOSED SESSION: 

None.  
 
FUTURE CHWD BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING DATES: 
 October 19, 2022 6:30 PM Regular Meeting 
 November 16, 2022 6:30 PM  Regular Meeting 
 December 21, 2022 6:30 PM Regular Meeting 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I do hereby declare and certify that this agenda for this Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
of the Citrus Heights Water District was posted in a location accessible to the public at the District 
Administrative Office Building, 6230 Sylvan Road, Citrus Heights, CA 95610 at least 72 hours 
prior to the Regular meeting in accordance with Government Code Section 54954.2. 
 
 
 
 
                 Dated: September 22, 2022 
Brittney Moore, Chief Board Clerk  
 









































































































































































SECTION 00441 
IRAN CONTRACTING ACT CERTIFICATION 

 
 

SECTION 00441 
IRAN CONTRACTING ACT CERTIFICATION 

- 30 - 

IRAN CONTRACTING ACT CERTIFICATION  

 (Public Contract Code section 2200 et seq.) 
 
As required by California Public Contract Code section 2204, the Contractor certifies 
subject to penalty for perjury that the option checked below relating to the Contractor’s 
status in regard to the Iran Contracting Act of 2010 (Public Contract Code section 2200 
et seq.) is true and correct: 
 
 The Contractor is not: 

(i) identified on the current list of persons and entities engaging in investment 
activities in Iran prepared by the California Department of General Services 
in accordance with subdivision (b) of Public Contract Code section 2203; or 

(ii) a financial institution that extends, for 45 Days or more, credit in the amount 
of $20,000,000 or more to any other person or entity identified on the current 
list of persons and entities engaging in investment activities in Iran prepared 
by the California Department of General Services in accordance with 
subdivision (b) of Public Contract Code section 2203, if that person or entity 
uses or will use the credit to provide goods or services in the energy sector 
in Iran. 

 District has exempted the Contractor from the requirements of the Iran Contracting 
Act of 2010 after making a public finding that, absent the exemption, District will 
be unable to obtain the goods and/or services to be provided pursuant to the 
Contract. 

 The amount of the Contract payable to the Contractor for the Work does not 
exceed $1,000,000. 

 
Signed______________________________________________________ 

Titled_______________________________________________________ 

Firm_________________________________________________________ 

Date_________________________________________________________ 

Note: In accordance with Public Contract Code section 2205, false certification of this form shall be reported to the California Attorney 
General and may result in civil penalties equal to the greater of $250,000 or twice the Contract Price, termination of the Contract 
and/or ineligibility to bid on contracts for three years.  
 

END OF IRAN CONTRACTING ACT CERTIFICATION 
 



SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

 
 

SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

- 31 - 

CONTRACT 

THIS CONTRACT is made this _____ Day of _________, 2022, in the County of 
Sacramento, State of California, by and between the Citrus Heights Water District, 
hereinafter called District, and TAK Communications Ca, Inc., hereinafter called 
Contractor.  The District and the Contractor for the considerations stated herein agree as 
follows:  

ARTICLE 1. SCOPE OF WORK.  The Contractor shall perform all Work within the time 
stipulated the Contract and shall provide all labor, materials, equipment, tools, utility 
services, and transportation to complete all of the Work required in strict compliance with 
the Contract Documents as specified in Article 5 below for the following Project: 

6700 Madison Avenue at Dewey Drive Water Main Project 

The Contractor and its surety shall be liable to the District for any damages arising as a 
result of the Contractor’s failure to comply with this obligation. 

ARTICLE 2. TIME FOR COMPLETION.  Time is of the essence in the performance of 
the Work.  The Work shall be commenced on the date stated in the District’s Notice to 
Proceed.  The Contractor shall complete all Work required by the Contract Documents 
within 45 calendar Days from the commencement date stated in the Notice to Proceed, 
herein after the Contract Time.  By its signature hereunder, Contractor agrees the 
Contract Time for completion set forth above is adequate and reasonable to complete the 
Work.   

ARTICLE 3. CONTRACT PRICE.  The District shall pay to the Contractor as full 
compensation for the performance of the Contract, subject to any additions or deductions 
as provided in the Contract Documents, and including all applicable taxes and costs, the 
sum of Fifty-Seven Thousand Nine Hundred Thirty Dollars and Zero Cents ($57,930.00), 
hereinafter the Contract Price.  Payment shall be made as set forth in the General 
Conditions. 

ARTICLE 4. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  The Contractor acknowledges that the District 
will sustain actual damages for each and every Day completion of the Project is delayed 
beyond the Contract Time.  Because of the nature of the Project, it would be impracticable 
or extremely difficult to determine the District’s actual damages.  Accordingly, as provided 
in Government Code section 53069.85, it is agreed that the Contractor will pay the District 
the sum of $500.00 for each and every calendar Day of delay in completing the Work 
beyond the time prescribed in the Contract Documents for finishing the Work, as 
Liquidated Damages and not as a penalty or forfeiture.  In the event the Liquidated 
Damages are not paid, the Contractor agrees the District may deduct that amount from 
any money due or that may become due the Contractor under the Contract.  This Article 
does not affect the District’s rights to other damages or remedies specified in the Contract 
Documents or allowed by law. 



SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

 
 

SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

- 32 - 

Should Contractor be inexcusably delayed in the performance of the Work, District may 
deduct Liquidated Damages based on its estimate of when Contractor will achieve Final 
Completion or other milestones.  District need not wait until Final Completion to withhold 
Liquidated Damages from Contractor. 

Liquidated Damages are not a penalty but an agreed upon estimate of the actual 
damages that would be sustained by the District for delay, including but not limited to loss 
of revenue, inconvenience to the District and the public, and increased Project 
administration expenses, such as extra inspection, construction management, staff time 
and architectural and engineering expenses.  Liquidated Damages do not include actual 
damages the District incurs on account of claims by third parties against the District on 
account of any delay. 

Should money due or to become due to the Contractor be insufficient to cover Liquidated 
Damages or other offsets due, then Contractor forthwith shall pay the remainder of the 
assessed liquidated damages to District.  

ARTICLE 5. COMPONENT PARTS OF THE CONTRACT.  The “Contract Documents” 
include the following documents, each of which is incorporated into this Contract by 
reference: 

• Notice Inviting Bids 
• Instructions to Bidders 
• Bid Form 
• Contractor’s Certificate Regarding Workers’ Compensation 
• Bid Bond 
• Non-Collusion Declaration form 
• Contractor Information and Experience Form 
• List of Subcontractors Form 
• Iran Contracting Act Certification 
• Contract 
• Performance Bond 
• Payment Bond 
• General Conditions 
• Special Conditions 
• General Specifications 
• Special Provisions 
• Construction Details 
• Project Plans 
• Encroachment Permit Documents 
• Any other documents contained in or incorporated into the Contract  

The Contactor shall complete the Work in strict accordance with all of the Contract 
Documents.  



SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

 
 

SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

- 33 - 

All of the Contract Documents are intended to be complementary. Work required by one 
of the Contract Documents and not by others shall be done as if required by all. This 
Contract shall supersede any prior agreement of the parties. 

ARTICLE 6. PROVISIONS REQUIRED BY LAW.  Each and every provision of law 
required to be included in these Contract Documents shall be deemed to be included in 
these Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall comply with all requirements of 
applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to, 
the provisions of the California Labor Code and Public Contract Code applicable to this 
Project.   

If the Work involves federal funds, the Contractor and all its subcontractors shall comply 
with all requirements set forth in the attached Federal Requirements. 

ARTICLE 7. INDEMNIFICATION.  Contractor shall provide indemnification as set forth 
in the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 8. PREVAILING WAGES.  Contractor shall be required to pay the prevailing 
rate of wages in accordance with the Labor Code which such rates shall be made 
available at the District’s offices, 6230 Sylvan Road, Citrus Heights, California 95610, or 
may be obtained online at http//www.dir.ca.gov/dlsr. and which must be posted at the job 
site. 



SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

 
 

SECTION 00500 
CONTRACT 

- 34 - 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Contract has been duly executed by the above-named 
parties, on the Day and year above written. 

TAK Communications Ca, Inc. 

By ______________________________ 
 

Name and Title: 

  

License No. 

__________ 

DIR Registration No. 

______________ 

CITRUS HEIGHTS WATER DISTRICT 

By______________________________ 
 

Name and Title: 

Hilary M. Straus, General Manager  

 

END OF CONTRACT 

 



SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

- 35 - 

PERFORMANCE BOND 

 KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: 

 THAT WHEREAS, the Citrus Heights Water District (hereinafter referred to as 
“District”) has awarded to ____________________, (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Contractor”) _______________________ an agreement for 
______________________________  (hereinafter referred to as the “Project”). 

 WHEREAS, the work to be performed by the Contractor is more particularly set 
forth in the Contract Documents for the Project dated ________________, (hereinafter 
referred to as “Contract Documents”), the terms and conditions of which are expressly 
incorporated herein by reference; and 

 WHEREAS, the Contractor is required by said Contract Documents to perform the 
terms thereof and to furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said Contract 
Documents. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, we, _______________,  the undersigned Contractor and 
_____________________________________________ as Surety, a corporation 
organized and duly authorized to transact business under the laws of the State of 
California, are held and firmly bound unto the District in the sum of 
___________________________ DOLLARS, ($____________), said sum being not less 
than one hundred percent (100%) of the total amount of the Contract, for which amount 
well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors and administrators, 
successors and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

 THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that, if the Contractor, his or 
its heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns, shall in all things stand to and 
abide by, and well and truly keep and perform the covenants, conditions and agreements 
in the Contract Documents and any alteration thereof made as therein provided, on its 
part, to be kept and performed at the time and in the manner therein specified, and in all 
respects according to their intent and meaning; and shall faithfully fulfill all obligations 
including the one-year guarantee of all materials and workmanship; and shall indemnify 
and save harmless the District, its officers and agents, as stipulated in said Contract 
Documents, then this obligation shall become null and void; otherwise it shall be and 
remain in full force and effect.   

 As a condition precedent to the satisfactory completion of the Contract Documents, 
unless otherwise provided for in the Contract Documents, the above obligation shall hold 
good for a period of one (1) year after the acceptance of the work by District, during which 
time if Contractor shall fail to make full, complete, and satisfactory repair and 
replacements and totally protect the District from loss or damage resulting from or caused 
by defective materials or faulty workmanship, Surety shall undertake and faithfully fulfill 
all such obligations.  The obligations of Surety hereunder shall continue so long as any 
obligation of Contractor remains. Nothing herein shall limit the District’s rights or the 



SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

- 36 - 

Contractor or Surety’s obligations under the Contract, law or equity, including, but not 
limited to, California Code of Civil Procedure section 337.15. 

 Whenever Contractor shall be, and is declared by the District to be, in default under 
the Contract Documents, the Surety shall remedy the default pursuant to the Contract 
Documents, or shall promptly, at the District’s option: 

(1) Take over and complete the Project in accordance with all terms and 
conditions in the Contract Documents; or 

(2) Obtain a bid or bids for completing the Project in accordance with all terms 
and conditions in the Contract Documents and upon determination by 
Surety of the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, arrange for a 
Contract between such bidder, the Surety and the District, and make 
available as work progresses sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion 
of the Project, less the balance of the contract price, including other costs 
and damages for which Surety may be liable.  The term “balance of the 
contract price” as used in this paragraph shall mean the total amount 
payable to Contractor by the District under the Contract and any 
modification thereto, less any amount previously paid by the District to the 
Contractor and any other set offs pursuant to the Contract Documents. 

(3) Permit the District to complete the Project in any manner consistent with 
local, California and federal law and make available as work progresses 
sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion of the Project, less the balance 
of the contract price, including other costs and damages for which Surety 
may be liable.  The term “balance of the contract price” as used in this 
paragraph shall mean the total amount payable to Contractor by the District 
under the Contract and any modification thereto, less any amount 
previously paid by the District to the Contractor and any other set offs 
pursuant to the Contract Documents. 

 Surety expressly agrees that the District may reject any contractor or subcontractor 
which may be proposed by Surety in fulfillment of its obligations in the event of default by 
the Contractor. 

 Surety shall not utilize Contractor in completing the Project nor shall Surety accept 
a bid from Contractor for completion of the Project if the District, when declaring the 
Contractor  in default, notifies Surety of the District’s objection to Contractor’s further 
participation in the completion of the Project. 

 The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, 
extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Contract Documents or to the 
Project to be performed thereunder shall in any way affect its obligations on this bond, 
and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration or 



SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

- 37 - 

addition to the terms of the Contract Documents or to the Project, including but not limited 
to the provisions of sections 2819 and 2845 of the California Civil Code. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands and seals this _______ Day 
of ______________, 20__). 

(Corporate Seal)      
Contractor/ Principal 

By        
 
Title        
 
 
     

(Corporate Seal) Surety 

By      
         Attorney-in-Fact 

Signatures of those signing for the Contractor and Surety must be notarized and evidence 
of corporate authority attached. 

(Attach Attorney-in-Fact Certificate)  Title        
 
The rate of premium on this bond is ____________ per thousand.  The total amount of 
premium charges, $_______________________________. 
(The above must be filled in by corporate attorney.) 

THIS IS A REQUIRED FORM 
Any claims under this bond may be addressed to: 
(Name and Address of Surety) ___________________________________________ 
     ___________________________________________ 
     ___________________________________________ 
 
(Name and Address of Agent or ___________________________________________ 
Representative for service of 
process in California, if different ___________________________________________ 
from above) 
     ___________________________________________ 
(Telephone number of Surety and ___________________________________________ 
Agent or Representative for service 
of process in California 



SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

- 38 - 

Notary Acknowledgment 

 A notary public or other officer completing this certificate 
verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the 
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the 
truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF ______________ 

On   , 20___, before me, _______________________________, Notary Public, personally 
 

appeared  , who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory 
Name(s) of Signer(s) 

evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to 
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their 
signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed 
the instrument. 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph 
is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

 
Signature of Notary Public 

OPTIONAL 
Though the information below is not required by law, it may prove valuable to persons relying on the document 

and could prevent fraudulent removal and reattachment of this form to another document. 
CAPACITY CLAIMED BY SIGNER  DESCRIPTION OF ATTACHED DOCUMENT 

 Individual  
 Corporate Officer 

   

 Title(s)  Title or Type of Document 

 Partner(s)  Limited   

  General  Number of Pages 

 Attorney-In-Fact   

 Trustee(s)   
 Guardian/Conservator  Date of Document 
 Other:    
Signer is representing: 
Name Of Person(s) Or Entity(ies) 

  

  
  Signer(s) Other Than Named Above 

 
 



SECTION 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

- 39 - 

PAYMENT BOND 

 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS That 

 WHEREAS, the Citrus Heights Water District (hereinafter designated as the 
“District”), by action taken or a resolution passed ___________ , 20____has awarded to 
________________ hereinafter designated as the “Principal,” a contract for the work 
described as follows: 

_____________________________________________________ (the “Project”); and  

 WHEREAS, the work to be performed by the Principal is more particularly set forth 
in the Contract Documents for the Project dated __________________ (“Contract 
Documents”), the terms and conditions of which are expressly incorporated by reference; 
and 

 WHEREAS, said Principal is required to furnish a bond in connection with said 
contract; providing that if said Principal or any of its Subcontractors shall fail to pay for 
any materials, provisions, provender, equipment, or other supplies used in, upon, for or 
about the performance of the work contracted to be done, or for any work or labor done 
thereon of any kind, or for amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Code or for 
any amounts required to be deducted, withheld, and paid over to the Employment 
Development Department from the wages of employees of said Principal and its 
Subcontractors with respect to such work or labor the Surety on this bond will pay for the 
same to the extent hereinafter set forth. 

 NOW THEREFORE, we, the Principal and __________________________ as 
Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the District in the penal sum of ______________ 
      Dollars ($___________) lawful money of the United 
States of America, for the payment of which sum well and truly to be made, we bind 
ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and 
severally, firmly by these presents. 

 THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH that if said Principal, his or its 
subcontractors, heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns, shall fail to pay 
any of the persons named in Section 9100 of the Civil Code, fail to pay for any materials, 
provisions or other supplies, used in, upon, for or about the performance of the work 
contracted to be done, or for any work or labor thereon of any kind, or amounts due under 
the Unemployment Insurance Code with respect to work or labor performed under the 
contract, or for any amounts required to be deducted, withheld, and paid over to the 
Employment Development Department or Franchise Tax Board from the wages of 
employees of the Contractor and his subcontractors pursuant to Section 18663 of the 
Revenue and Taxation Code, with respect to such work and labor the Surety or Sureties 
will pay for the same, in an amount not exceeding the sum herein above specified. 

 This bond shall inure to the benefit of any of the persons named in Section 9100 
of the Civil Code so as to give a right of action to such persons or their assigns in any suit 
brought upon this bond. 

 It is further stipulated and agreed that the Surety on this bond shall not be 
exonerated or released from the obligation of this bond by any change, extension of time 



SECTION 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

- 40 - 

for performance, addition, alteration or modification in, to, or of any contract, plans, 
Specifications, or agreement pertaining or relating to any scheme or work of improvement 
herein above described, or pertaining or relating to the furnishing of labor, materials, or 
equipment therefore, nor by any change or modification of any terms of payment or 
extension of the time for any payment pertaining or relating to any scheme or work of 
improvement herein above described, nor by any rescission or attempted rescission of 
the contract, agreement or bond, nor by any conditions precedent or subsequent in the 
bond attempting to limit the right of recovery of claimants otherwise entitled to recover 
under any such contract or agreement or under the bond, nor by any fraud practiced by 
any person other than the claimant seeking to recover on the bond and that this bond be 
construed most strongly against the Surety and in favor of all persons for whose benefit 
such bond is given, and under no circumstances shall Surety be released from liability to 
those for whose benefit such bond has been given, by reason of any breach of contract 
between the owner or District and original Contractor or on the part of any obligee named 
in such bond, but the sole conditions of recovery shall be that claimant is a person 
described in Section 9100 of the Civil Code, and has not been paid the full amount of his 
claim and that Surety does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension of time, 
addition, alteration or modification herein mentioned and the provisions of sections 2819 
and 2845 of the California Civil Code. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands and seals this _______ 
Day of ______________, 20__. 

(Corporate Seal)      
Contractor/ Principal 

By        
 
Title        
 
 
     

(Corporate Seal) Surety 

By      
         Attorney-in-Fact 

 Title        
 
Signatures of those signing for the Contractor and Surety must be notified and evidence 
of corporate authority attached.  A Power-of-Attorney authorizing the person signing on 
behalf of the Surety to do so much be attached hereto. 
  



SECTION 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 

SECTION 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

- 41 - 

Notary Acknowledgment 

 A notary public or other officer completing this certificate 
verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the 
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the 
truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF ______________ 

On   , 20___, before me, _______________________________, Notary Public, personally 
 

appeared  , who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory 
Name(s) of Signer(s) 

evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to 
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their 
signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed 
the instrument. 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph 
is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

 
Signature of Notary Public 

OPTIONAL 
Though the information below is not required by law, it may prove valuable to persons relying on the document 

and could prevent fraudulent removal and reattachment of this form to another document. 
CAPACITY CLAIMED BY SIGNER  DESCRIPTION OF ATTACHED DOCUMENT 

 Individual  
 Corporate Officer 

   

 Title(s)  Title or Type of Document 

 Partner(s)  Limited   

  General  Number of Pages 

 Attorney-In-Fact   

 Trustee(s)   
 Guardian/Conservator  Date of Document 
 Other:    
Signer is representing: 
Name Of Person(s) Or Entity(ies) 

  

  
  Signer(s) Other Than Named Above 

 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 42 - 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS 

a. Acceptable, Acceptance or words of similar import shall be understood to be the 
acceptance of the Engineer and/or the District . 

b. Act of God is an earthquake of magnitude 3.5 or higher on the Richter scale or a 
tidal wave. 

c. Applicable Laws means laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, codes, regulations 
permits and licenses of any kind, issued by local, state or federal governmental 
authorities or private authorities with jurisdiction (including utilities), to the extent 
they apply to the Work. 

d. Approval means written authorization by Engineer and/or District . 

e. Contract Documents includes all documents as stated in the Contract. 

f. Day shall mean calendar Day unless otherwise specifically designated. 

g. District and Contractor are those stated in the Contract. The terms District, CHWD, 
and Owner may be used interchangeably.   

h. Engineer shall mean the District Engineer or his or her designee, of Citrus Heights 
Water District, acting either directly or through properly authorized agents, such as 
agents acting within the scope of the particular duties entrusted to them.  Also 
sometimes referred to as the “District’s Representative” or “Representative” in the 
Contract Documents. 

i. Equal, Equivalent, Satisfactory, Directed, Designated, Selected, As Required and 
similar words shall mean the written approval, selection, satisfaction, direction, or 
similar action of the Engineer and/or District. 

j. Indicated, Shown, Detailed, Noted, Scheduled or words of similar meaning shall 
mean that reference is made to the drawings, unless otherwise noted. It shall be 
understood that the direction, designation, selection, or similar import of the 
Engineer and/or District is intended, unless stated otherwise. 

k. Install means the complete installation of any item, equipment or material. 

l. Material shall include machinery, equipment, manufactured articles, or 
construction such as form work, fasteners, etc., and any other classes of material 
to be furnished in connection with the Contract.  All materials shall be new unless 
specified otherwise. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 43 - 

m. Perform shall mean that the Contractor, at Contractor’s expense, shall take all 
actions necessary to complete The Work, including furnishing of necessary labor, 
tools, and equipment, and providing and installing Materials that are indicated, 
specified, or required to complete such performance. 

n. Project is The Work planned by District as provided in the Contract Documents. 

o. Provide shall include provide complete in place, that is furnish, install, test and 
make ready for use. 

p. Recyclable Waste Materials shall mean materials removed from the Project site 
which are required to be diverted to a recycling center rather than an area landfill.  
Recyclable Waste Materials include asphalt, concrete, brick, concrete block, and 
rock. The Contractor shall coordinate with the appropriate local government 
agency and comply with local waste disposal ordinances. 

q. Specifications means that portion of the Contract Documents consisting of the 
written requirements for materials, equipment, construction systems, standards 
and workmanship for the work.  In the case of conflict between the Specifications 
and the Contract Documents, the Contract Documents shall prevail.   

r. The Work means the entire improvement planned by the District pursuant to the 
Contract Documents. 

s. Work means labor, equipment and materials incorporated in, or to be incorporated 
in the construction covered by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 2. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

a. Contract Documents.  The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is 
called for by one shall be as binding as if called for by all.  

b. Interpretations.  The Contract Documents are intended to be fully cooperative 
and to be complementary. If Contractor observes that any documents are in 
conflict, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Engineer in writing.  In case of 
conflicts between the Contract Documents, the order of precedence shall be as 
follows: 

1. Change Orders or Work Change Directives, the most recent first 
2. Addenda, the most recent first 
3. Environmental documents and approvals 
4. Special Provisions (or Special Conditions) 
5. Technical Specifications 
6. Plans (Contract Drawings) 
7. Contract 
8. General Conditions 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 44 - 

9. Instructions to Bidders 
10. Notice Inviting Bids 
11. Contractor’s Bid Forms 
12. Standard Specifications/Greenbook 
13. Standard Plans 
14. Reference Documents 

 
With reference to the Drawings, the order of precedence shall be as follows: 

1. Figures govern over scaled dimensions 
2. Detail drawings govern over general drawings 
3. Addenda or Change Order drawings govern over Contract Drawings 
4. Contract Drawings govern over Standard Drawings 
5. Contract Drawings govern over Shop Drawings 

 
c. Conflicts in Contract Documents.  Notwithstanding the orders of precedence 

established above, in the event of conflicts, the higher standard shall always apply. 

d. Organization of Contract Documents.  Organization of the Contract Documents 
into divisions, sections, and articles, and arrangement of drawings shall not control 
the Contractor in dividing The Work among subcontractors or in establishing the 
extent of Work to be performed by any trade. 

ARTICLE 3. CONTRACTS DOCUMENTS: COPIES & MAINTENANCE 

Contractor will be furnished, free of charge, 3 (three) copies of the Contract Documents.  
Additional copies may be obtained at cost of reproduction. 

ARTICLE 4. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A CLEAN, UNDAMAGED SET 
OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AT THE PROJECT SITE. 

a. Examination of Contract Documents.  Before commencing any portion of The 
Work, Contractor shall again carefully examine all applicable Contract Documents, 
the Project site and other information given to Contractor as to materials and 
methods of construction and other Project requirements.  Contractor shall 
immediately notify the Engineer in writing of any potential error, inconsistency, 
ambiguity, conflict or lack of detail or explanation.  If Contractor performs, permits, 
or causes the performance of any Work which is in error, inconsistent or 
ambiguous, or not sufficiently detailed or explained, Contractor shall bear any and 
all resulting costs, including, without limitation, the cost of correction.  In no case 
shall the Contractor or any subcontractor proceed with Work if uncertain as to the 
applicable requirements. 

b. Request for Information; Additional Instructions.  Contractor may make a 
written request for information to address any error, inconsistency, ambiguity, 
conflict or lack of detail or explanation in the Contract Documents.  The Engineer 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 45 - 

will provide any required additional instructions, by means of drawings or other 
written direction, necessary for proper execution of Work. 

c. Quality of Parts, Construction and Finish.  All parts of The Work shall be of the 
best quality of their respective kinds and the Contractor must use all diligence to 
inform itself fully as to the required construction and finish.  In no case shall 
Contractor proceed with The Work without obtaining first from the Engineer such 
written Approval as may be necessary for the proper performance of Work. 

d. Contractor’s Variation from Contract Document Requirements.  If it is found 
that the Contractor has varied from the requirements of the Contract Documents 
including the requirement to comply with all Applicable Laws, ordinances, rules 
and regulations, the Engineer may at any time, before or after completion of the 
Work, order the improper Work removed, remade or replaced by the Contractor at 
the Contractor’s expense.  

ARTICLE 5. EXISTENCE OF UTILITIES AT THE WORK SITE 

a. Existing Utilities  

i. General – Known existing utilities and pipelines are shown on the Plans in 
their approximate locations.  However, nothing herein shall be deemed to 
require the District to indicate the presence of existing service laterals or 
appurtenances whenever the presence of such utilities can be inferred from 
the presence of other visible facilities, such as buildings, cleanouts, meter 
and junction boxes, on or adjacent to the site of the Project.   

ii. The District will assume the responsibility for the timely removal, relocation, 
or protection of existing main or trunk line utility facilities located on the 
Project site if such utilities are not identified by the District in the Contract 
Documents or cannot reasonably be inferred from the presence of other 
visible facilities.  

b. Utility Location  

i. It shall be the Contractor’s responsibility to determine the exact location and 
depth of all utilities, including service connections, which have been marked 
by the respective utility owners and which the Contractor believes may 
affect or be affected by the Contractor’s operations.  The Contractor shall 
not be entitled to additional compensation or time extensions for work 
necessary to avoid interferences or for repair to damaged utilities if the 
Contractor does not expose all such existing utilities as required by this 
section.  



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 46 - 

ii. The locating of utilities shall be in conformance with Government Code 
section 4216 except for the District’s utilities located on the District’s 
property and not in public right-of-way. 

iii. A “High Priority Subsurface Installation” is defined in section 4216 (e) as 
“high-pressure natural gas pipelines with normal operating pressures 
greater than 415kPA gauge (60psig) or greater than six inches nominal pipe 
diameter, petroleum pipelines, pressurized sewage pipelines, high-voltage 
electric supply lines, conductors, or cables that have a potential to ground 
of greater than or equal to 60kv, or hazardous materials pipelines that are 
potentially hazardous to workers or the public if damaged.”   

iv. A “Subsurface Installation” is defined in section 4216 (l) as “any 
underground pipeline, conduit, duct, wire, or other structure, except non-
pressurized sewer lines, non-pressurized storm drains, or other non-
pressurized drain lines.” 

v. Pursuant to Government Code section 4216.2 the Contractor shall contact 
the appropriate regional notification center at least two (2) working Days but 
not more than fourteen (14) Days before performing any excavation.  The 
Contractor shall request that the utility owners conduct a utility survey and 
mark or otherwise indicate the location of their service.  The Contractor shall 
furnish to the District written documentation of its contact(s) with the 
regional notification center prior to commencing excavation at such 
locations. 

vi. After the utility survey is completed, the Contractor shall commence 
“potholing” or hand digging to determine the actual location of the pipe, duct, 
or conduit.  The District shall be given written notice prior to commencing 
potholing operations.  The Contractor shall uncover all piping and conduits, 
to a point one (1) foot below the pipe, where crossings, interferences, or 
connections are shown on the Drawings, prior to trenching or excavating for 
any pipe or structures, to determine actual elevations.  New pipelines shall 
be laid to such grade as to clear all existing facilities, which are to remain in 
service for any period subsequent to the construction of the run of pipe 
involved.  

vii. The Contractor's attention is directed to the requirements of Government 
Code section 4216.2 (a)(2) which provides: “When the excavation is 
proposed within 10 feet of a high priority subsurface installation, the 
operator of the high priority subsurface installation shall notify the excavator 
of the existence of the high priority subsurface installation prior to the legal 
excavation start date and time, as such date and time are authorized 
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of section 4216.2.  The 
excavator and the operator or its representative shall conduct an onsite 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 47 - 

meeting at a mutually-agreed-on time to determine actions or activities 
required to verify the location of the high priority subsurface installation prior 
to start time.”  The Contractor shall notify the District in advance of this 
meeting.   

c. Utility Relocation and Repair  

i. If interferences occur at locations other than those indicated in the Contract 
Documents with reasonable accuracy, Contractor shall notify the District in 
writing.   

ii. Care shall be exercised by the Contractor to prevent damage to adjacent 
existing facilities and public or private works; where equipment will pass 
over these obstructions, suitable planking shall be placed. If high priority 
subsurface installations are damaged and the operator cannot be 
contacted, Contractor shall call 911 emergency services. 

iii. District will compensate the Contractor for the costs of locating and repairing 
damage not due to the failure of the Contractor to exercise reasonable care, 
and for removing or relocating such main or trunk line utility facilities not 
indicated in the Contract Documents with reasonable accuracy, and for the 
cost of equipment on the Project necessarily idled during such work.  The 
payment for such costs will be made as provided in ARTICLE 46 (Changes 
and Extra Work).  The Contractor shall not be assessed liquidated damages 
for delay in completion of the Project when such delay is caused by the 
failure of the District or utility company to provide for removal or relocation 
of such utility facilities.   Requests for extensions of time arising out of utility 
relocation or repair delays shall be filed in accordance with ARTICLE 46. 

iv. The public utility, where they are the owner of the affected utility, shall have 
the sole discretion to perform repairs or relocation work or permit the 
Contractor to do such repairs or relocation work at a reasonable price.  The 
right is reserved to the District and the owners of utilities or their authorized 
agents to enter upon the Work area for the purpose of making such changes 
as are necessary for the rearrangement of their facilities or for making 
necessary connections or repairs to their properties.  The Contractor shall 
cooperate with forces engaged in such work and shall conduct its 
operations in such a manner as to avoid any unnecessary delay or 
hindrance to the work being performed by such forces and shall allow the 
respective utilities time to relocate their facility. 

v. When the Contract Documents indicate that a utility is to be relocated, 
altered or constructed by others, the District will conduct all negotiations 
with the utility company and the work will be done at no cost to the 
Contractor, unless otherwise stipulated in the Contract. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 48 - 

vi. Temporary or permanent relocation or alteration of utilities desired by the 
Contractor for its own convenience shall be the Contractor’s responsibility 
and it shall make arrangements and bear all costs for such work. 

ARTICLE 6. SCHEDULE  

a. General Requirements.  The schedule shall be prepared in a Critical Path Method 
(“CPM”) format and in an electronic scheduling program acceptable to the District.  
Contractor shall deliver the schedule and all updates to the District in both paper 
and electronic form.  The electronic versions shall be in the format and include all 
data used to prepare the schedule; pdf. Copies are not acceptable. 

b. Initial Schedule.  Within  ten (10) Days after the issuance of the Notice to Proceed, 
Contractor shall prepare a schedule for the performance of the Work and shall 
submit this to the Engineer for Approval.  The receipt or Approval of any schedules 
by the Engineer or the District shall not in any way relieve the Contractor of its 
obligations under the Contract Documents.  The Contractor is fully responsible to 
determine and provide for any and all staffing and resources at levels which allow 
for good quality and timely completion of the Project.  Contractor’s failure to 
incorporate all elements of Work required for the performance of the Contract or 
any inaccuracy in the schedule shall not excuse the Contractor from performing all 
Work required for a completed Project within the specified Contract time period.  If 
the required schedule is not received by the time the first payment under the 
Contract is due, Contractor shall not be paid until the schedule is received, 
reviewed and accepted by the Engineer. 

c. Schedule Contents.  The schedule shall allow enough time for inclement weather 
that can reasonably be expected at the Site.  The schedule shall indicate the 
beginning and completion dates of all phases of construction; critical path for all 
critical, sequential time related activities; and “float time” for all “slack” or “gaps” in 
the non-critical activities.  The schedule shall clearly identify all staffing and other 
resources which in the Contractor’s judgment are needed to complete the Project 
within the Contract Time.  Schedule duration shall match the Contract Time.  
Schedules indicating early completion will be rejected. 

d. Schedule Updates.  Contractor shall continuously update its construction 
schedule to show the actual status of the Work and incorporate changes in the 
Work.  Contractor shall submit an updated and accurate construction schedule to 
the Engineer whenever requested to do so by Engineer and with each progress 
payment request.  The Engineer may withhold progress payments or other 
amounts due under the Contract Documents if Contractor fails to submit an 
updated and accurate construction schedule. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 49 - 

ARTICLE 7. SUBSTITUTIONS 

a. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 3400(b) the District may make a finding 
that is described in the invitation for bids that designates certain products, things, 
or services by specific brand or trade name. 

b. Unless specifically designated in the Contract Documents, whenever any material, 
process, or article is indicated or specified by grade, patent, or proprietary name 
or by name of manufacturer, such Specifications shall be deemed to be used for 
the purpose of facilitating the description of the material, process or article desired 
and shall be deemed to be followed by the words “or equal.”  Contractor may, 
unless otherwise stated, offer for substitution any material, process or article which 
shall be substantially equal or better in every respect to that so indicated or 
specified in the Contract Documents.  However, the District may have adopted 
certain uniform standards for certain materials, processes and articles.   

c. Contractor shall submit written requests, together with substantiating data, for 
substitution of any “or equal” material, process or article no later than thirty-five 
(35) Days after award of the Contract.  To facilitate the construction schedule and 
sequencing, some requests may need to be submitted before thirty-five (35) Days 
after award of Contract.  Provisions regarding submission of “or equal” requests 
shall not in any way authorize an extension of time for performance of this Contract.  
If a proposed “or equal” substitution request is rejected, Contractor shall be 
responsible for providing the specified material, process or article without 
adjustment to the Contract Price or Contract Time.  The burden of proof as to the 
equality of any material, process or article shall rest with the Contractor.  The 
District has the complete and sole discretion to determine if a material, process or 
article is an “or equal” material, process or article that may be substituted. 

d. Data required to substantiate requests for substitutions of an “or equal” material, 
process or article data shall include a signed affidavit from the Contractor stating 
that, and describing how, the substituted “or equal” material, process or article is 
equivalent to that specified in every way except as listed on the affidavit.  
Substantiating data shall include any and all illustrations, Specifications, and other 
relevant data including catalog information which describes the requested 
substituted “or equal” material, process or article, and substantiates that it is an “or 
equal” to the material, process or article.  The substantiating data must also include 
information regarding the durability and lifecycle cost of the requested substituted 
“or equal” material, process or article.  Failure to submit all the required 
substantiating data, including the signed affidavit, to the District in a timely fashion 
will result in the rejection of the proposed substitution.  

e. The Contractor shall bear all of the District’s costs associated with the review of 
substitution requests. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 50 - 

f. The Contractor shall be responsible for all costs related to a substituted “or equal” 
material, process or article. 

g. Contractor is directed to the Special Conditions (if any) to review any findings made 
pursuant to Public Contract Code section 3400. 

ARTICLE 8. SHOP DRAWINGS 

a. Contractor shall check and verify all field measurements and shall submit with such 
promptness as to provide adequate time for review and cause no delay in his own 
Work or in that of any other contractor, subcontractor, or worker on the Project, 
three (3) hard copies and one electronic copy of all shop or setting drawings, 
calculations, schedules, and materials list, and all other provisions required by the 
Contract.  Contractor shall sign all submittals affirming that submittals have been 
reviewed and approved by Contractor prior to submission to Engineer. Each 
signed submittal shall affirm that the submittal meets all the requirements of the 
Contract Documents except as specifically and clearly noted and listed on the 
cover sheet of the submittal. 

b. Contractor shall make any corrections required by the Engineer, and file with the 
Engineer three (3) hard copies and one electronic copy each, and furnish such 
other copies as may be needed for completion of the Work.  Engineer’s approval 
of shop drawings shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for deviations from 
the Contract Documents unless Contractor has, in writing, called Engineer’s 
attention to such deviations at time of submission and has secured the Engineer’s 
written Approval.  Engineer’s Approval of shop drawings shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for errors in shop drawings.   

ARTICLE 9. SUBMITTALS 

a. Contractor shall furnish to the Engineer for approval, prior to purchasing or 
commencing any Work, a log of all samples, material lists and certifications, mix 
designs, schedules, and other submittals, as required in the Specifications.  The 
log shall indicate whether samples will be provided in accordance with other 
provisions of this Contract. 

b. Contractor will provide samples and submittals, together with catalogs and 
supporting data required by the Engineer, to the Engineer within a reasonable time 
period to provide for adequate review and avoid delays in the Work.   

c. These requirements shall not authorize any extension of time for performance of 
this Contract. Engineer will check and approve such samples, but only for 
conformance with design concept of work and for compliance with information 
given in the Contract Documents. Work shall be in accordance with approved 
samples and submittals.   



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 51 - 

d. Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of the Contract Time on account 
of the requirements of ARTICLE 9. 

ARTICLE 10. MATERIALS 

a. Except as otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, Contractor 
shall provide and pay for all materials, labor, tools, equipment, water, lights, power, 
transportation, superintendence, temporary constructions of every nature, and all 
other services and facilities of every nature whatsoever necessary to execute and 
complete this Contract within the Contract Time. 

b. Unless otherwise specified, all materials shall be new and the best of their 
respective kinds and grades as noted and/or specified, and workmanship shall be 
of good quality. 

c. Materials shall be furnished in ample quantities and at such times as to ensure 
uninterrupted progress of The Work and shall be stored properly and protected as 
required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be entirely responsible for 
damage or loss by weather or other causes to materials or Work.  

d. No materials, supplies, or equipment for Work under this Contract shall be 
purchased subject to any chattel mortgage or under a conditional sale or other 
agreement by which an interest therein or in any part thereof is retained by the 
seller or supplier. Contractor warrants good title to all material, supplies, and 
equipment installed or incorporated in the work and agrees upon completion of all 
work to deliver the Project, to the District free from any claims, liens, or charges.  

e. Materials shall be stored on the Project site in such manner so as not to interfere 
with any operations of the District or any independent contractor. 

ARTICLE 11. CONTRACTOR’S SUPERVISION 

Contractor shall continuously keep at the Project site, a competent and experienced full-
time Project superintendent approved by the District.  Superintendent must be able to 
proficiently speak, read and write in English.  Contractor shall continuously provide 
efficient supervision of the Project. 

ARTICLE 12. WORKERS 

a. Contractor shall at all times enforce strict discipline and good order among its 
employees and subcontractors. Contractor shall not employ or allow 
subcontractors to employ on the Project any unfit person or any one not skilled in 
the Work assigned to him or her. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 52 - 

b. Any person in the employ of the Contractor whom the District may deem 
incompetent or unfit shall be dismissed from The Work and shall not be employed 
on this Project except with the written Approval of the District. 

ARTICLE 13. SUBCONTRACTORS 

a. Contractor agrees to bind every subcontractor to the terms of the Contract 
Documents as far as such terms are applicable to subcontractor’s portion of The 
Work.  Contractor shall be as fully responsible to the District for the acts and 
omissions of its subcontractors and of persons either directly or indirectly 
employed by its subcontractors, as Contractor is for acts and omissions of persons 
directly employed by Contractor.  Nothing contained in these Contract Documents 
shall create any contractual relationship between any subcontractor and the 
District. 

b. The District reserves the right to Approve all subcontractors.  The District’s 
Approval of any subcontractor under this Contract shall not in any way relieve 
Contractor of its obligations in the Contract Documents. 

c. Prior to substituting any subcontractor listed in the Bid Forms, Contractor must 
comply with the requirements of the Subletting and Subcontracting Fair Practices 
Act pursuant to California Public Contract Code section 4100 et seq. 

ARTICLE 14. VERIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY 

By executing this Contract, Contractor verifies that it fully complies with all requirements 
and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the employment of undocumented 
aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, as 
may be amended from time to time, and shall require all subcontractors, sub-
subcontractors and consultants to comply with the same.   Each person executing this 
Contract on behalf of Contractor verifies that he or she is a duly authorized officer of 
Contractor and that any of the following shall be grounds for the District to terminate the 
Contract for cause: (1) failure of the Contractor or its subcontractors, sub-subcontractors 
or consultants to meet any of the requirements provided for in this ARTICLE 14; (2) any 
misrepresentation or material omission concerning compliance with such requirements; 
or (3) failure to immediately remove from the Work any person found not to be in 
compliance with such requirements. 

ARTICLE 15. PERMITS AND LICENSES 

Permits and licenses necessary for prosecution of The Work shall be secured and paid 
for by Contractor, unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents.   

a. Contractor shall obtain and pay for all other permits and licenses required for The 
Work, including excavation permit and permits for plumbing, mechanical and 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 53 - 

electrical work and for operations in or over public streets or right of way under 
jurisdiction of public agencies other than the District.  

b. The Contractor shall arrange and pay for all off-site inspection of the Work related 
to permits and licenses, including certification, required by the Specifications, 
drawings, or by governing authorities, except for such off-site 
inspections delineated as the District's responsibility pursuant to the Contract 
Documents. 

c. Before Acceptance of the Project, the Contractor shall submit all licenses, permits, 
certificates of inspection and required approvals to the District. 

ARTICLE 16. UTILITY USAGE 

a. All temporary utilities, including but not limited to electricity, water, gas, and 
telephone, used on the Work shall be furnished and paid for by Contractor.  
Contractor shall Provide necessary temporary distribution systems, including 
meters, if necessary, from distribution points to points on The Work where the utility 
is needed.  Upon completion of The Work, Contractor shall remove all temporary 
distribution systems.  

b. Contractor shall provide necessary and adequate utilities and pay all costs for 
water, electricity, gas, oil, and sewer charges required for completion of the 
Project, including but not limited to startup and testing required in the Contract 
Documents. 

c. All permanent meters Installed shall be listed in the Contractor’s name until Project 
Acceptance. 

d. If the Contract is for construction in existing facilities, Contractor may, with prior 
written Approval of the District, use the District’s existing utilities.  If Contractor 
uses District utilities, it shall compensate the District for utilities used by Contractor. 

ARTICLE 17. INSPECTION FEES FOR PERMANENT UTILITIES 

All inspection fees and other municipal charges for permanent utilities including, but not 
limited to, sewer, electrical, phone, gas, water, and irrigation shall be paid for by the 
District. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging the payment of such fees, but 
inspection fees and other municipal fees relating to permanent utilities shall be paid by 
the District. Contractor may either request reimbursement from the District for such fees, 
or shall be responsible for arranging and coordination with District for the payment of such 
fees. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 54 - 

ARTICLE 18. TRENCHES 

a. Trenches Five Feet or More in Depth.  The Contractor shall submit to the District, 
in advance of excavation, a detailed plan showing the design of shoring, bracing, 
sloping or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the hazard of 
caving ground during the excavation of any trench or trenches five feet or more in 
depth.  If the plan varies from shoring system standards, the plan shall be prepared 
by a registered civil or structural engineer. The plan shall not be less effective than 
the shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions of the Construction Safety Orders, 
as defined in the California Code of Regulations, and all costs therefor shall be 
included in the Contract Price.  Nothing in this section shall be deemed to allow 
the use of a shoring, bracing, sloping or other protective system less effective than 
that required by the Construction Safety Orders.  Nothing in this section shall be 
construed to impose a tort liability on the owner, any of its officers, officials, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants or volunteers.  The Owner’s review of 
the Contractor’s excavation plan is only for general conformance to the 
Construction Safety Orders and does not relieve the Contractor of any obligation 
hereunder.  Prior to commencing any excavation, the Contractor shall designate 
in writing to the District the “competent person(s)” with authority and 
responsibilities designated in the Construction Safety Orders. 

b. Excavations Deeper than Four Feet.  If work under this Contract involves digging 
trenches or other excavation that extends deeper than four feet below the surface, 
Contractor shall promptly, and before the following conditions are disturbed, notify 
the District, in writing, of any: 

1) Material that the Contractor believes may be material that is hazardous 
waste, as defined in Section 25117 of the Health and Safety Code, that is 
required to be removed to a Class I, Class II, or Class III disposal site in 
accordance with provisions of existing law. 

2) Subsurface or latent physical conditions at the site differing from those 
indicated by information made available to bidders prior to the deadline for 
submitting bids. 

3) Unknown physical conditions at the site of any unusual nature, different 
materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as 
inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract. 

The District shall promptly investigate the conditions, and if it finds that the 
conditions do so materially differ, or do involve hazardous waste, and cause a 
decrease or increase in Contractor’s cost of, or the time required for, performance 
of any part of The Work, shall issue a change order under the procedures 
described in the Contract Documents. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 55 - 

In the event that a dispute arises between the District and the Contractor as to 
whether the conditions materially differ, or involve hazardous waste, or cause a 
decrease or increase in the Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance 
of any part of The Work, the Contractor shall not be excused from any scheduled 
completion date provided for by the Contract, but shall proceed with all Work to be 
performed under the Contract.  Contractor shall retain any and all rights provided 
either by contract or by law which pertain to the resolution of disputes and protests 
between the parties. 

ARTICLE 19. DIVERSION OF RECYCLABLE WASTE MATERIALS  

In compliance with the applicable District’s waste reduction and recycling efforts, 
Contractor shall divert all Recyclable Waste Materials to appropriate recycling centers.  
Contractor will be required to submit weight tickets and written proof of diversion with its 
monthly progress payment requests.  Contractor shall complete and execute any 
certification forms required by District or other applicable agencies to document 
Contractor’s compliance with these diversion requirements.  All costs incurred for these 
waste diversion efforts shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. The Contractor shall 
coordinate with the appropriate local government agency and comply with local waste 
disposal ordinances. 

ARTICLE 20. REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

Should Contractor encounter material reasonably believed to be polychlorinated biphenyl 
(PCB) or other toxic wastes and hazardous materials (as defined in section 25117 of the 
Health and Safety Code) which have not been rendered harmless at the Project site, the 
Contractor shall immediately stop work at the affected Project site and shall report the 
condition to the District in writing.  The District shall contract for any services required to 
directly remove and/or abate PCBs and other toxic wastes and hazardous materials, if 
required by the Project site(s), and shall not require the Contractor to subcontract for such 
services.  The Work in the affected area shall not thereafter be resumed except by written 
agreement of the District and Contractor.   

ARTICLE 21. SANITARY FACILITIES 

Contractor shall provide sanitary temporary toilet buildings for the use of all workers.  All 
toilets shall comply with local codes and ordinances.  Toilets shall be kept supplied with 
toilet paper and shall have workable door fasteners.  Toilets shall be serviced no less 
than once weekly and shall be present in a quantity of not less than 1 per 20 workers as 
required by CAL-OSHA regulation.  The toilets shall be maintained in a sanitary condition 
at all times. Use of toilet facilities in The Work under construction shall not be permitted.  
Any other Sanitary Facilities required by CAL-OSHA shall be the responsibility of the 
Contractor. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 56 - 

ARTICLE 22. AIR POLLUTION CONTROL  

Contractor shall comply with all air pollution control rules, regulations, ordinances and 
statutes.  All containers of paint, thinner, curing compound, solvent or liquid asphalt shall 
be labeled to indicate that the contents fully comply with the applicable material 
requirements.  Without limiting the foregoing, Contractor must fully comply with all 
Applicable Laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/ or providing 
services, including but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the Air Quality Management District with jurisdiction over the Project and/ or 
California Air Resources Board (CARB).  Contractor shall specifically be aware of the 
application of these limits and requirements to “portable equipment” which definition is 
considered to include any item of equipment with a fuel-powered engine.  Contractor shall 
indemnify District against any fines or penalties imposed by the air quality management 
district, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for its violations of 
Applicable laws as well as those of its subcontractors or others for whom Contractor is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in ARTICLE 48. 

ARTICLE 23. COMPLIANCE WITH STATE STORM WATER PERMIT  

a. Contractor shall be required to comply with all conditions of the State Water 
Resources Control Board (“State Water Board”) Water Quality Order No. 2009-
00009-DWQ as modified by Order No. 2010-0014-DWQ, National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System General Permit for Waste Discharge Requirements 
for Discharges of Storm Water Discharges Associated with Construction Activity 
(“Permit”) for all construction activity which results in the disturbance of in excess 
of one acre of total land area or which is part of a larger common area of 
development or sale.  Contractor shall be responsible for filing the Notice of Intent 
and for obtaining the Permit.  Contractor shall be solely responsible for preparing 
and implementing a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”) prior to 
initiating Work.  In bidding on this Contract, it shall be Contractor’s responsibility to 
evaluate the cost of procuring the Permit and preparing the SWPPP as well as 
complying with the SWPPP and any necessary revision to the SWPPP.  Contractor 
shall comply with all requirements of the State Water Resources Control Board.  
Contractor shall include all costs of compliance with specified requirements in the 
Contract amount.  

b. Contractor shall be responsible for procuring, implementing and complying with 
the provisions of the Permit and the SWPPP, including the standard provisions, 
monitoring and reporting requirements as required by the Permit.  Contractor shall 
provide copies of all reports and monitoring information to the Engineer. 

c. Contractor shall comply with the lawful requirements of any applicable municipality, 
the District, drainage District, and other local agencies regarding discharges of 
storm water to separate storm drain system or other watercourses under their 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 57 - 

jurisdiction, including applicable requirements in municipal storm water 
management programs. 

d. Storm, surface, nuisance, or other waters may be encountered at various times 
during construction of The Work.  Therefore, the Contractor, by submitting a Bid, 
hereby acknowledges that it has investigated the risk arising from such waters, 
has prepared its Bid accordingly, and assumes any and all risks and liabilities 
arising therefrom. 

e. Failure to comply with the Permit is in violation of federal and state law.  Contractor 
hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless District, its officials, officers, agents, 
employees and authorized volunteers from and against any and all claims, 
demands, losses or liabilities of any kind or nature which District, its officials, 
officers, agents, employees and authorized volunteers may sustain or incur for 
noncompliance with the Permit arising out of or in connection with the Project, 
except for liability resulting from the sole established negligence, willful misconduct 
or active negligence of the District, its officials, officers, agents, employees or 
authorized volunteers.  District may seek damages from Contractor for delay in 
completing the Contract in accordance with the Contract Documents, caused by 
Contractor’s failure to comply with the Permit. 

ARTICLE 24. CLEANING UP 

a. Contractor at all times shall keep premises free from debris such as waste, rubbish, 
and excess materials and equipment.  Contractor shall not store debris under, in, 
or about the premises.  The contractor shall also remove temporary fencing, 
barricades, planking and construction toilet and similar temporary facilities from 
site.  Contractor shall also clean all buildings, asphalt and concrete areas to the 
degree necessary to remove oil, grease, fuel, or other stains caused by Contractor 
operations or equipment. 

b. Contractor shall fully clean up the site at the completion of The Work.  If the 
Contractor fails to immediately clean up at the completion of The Work, the District 
may do so and the cost of such clean up shall be charged back to the Contractor. 

ARTICLE 25. LAYOUT AND FIELD ENGINEERING 

All field engineering required for laying out The Work and establishing grades for 
earthwork operations shall be furnished by the District at its expense.  Layout shall be 
done by a qualified individual Approved by the Engineer. Any required “as-built” drawings 
of civil engineering elements of the Work shall be prepared by a registered civil engineer. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 58 - 

ARTICLE 26. EXCESSIVE NOISE 

a. The Contractor shall use only such equipment on the work and in such state of 
repair so that the emission of sound therefrom is within the noise tolerance level 
of that equipment as established by CAL-OSHA.  

b. The Contractor shall comply with the most restrictive of the following: (1) local 
sound control and noise level rules, regulations and ordinances and (2) the 
requirements contained in these Contract Documents, including hours of operation 
requirements.  No internal combustion engine shall be operated on the Project 
without a muffler of the type recommended by the manufacturer.  Should any 
muffler or other control device sustain damage or be determined to be ineffective 
or defective, the Contractor shall promptly remove the equipment and shall not 
return said equipment to the job until the device is repaired or replaced.  Said noise 
and vibration level requirements shall apply to all equipment on the job or related 
to the job, including but not limited to, trucks, transit mixers or transit equipment 
that may or may not be owned by the Contractor. 

c. The Contractor shall comply with all the environmental provisions contained in the 
Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 27. TESTS AND INSPECTIONS 

a. If the Contract Documents, the Engineer, or any instructions, laws, ordinances, or 
public authority require any part of The Work to be tested or Approved, Contractor 
shall provide the Engineer at least two (2) working Days’ notice of its readiness for 
observation or inspection.  If inspection is by a public authority other than the 
District, Contractor shall promptly inform the District of the date fixed for such 
inspection.  Required certificates of inspection (or similar) shall be secured by 
Contractor.  Costs for District testing and District inspection shall be paid by the 
District.  Costs of tests for Work found not to be in compliance with the Contract 
Documents or Applicable Law shall be paid by the Contractor. 

b. If any Work is done or covered up without the required testing or approval, the 
Contractor shall uncover or deconstruct the Work, and the Work shall be redone 
after completion of the testing at the Contractor’s cost in compliance with the 
Contract Documents, at the Contractor’s cost. 

c. Where inspection and testing are to be conducted by an independent laboratory 
or agency, materials or samples of materials to be inspected or tested shall be 
selected by such laboratory or agency, or by the District, and not by Contractor.  
All tests or inspections of materials shall be made in accordance with the 
commonly recognized standards of national organizations. 

d. In advance of manufacture of materials to be supplied by Contractor which must 
be tested or inspected, Contractor shall notify the District so that the District may 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 59 - 

arrange for testing at the source of supply. Any materials which have not 
satisfactorily passed such testing and inspection shall not be incorporated into The 
Work. 

e. If the manufacture of materials to be inspected or tested will occur in a plant or 
location outside the geographic limits of District, the Contractor shall pay for any 
excessive or unusual costs associated with such testing or inspection, including 
but not limited to excessive travel time, standby time and required lodging. 

f. Reexamination of Work may be ordered by the District.  If so ordered, Work must 
be uncovered or deconstructed by Contractor.  If Work is found to be in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, the District shall pay the costs of reexamination and 
reconstruction. If such work is found not to be in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, Contractor shall pay all costs. 

ARTICLE 28. PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY 

a. The Contractor shall be responsible for all damages to persons or property that 
occur as a result of The Work.  Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care 
and protection of all materials delivered and Work performed until completion and 
final Acceptance by the District. All Work shall be solely at the Contractor’s risk. 
Contractor shall adequately protect adjacent property from settlement or loss of 
lateral support as necessary. Contractor shall comply with all applicable safety 
laws and building codes to prevent accidents or injury to persons on, about, or 
adjacent to the Project site where Work is being performed. Contractor shall erect 
and properly maintain at all times, as required by field conditions and progress of 
work, all necessary safeguards, signs, barriers, lights, and watchmen for protection 
of workers and the public, and shall post danger signs warning against hazards 
created in the course of construction. 

b. In an emergency affecting safety of life or of work or of adjoining property, 
Contractor, without special instruction or authorization from the Engineer, is hereby 
permitted to act to prevent such threatened loss or injury; and Contractor shall so 
act, without appeal, if so authorized or instructed by the Engineer or the District. 
Any compensation claimed by Contractor on account of emergency work shall be 
determined by and agreed upon by the District and the Contractor in accordance 
with ARTICLE 46. 

c. Contractor shall provide such heat, covering, and enclosures as are necessary to 
protect all Work, materials, equipment, appliances, and tools against damage by 
weather conditions. 

d. Contractor shall take adequate precautions to protect existing sidewalks, curbs, 
pavements, utilities, and other adjoining property and structures, and to avoid 
damage thereto, and Contractor shall repair any damage thereto caused by The 
Work operations. Contractor shall: 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 60 - 

1) Enclose the working area with a substantial barricade, and arrange work to 
cause minimum amount of inconvenience and danger to the public.  

2) Provide substantial barricades around any shrubs or trees indicated to be 
preserved. 

3) Deliver materials to the Project site over a route designated by the Engineer. 

4) Provide any and all dust control required and follow the Applicable air quality 
regulations as appropriate.  If the Contractor does not comply, the District 
shall have the immediate authority to provide dust control and deduct the 
cost from payments to the Contractor. 

5) Confine Contractor’s apparatus, the storage of materials, and the 
operations of its workers to limits required by law, ordinances, permits, or 
directions of the Engineer.  Contractor shall not unreasonably encumber the 
Project site with its materials.   

6) Take care to prevent disturbing or covering any survey markers, 
monuments, or other devices marking property boundaries or corners.  If 
such markers are disturbed by accident, they shall be replaced by an 
approved civil engineer or land surveyor, at no cost to the District. 

7) Ensure that existing facilities, fences and other structures are all adequately 
protected and that, upon completion of all Work, all facilities that may have 
been damaged are restored to a condition acceptable to the District. 

8) Preserve and protect from injury all buildings, pole lines and all direction, 
warning and mileage signs that have been placed within the right-of-way.  

9) At the completion of work each Day, leave the Project site in a clean, safe 
condition.  

10) Comply with any stage construction and traffic handling plans.  Access to 
residences and businesses shall be maintained at all times.   

These precautionary measures will apply continuously and not be limited to normal 
working hours.  Full compensation for the Work involved in the preservation of life, 
safety and property as above specified shall be considered as included in the 
prices paid for the various contract items of Work, and no additional allowance will 
be made therefor. 

e. Should damage to persons or property occur as a result of The Work, Contractor 
shall promptly notify the District, in writing.  Contractor shall be responsible for 
proper investigation, documentation, including video or photography, to 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 61 - 

adequately memorialize and make a record of what transpired.  The District shall 
be entitled to inspect and copy any such documentation, video, or photographs. 

ARTICLE 29. CONTRACTORS MEANS AND METHODS 

Contractor is solely responsible for the means and methods utilized to Perform The Work.  
In no case shall the Contractor’s means and methods deviate from commonly used 
industry standards. 

ARTICLE 30. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES 

The District shall designate representatives, who shall have the right to be present at the 
Project site at all times.  The District may designate an inspector who shall have the right 
to observe all of the Contractor’s Work.  The inspector is not authorized to make changes 
in the Contract Documents or excuse Contractor from performing in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.  The inspector shall not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure 
to carry out The Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  Contractor shall 
provide safe and proper facilities for such access. 

ARTICLE 31. HOURS OF WORK 

a. Eight (8) hours of work shall constitute a legal Day’s work.  The Contractor and 
each subcontractor shall forfeit, as penalty to the District, twenty-five dollars ($25) 
for each worker employed in the execution of Work by the Contractor or any 
subcontractor for each Day during which such worker is required or permitted to 
work more than eight (8) hours in any one Day and forty (40) hours in any week in 
violation of the provisions of the Labor Code, and in particular, Section 1810 to 
Section 1815, except as provided in Labor Code Section 1815. 

b. Work shall be accomplished on a regularly scheduled eight (8) hour per Day work 
shift basis, Monday through Friday, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 

c. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate, permit, use, or cause to operate any 
of the following at the Project site, other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 
5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, with no Work allowed on District-observed 
holidays, unless otherwise Approved by the Engineer: 

1) Powered Vehicles 

2) Construction Equipment 

3) Loading and Unloading Vehicles 

4) Domestic Power Tools 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 62 - 

ARTICLE 32. PAYROLL RECORDS 

a. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1776, the Contractor and each subcontractor shall 
maintain weekly certified payroll records showing the name, address, social 
security number, work classification, straight time and overtime hours paid each 
Day and week, and the actual per diem wages paid to each journeyman, 
apprentice, worker or other employee employed in connection with the work.  
Contractor shall certify under penalty of perjury that records maintained and 
submitted by Contractor are true and accurate.  Contractor shall also require 
subcontractor(s) to certify weekly payroll records under penalty of perjury. 

b. The payroll records described herein shall be certified and submitted by the 
Contractor at a time designated by the District.  The Contractor shall also provide 
the following: 

1) A certified copy of the employee’s payroll records shall be made available 
for inspection or furnished to such employee or his or her authorized 
representative on request. 

2) A certified copy of all payroll records described herein shall be made 
available for inspection or furnished upon request of the Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”). 

c. The certified payroll records shall be on forms provided by the Division of Labor 
Standards Enforcement (“DLSE”) of the DIR or shall contain the same information 
as the forms provided by the DLSE. 

d. Any copy of records made available for inspection and furnished upon request to 
the public shall be marked or obliterated in such a manner as to prevent disclosure 
of an individual’s name, address, and social security number.  The name and 
address of the Contractor or any subcontractor shall not be marked or obliterated. 

e. In the event of noncompliance with the requirements of this Section, the Contractor 
shall have ten (10) Days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of written notice 
specifying any item or actions necessary to ensure compliance with this section.  
Should noncompliance still be evident after such ten (10) Day period, the 
Contractor shall, as a penalty to the District, forfeit One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) 
for each Day, or portion thereof, for each worker until strict compliance is 
effectuated.  Upon the request of the DIR, such penalties shall be withheld from 
contract payments. 

ARTICLE 33. PREVAILING RATES OF WAGES 

a. The Contractor is aware of the requirements of Labor Code Sections 1720 et seq. 
and 1770 et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, Title 8, Section 16000 
et seq. (“Prevailing Wage Laws”), which require the payment of prevailing wage 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 63 - 

rates and the performance of other requirements on certain “public works” and 
“maintenance” projects.  Since this Project involves an applicable “public works” or 
“maintenance” project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage Laws, and since the total 
compensation is $1,000 or more, Contractor agrees to fully comply with such 
Prevailing Wage Laws.  The Contractor shall obtain a copy of the prevailing rates 
of per diem wages at the commencement of this Agreement from the website of 
the Division of Labor Statistics and Research of the Department of Industrial 
Relations located at www.dir.ca.gov/dlsr/.  Contractor shall make copies of the 
prevailing rates of per diem wages for each craft, classification or type of worker 
needed to perform work on the Project available to interested parties upon request, 
and shall post copies at the Contractor’s principal place of business and at the 
Project site.  Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold the District, its elected 
officials, officers, employees and agents free and harmless from any claims, 
liabilities, costs, penalties or interest arising out of any failure or allege failure to 
comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. 

b. The Contractor and each subcontractor shall forfeit as a penalty to the District not 
more than Two Hundred dollars ($200.00) for each Day, or portion thereof, for each 
worker paid less than the stipulated prevailing wage rate for any work done by him, 
or by any subcontract under him, in violation of the provisions of the Labor Code.  
The difference between such stipulated prevailing wage rate and the amount paid 
to each worker for each Day or portion thereof for which each worker was paid less 
than the stipulated prevailing wage rate shall be paid to each worker by the 
Contractor. 

c. Contractor shall post, at appropriate conspicuous points on the Project site, a 
schedule showing all determined general prevailing wage rates and all authorized 
deductions, if any, from unpaid wages actually earned. 

ARTICLE 34. EMPLOYMENT OF APPRENTICES 

The Contractor’s attention is directed to the provisions of Sections 1777.5, 1777.6, and 
1777.7 of the Labor Code concerning employment of apprentices by the Contractor or 
any subcontractor.  The Contractor shall obtain a certificate of apprenticeship before 
employing any apprentice pursuant to Section 1777.5, 1777.6, and 1777.7 of the Labor 
Code.  Information relative to apprenticeship standards, wage schedules, and other 
requirements may be obtained from the Director of Industrial Relations, the Administrator 
of Apprenticeships, San Francisco, California, or from the Division of Apprenticeship 
Standards and its branch offices. 

ARTICLE 35. LABOR COMPLIANCE  

This Project is subject to labor compliance monitoring and enforcement by the 
Department of Industrial Relations. It shall be the Contractor’s sole responsibility to 
evaluate and include the cost of complying with all labor compliance requirements under 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 64 - 

this contract and applicable law in its bid. 

Contractor shall post, at each job site, the notice required by Section 16451(d) of Title 8 
of the California Code of Regulations.  Template notices are available by emailing a 
request to CMU@dir.ca.gov or at the following location. 

District Office of the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement 
1515 Clay Street, Suite 801 
Oakland, CA 94612 

 

In accordance with Labor Code section 1771.4, the Contractor and each subcontractor 
shall furnish the certified payroll records directly to the Department of Industrial Relations 
on a weekly basis and in the format prescribed by the Department of Industrial Relations, 
which may include electronic submission.  Contractor shall comply with all requirements 
and regulations from the Department of Industrial Relations relating to labor compliance 
monitoring and enforcement. 

ARTICLE 36. CONTRACTOR AND SUBCONTRACTOR REGISTRATION 

If the bids subject to the Notice Inviting Bids are due on or after March 1, 2015, then 
pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 1771.1, all contractors and subcontractors 
that wish to bid on, be listed in a bid proposal, or enter into a contract to perform public 
work must be registered with the Department of Industrial Relations.  No bid will be 
accepted nor any contract entered into without proof of the contractor’s and 
subcontractors’ current registration with the Department of Industrial Relations to perform 
public work.   

ARTICLE 37. NONDISCRIMINATION/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY/EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY 

Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1735 and other applicable provisions of law, the 
Contractor and its subcontractors shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, 
political affiliation, marital status, or handicap on this Work.  The Contractor will take 
affirmative action to insure that employees are treated during employment or training 
without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, political affiliation, 
marital status, or handicap.  

Employment Eligibility; Contractor.  By executing this Contract, Contractor verifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting 
the employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration 
Reform and Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time.  Such 
requirements and restrictions include, but are not limited to, examination and retention of 
documentation confirming the identity and immigration status of each employee of the 
Contractor.  Contractor also verifies that it has not committed a violation of any such law 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 65 - 

within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution of this Contract, and 
shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Contract.  Contractor shall 
avoid any violation of any such law during the term of this Contract by participating in an 
electronic verification of work authorization program operated by the United States 
Department of Homeland Security, by participating in an equivalent federal work 
authorization program operated by the United States Department of Homeland Security 
to verify information of newly hired employees, or by some other legally acceptable 
method.  Contractor shall maintain records of each such verification, and shall make them 
available to the District or its representatives for inspection and copy at any time during 
normal business hours.  The District shall not be responsible for any costs or expenses 
related to Contractor’s compliance with the requirements provided for  or referred to 
herein. 

Employment Eligibility; Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and Consultants.  To the 
same extent and under the same conditions as Contractor, Contractor shall require all of 
its subcontractors, sub-subcontractors and consultants performing any part of the Work 
or of this Contract to make the same verifications and comply with all requirements and 
restrictions provided for herein.     

Employment Eligibility; Failure to Comply.  Each person executing this Contract on behalf 
of Contractor verifies that he or she is a duly authorized officer of Contractor, and 
understands that any of the following shall be grounds for the District to terminate the 
Contract for cause: (1) failure of Contractor or its subcontractors, sub-subcontractors or 
consultants to meet any of the requirements provided for herein; (2) any 
misrepresentation or material omission concerning compliance with such requirements; 
or (3) failure to immediately remove from the Work any person found not to be in 
compliance with such requirements.  

ARTICLE 38. LABOR/EMPLOYMENT SAFETY 

In the performance of this Contract the Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, 
state and local statutory and regulatory requirements including, but not limited to 
California Department of Industrial Relations (Cal/OSHA) regulations; and the U.S. 
Department of Transportation Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act, related to 
their scope of work and operations.  In case of conflict in regulations, the most stringent 
shall apply. The Contractor shall provide all safeguards, safety devices and protective 
equipment and take any other needed actions necessary to protect the life and health of 
employees on the job and the safety of the public and to protect property in connection 
with the performance of the Work covered by the Contract. Safety precautions shall 
include but shall not be limited to:  adequate life protection and lifesaving equipment; 
adequate illumination; instructions in accident prevention for all employees, such as the 
use of machinery guards, safe walkways, scaffolds, ladders, bridges, gang planks, 
confined space procedures, trenching and shoring, fall protection, and other safety 
devices; equipment and wearing apparel as are necessary or lawfully required to prevent 
accidents, injuries, or illnesses (including but not limited to exposure to the Coccidioides 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 66 - 

fungus and Valley Fever); and adequate facilities for the proper inspection and 
maintenance of all safety measures. 

Contractor must obtain all applicable Division of Occupational Safety and Health (CAL-
OSHA) permit(s) and others required by California Labor Code and California 
Government Code, prior to the initiation of any practices, Work, method, operation, or 
process related to the Work covered in the Contract. Permits required by governmental 
authorities will be obtained at Contractor’s expense. 

It is a condition of this Contract, and shall be made a condition of each subcontract which 
the Contractor enters into pursuant to this Contract, that the Contractor and any 
subcontractor shall not permit any employee, in performance of the Contract, to work in 
surroundings or under conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous to 
his/her health or safety, as determined under Cal/OSHA safety and health standards. 

The Contractor shall be responsible for the safeguarding of all utilities.  At least two 
working Days before beginning Work, the Contractor shall call the Underground Service 
Alert (USA) in order to determine the location of sub-structures.  The Contractor shall 
immediately notify District and the utility owner if he/she disturbs, disconnects, or 
damages any utility. 

In accordance with Section 6705 of the California Labor Code, the Contractor shall submit 
to District specific plans to show details of provisions for worker protection from caving 
ground during excavations of trenches of five feet or more in depth.  The 
excavation/trench safety plan shall be submitted to and accepted by District prior to 
starting excavation.  The trench safety plan shall have details showing the design of 
shoring, bracing, sloping or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the 
hazard of caving ground.  If such a plan varies from the shoring system standards 
established by the Construction Safety Orders of the California Department of Industrial 
Relations (Cal/OSHA), the plan shall be prepared by a California registered civil or 
structural engineer.  As part of the plan, a note shall be included stating that the registered 
civil or structural engineer certifies that the plan complies with the Cal/OSHA Construction 
Safety Orders, or that the registered civil or structural engineer certifies that the plan is 
not less effective than the shoring, bracing, sloping or other provisions of the Safety 
Orders.  In no event shall the Contractor use a shoring, sloping, or protective system less 
effective than that required by said Construction Safety Orders.  Submission of this plan 
in no way relieves the Contractor of the requirement to maintain safety in all areas.  If 
excavations or trench Work requiring a Cal/OSHA permit are to be undertaken, the 
Contractor shall submit his/her permit with the excavation/trench Work safety plan to 
District before Work begins. 

ARTICLE 39. INSURANCE 

a. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  Contractor shall procure and maintain 
for the duration of the Contract, and for 5 years thereafter, insurance against claims 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 67 - 

for injuries or death to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in 
connection with the performance of the Work hereunder by the Contractor, his 
agents, representatives, employees, or subcontractors. 

b. Coverage.  Coverage shall be at least as broad as the following: 

1. General Liability - Commercial General Liability (CGL).  Insurance Services 
Office (ISO) Commercial General Liability Coverage (Occurrence Form CG 
00 01) including products and completed operations, property damage, 
bodily injury, personal and advertising injury with limit of at least five million 
dollars ($5,000,000) per occurrence or the full per occurrence limits of the 
policies available, whichever is greater.  If a general aggregate limit applies, 
either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this 
Project/location (coverage as broad as the ISO CG 25 03, or ISO CG 25 04 
endorsement provided to District) or the general aggregate limit shall be 
twice the required occurrence limit. 

2. Automobile Liability.  Insurance Services Office (ISO) Business Auto 
Coverage (Form CA 00 01), covering Symbol 1 (any auto) with limit of two 
million dollars ($2,000,000) for bodily injury and property damage each 
accident. 

3. Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  The Contractor shall provide workers’ 
compensation coverage as required by the State of California, with 
Statutory Limits, and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than 
$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease. Waiver of Subrogation 
(also known as Transfer of Rights of Recovery Against Others to Us):  The 
Contractor hereby agrees to waive rights of subrogation to obtain 
endorsement necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation in favor of the 
District, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers, for 
losses paid under the terms of this coverage which arise from Work 
performed by the Named Insured for the District; this provision applies 
regardless of whether or not the District has received a waiver of 
subrogation from the insurer. 

4. Builder’s Risk.  (Course of Construction) if necessary, insurance utilizing an 
“All Risk” (Special Perils) coverage form with limits equal to the completed 
value of the Project and no coinsurance penalty provision. See 
Responsibility of Work. 

5. Contractor’s Pollution Liability.  With limits no less than $5,000,000 per 
occurrence or claim, and $10,000,000 policy aggregate. 

If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and or/higher limits than the minimums 
shown above, the District requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or 
higher limits maintained by the Contractor.  Any available insurance proceeds in excess 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 68 - 

of the specified minimum of insurance and coverage shall be available to the District. 

c. Other Required Provisions.  The Commercial General Liability policy, Automobile 
Liability policy and Contractors Pollution (if necessary) are to contain, or be 
endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

1. Additional Insured Status.  District, its directors, officers, employees, and 
authorized volunteers are to be given insured status (at least as broad as 
ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or if not available, through the addition of both 
CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01 for the Commercial General Liability 
policy) with respect to liability arising out of Work or operations performed 
by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or equipment 
furnished in connection with such Work or operations. General liability 
coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Contractor’s 
insurance. 

2. Primary and Non-Contributory Coverage. For any claims related to this 
Project, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary, at least as 
broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 for the Commercial General Liability policy, 
as respects to the District, its directors, officers, employees, and  authorized 
volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the District, its 
directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers shall be excess of 
the Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

3. Waiver of Subrogation.  All policies shall permit and Contractor does hereby 
waive any right of subrogation which any insurer of Contractor may acquire 
from Contractor by virtue of the payment of any loss. 

d. Notice of Cancellation.  Each insurance policy required above shall provide that 
coverage shall not be canceled, except with notice to the District. 

e. Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers having a current 
A.M. Best rating of no less than A: VII or equivalent or as otherwise approved by 
District. 

The Contractor agrees and he/she will comply with such provisions before commencing 
Work.  All of the insurance shall be provided on policy forms and through companies 
satisfactory to District.  The District reserves the right to obtain complete, certified copies 
of all required insurance policies, including the policy declarations page with endorsement 
number.  Failure to continually satisfy the Insurance requirements is a material breach of 
contract. 

f. Responsibility for Work. Until the completion and final Acceptance by District of all 
The Work under and implied by this Contract, The Work shall be under the 
Contractor’s responsible care and charge.  The Contractor shall rebuild, repair, 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 69 - 

restore and make good all injuries, damages, re-erections, and repairs occasioned 
or rendered necessary by causes of any nature whatsoever. 

The Contractor shall provide and maintain builder’s risk (course of construction) or an 
installation floater (for materials and equipment) covering all risks of direct physical loss, 
damage or destruction to The Work in the amount specified in the General Conditions, to 
insure against such losses until final Acceptance of The Work by District.  Such insurance 
shall insure at least against the perils of fire and extended coverage, theft, vandalism and 
malicious mischief, and collapse.  The Policy shall be endorsed with District, its directors, 
officers, employees, and authorized volunteers named as loss payee, as their interest 
may appear.  The making of progress payments to the Contractor shall not be construed 
as creating an insurable interest by or for District or be construed as relieving the 
Contractor or his/her subcontractors of responsibility for loss from any direct physical loss, 
damage or destruction occurring prior to final Acceptance of The Work by District. 

g. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions. Insurance deductibles or self-insured 
retentions must be declared by the Contractor, and approved by the District. At the 
election of District the Contractor shall either cause the insurer to reduce or 
eliminate such self-insured retentions as respects the District, its directors, officers, 
employees, and authorized volunteers or the Contractor shall provide a financial 
guarantee satisfactory to the District guaranteeing payment of losses and related 
investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses.  The policy language 
shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention may be 
satisfied by either the named insured or the District. 

h. Verification of Coverage - Evidences of Insurance. Contractor shall furnish the 
District with copies of certificates and amendatory endorsements effecting 
coverage required by this Contract.  All certificates and endorsements are to be 
received and approved by the District before Work commences.  However, failure 
to obtain the required documents prior to the Work beginning shall not waive the 
Contractor’s obligation to provide them.  The District reserves the right to require 
complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including policy 
Declaration pages and Endorsement pages, required by these Specifications, at 
any time. Failure to continually satisfy the Insurance requirements is a material 
breach of contract. 

i. Continuation of Coverage. The Contractor shall, upon demand of District deliver 
evidence of coverage showing continuation of coverage for at least (5) years after 
completion of the Project.  Contractor further waives all rights of subrogation under 
this Contract When any of the required coverages expire during the term of this 
Contract, the Contractor shall deliver the renewal certificate(s) including the 
general liability additional insured endorsement and evidence of waiver of rights of 
subrogation against District (if builder’s risk insurance is applicable) to District at 
least ten (10) Days prior to the expiration date. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 70 - 

j. Subcontractors. In the event that the Contractor employs other Contractors 
(subcontractors) as part of the Work covered by this Contract, it shall be the 
Contractor’s responsibility to require and confirm that each subcontractor meets 
the minimum insurance requirements specified above (via as broad as ISO CG 20 
38 04 13). The Contractor shall, upon demand of District, deliver to District copies 
such policy or policies of insurance and the receipts for payment of premiums 
thereon. 

ARTICLE 40. FORM AND PROOF OF CARRIAGE OF INSURANCE 

a. Any insurance carrier providing insurance coverage required by the Contract 
Documents shall be authorized to do business in the State of California unless 
waived, in writing, by the District’s General Manager.  Carrier(s) shall have an A.M. 
Best rating of not less than an A:IIX.  Insurance deductibles or self-insured 
retentions must be declared by the Contractor.  At the election of the District, the 
Contractor shall either 1) reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured 
retentions, or 2) procure a bond which guarantees payment of losses and related 
investigations, claims administration, and defense costs and expenses.  If umbrella 
or excess liability coverage is used to meet any required limit(s) specified herein, 
the Contractor shall provide a “follow form” endorsement satisfactory to the District 
indicating that such coverage is subject to the same terms and conditions as the 
underlying liability policy. 

b. Each insurance policy required by this Contract shall be endorsed to state that: (1) 
should any of the above described be cancelled before the expiration date thereof, 
notice will be delivered in accordance with the policy provisions; and (2) any failure 
to comply with reporting or other provisions of the policies, including breaches of 
warranties, shall not affect coverage provided to the District its directors, officials, 
officers, employees, agents and volunteers. 

c. The Certificates(s) and policies of insurance shall contain or shall be endorsed to 
contain the covenant of the insurance carrier(s) that it shall provide no less than 
thirty (30) Days written notice be given to the District prior to any material 
modification or cancellation of such insurance.  In the event of a material 
modification or cancellation of coverage, the District may terminate the Contract or 
stop the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, unless the District 
receives, prior to such effective date, another properly executed original Certificate 
of Insurance and original copies of endorsements or certified original policies, 
including all endorsements and attachments thereto evidencing coverage’s set 
forth herein and the insurance required herein is in full force and effect.  Contractor 
shall not take possession, or use the Site, or commence operations under this 
Contract until the District has been furnished original Certificate(s) of Insurance 
and certified original copies of endorsements or policies of insurance including all 
endorsements and any and all other attachments as required in this section.  The 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 71 - 

original endorsements for each policy and the Certificate of Insurance shall be 
signed by an individual authorized by the insurance carrier to do so on its behalf. 

d. The Certificate(s) of  Insurance, policies and endorsements shall so covenant and 
shall be construed as primary, and the District’s insurance and/or deductibles 
and/or self-insured retentions or self-insured programs shall not be construed as 
contributory.   

e. The District reserves the right to adjust the monetary limits of insurance coverages 
during the term of this Contract including any extension thereof if in the District’s 
reasonable judgment, the amount or  type  of insurance carried by the Contractor 
becomes inadequate. 

f. Contractor shall report to the District, in addition to Contractor’s insurer, any and 
all insurance claims submitted by the Contractor in connection with the Work under 
this Contract. 

ARTICLE 41. TIME FOR COMPLETION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

a. Time for Completion/Liquidated Damages.  Work shall be commenced within 
ten (10) Days of the date stated in the District’s Notice to Proceed and shall be 
completed by Contractor in the Contract Time.  The District is under no obligation 
to consider early completion of the Project; and the Contract completion date shall 
not be amended by the District’s receipt or acceptance of the Contractor’s 
proposed earlier completion date.  Furthermore, Contractor shall not, under any 
circumstances, receive additional compensation from the District (including but not 
limited to indirect, general, administrative or other forms of overhead costs) for the 
period between the time of earlier completion proposed by the Contractor and the 
Contract completion date.  If The Work is not completed within the Contract Time, 
it is understood that the District will suffer damage.  In accordance with 
Government Code section 53069.85, being impractical and infeasible to determine 
the amount of actual damage, it is agreed that Contractor shall pay to the District 
as fixed and liquidated damages, and not as a penalty, the sum stipulated in the 
Contract for each Day of delay until The Work is fully completed. Contractor and 
its surety shall be liable for any liquidated damages.  Any money due or to become 
due the Contractor may be retained to cover liquidated damages. 

b. Inclement Weather.  Contractor shall abide the Engineer’s determination of what 
constitutes inclement weather.  Time extensions for inclement weather shall only 
be granted when the Work stopped during inclement weather is on the critical path 
of the then-current Project schedule. 

c. Extension of Time.  Contractor shall not be charged liquidated damages because 
of any delays in completion of The Work due to unforeseeable causes beyond the 
control and without the fault or negligence of Contractor (or its subcontractors or 
suppliers).  Contractor shall within five (5) Days of identifying any such delay notify 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 72 - 

the District in writing of causes of delay.  The District shall ascertain the facts and 
extent of delay and grant extension of time for completing The Work when, in its 
judgment, the facts justify such an extension. Time extensions to the Project shall 
be requested by the Contractor as they occur and without delay. No delay claims 
shall be permitted unless the event or occurrence delays the completion of the 
Project beyond the Contract completion date. 

d. No Damages for Reasonable Delay.  The District’s liability to Contractor for 
delays for which the District is responsible shall be limited to only an extension of 
time unless such delays were unreasonable under the circumstances. In no case 
shall the District be liable for any costs which are borne by the Contractor in the 
regular course of business, including, but not limited to, home office overhead and 
other ongoing costs.  Damages caused by unreasonable District delay, including 
delays caused by items that are the responsibility of the District pursuant to 
Government  Code section 4215, shall be based on actual costs only, no 
proportions or formulas shall be used to calculate any delay damages. 

ARTICLE 42. COST BREAKDOWN AND PERIODIC ESTIMATES 

Contractor shall furnish on forms Approved by the District: 

a. Within ten (10) Days of award of the Contract a detailed Schedule of Values giving 
a complete breakdown of the Contract price.  The Schedule of Values shall be 
adjusted as directed by the District;  

b. A monthly itemized estimate of Work done for the purpose of making progress 
payments.  In order for the District to consider and evaluate each progress 
payment application, the Contractor shall submit a detailed measurement of Work 
performed and a progress estimate of the value thereof before the tenth (10th) Day 
of the following month.   

c. Contractor shall submit, with each of its payment requests, an adjusted list of 
actual quantities, verified by the Engineer, for unit price items listed, if any, in the 
Bid Form.   

d. Following the District’s Acceptance of the Work, the Contractor shall submit to the 
District a written statement of the final quantities of unit price items for inclusion in 
the final payment request.   

e. The District shall have the right to adjust any estimate of quantity and to 
subsequently correct any error made in any estimate for payment.   

Contractor shall certify under penalty of perjury, that all cost breakdowns and periodic 
estimates accurately reflect the Work on the Project. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 73 - 

ARTICLE 43. MOBILIZATION 

a. When a bid item is included in the Bid Form for mobilization, the costs of Work in 
advance of construction operations and not directly attributable to any specific bid 
item will be included in the progress estimate (“Initial Mobilization”).  When no bid 
item is provided for “Initial Mobilization,” payment for such costs will be deemed to 
be included in the other items of The Work. 

b. Payment for Mobilization shall be based on the lump sum provided in the Bid Form, 
which shall constitute full compensation for all such Work.  The first payment for 
mobilization shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the bid item amount.  The 
Contractor shall submit an invoice to the District for payment of mobilization upon 
execution of the Agreement for Construction Services.  The scope of the Work 
included under Mobilization shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following 
principal items, if applicable:   

1) Obtaining and paying for all bonds, insurance, and permits. 

2) Moving on to the Project site of all Contractor’s plant and equipment required 
for first month’s operations. 

3) Developing and installing a construction water supply. 

4) Providing on-site sanitary facilities and potable water facilities as specified per 
Cal-OSHA and these Contract Documents. 

5) Furnishing, installing, and maintaining all storage buildings or sheds required 
for temporary storage of products, equipment, or materials, and for all security. 

6) Arranging for and erection of Contractor’s work and storage yard. 

7) Posting all OSHA required notices and establishment of safety programs per 
Cal-OSHA. 

8) Full-time presence of Contractor’s superintendent at the job site as required 
herein. 

9) Submittal of Construction Schedule as required by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 44. PAYMENTS 

a. The District shall make monthly progress payments following receipt of undisputed 
and properly submitted payment requests.  Unless the District has made findings 
pursuant to Public Contract Code section 7201 (that the work included in this 
Contract is substantially complex, and therefore a retention of 10% shall be 
withheld from each progress payment as provided by the Contract Documents), 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 74 - 

Contractor shall be paid a sum equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the value of 
Work performed up to the last Day of the previous month, less the aggregate of 
previous payments. District will, within forty-five (45) Days after receipt of an 
undisputed and properly submitted application for payment, pay the Contractor the 
amount so approved. 

b. The Contractor shall, after the full completion of The Work, submit a final payment 
application.  All prior progress estimates shall be subject to correction in the final 
estimate and payment. 

c. Unless otherwise required by law or unless the District has made findings pursuant 
to Public Contract Code section 7201 (that the work included in this Contract is 
substantially complex, and therefore a retention of 10% shall be withheld from each 
progress payment as provided by the Contract Documents), the final payment of 
five percent (5%) of the value of the Work, if unencumbered, shall be paid no later 
than sixty (60) Days after the date of recordation of the Notice of Completion. 

d. Acceptance by Contractor of the final payment shall constitute a waiver of all 
claims against the District arising from this Contract. 

e. Payments to the Contractor shall not be construed to be an acceptance of any 
defective work or improper materials, or to relieve the Contractor of its obligations 
under the Contract Documents. 

f. The Contractor shall submit with each payment request the Contractor’s 
conditional waiver of lien for the entire amount covered by such payment request, 
as well as a valid unconditional waiver of lien from the Contractor and all 
subcontractors and materialmen for all work and materials included in any prior 
invoices.  Waivers of lien shall be in the forms prescribed by California Civil Code 
Section 8132, 8132, 8136 and 8138.  Prior to final payment by the District, the 
Contractor shall submit a final conditional waiver of lien for the Contractor’s work, 
together with unconditional releases of lien from any subcontractor or materialmen. 

ARTICLE 45. PAYMENTS WITHHELD AND BACKCHARGES 

In addition to amounts which the District may retain under other provisions of the Contract 
Documents the District may withhold  payments due to Contractor as the District may 
consider to be necessary to cover: 

a. Stop Notice Claims.  

b. Defective work not remedied. 

c. Failure of Contractor to make proper payments to its subcontractors or suppliers.  



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 75 - 

d. Completion of the Contract if there exists a reasonable doubt that the work can be 
completed for balance then unpaid. 

e. Damage to another contractor or third party. 

f. Amounts which may be due the District for claims against Contractor. 

g. Failure of Contractor to keep the record (“as-built”) drawings up to date. 

h. Failure to provide updates on the construction schedule. 

i. Site cleanup. 

j. Failure of the Contractor to comply with requirements of the Contract Documents. 

k. Liquated damages. 

l. Legally permitted penalties. 

Upon completion of the Contract, the District will reduce the final Contract amount to 
reflect costs charged to the Contractor, back charges or payments withheld pursuant to 
the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 46. CHANGES AND EXTRA WORK 

a. Change Order Work. 

1) The District, without invalidating the Contract, may order changes in the 
Work consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, the Contract Price 
and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly.  All such changes in the 
Work shall be authorized by Change Order, and shall be performed under 
the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents.  A Change Order 
signed by the Contractor indicates the Contractor's agreement therewith, 
including any adjustment in the Contract amount or the Contract time, and 
the full and final settlement of all costs (direct, indirect and overhead) related 
to the Work authorized by the Change Order. 

2) Contractor shall promptly execute changes in the Work as directed in writing 
by the District even when the parties have not reached agreement on 
whether the change increases the scope of Work or affects the Contract 
Price or Contract Time.  All claims for additional compensation to the 
Contractor shall be presented in writing.  No claim will be considered after 
the work in question has been done unless a written contract change order 
has been issued or a timely written notice of claim has been made by 
Contractor.  Contractor shall not be entitled to claim or bring suit for 
damages, whether for loss of profits or otherwise, on account of any 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 76 - 

decrease or omission of any item or portion of Work to be done.  Whenever 
any change is made as provided for herein, such change shall be 
considered and treated as though originally included in the Contract, and 
shall be subject to all terms, conditions and provisions of the original 
Contract. 

3) Owner Initiated Change.  The Contractor must submit a complete cost 
proposal, including any change in the Contract time, within seven (7) Days 
after receipt of a scope of a proposed change order initiated by the District, 
unless the District requests that proposals be submitted in less than seven 
(7) Days. 

4) Contractor Initiated Change.  The Contractor must give written notice of a 
proposed change order required for compliance with the Contract 
Documents within seven (7) Days of discovery of the facts giving rise to the 
proposed change order. 

5) Whenever possible, any changes to the Contract amount shall be in a lump 
sum mutually agreed to by the Contractor and the District. 

6) Price quotations from the Contractor shall be accompanied by sufficiently 
detailed supporting documentation to permit verification by the District, 
including but not limited to estimates and quotations from subcontractors or 
material suppliers, as District may reasonably request. 

7) If the Contractor fails to submit a complete cost proposal within the seven 
(7) Day period (or as requested), the District has the right to order the 
Contractor in writing to commence the work immediately on a force account 
basis and/or issue a lump sum change to the Contract Price and/ or 
Contract Time in accordance with the District’s estimate.  If the change is 
issued based on the District estimate, the Contractor will waive its right to 
dispute the action unless within fifteen (15) Days following completion of the 
added/deleted work, the Contractor presents written proof that the District’s 
estimate was in error. 

8) Estimates for lump sum quotations and accounting for cost-plus-percentage 
work shall be limited to direct expenditures necessitated specifically by the 
subject extra work, and shall be segregated as follows: 

(a) Labor.  The costs of labor will be the actual cost for wages prevailing 
locally for each craft or type of worker at the time the extra work is 
done, plus employer payments of payroll taxes and insurance, health 
and welfare, pension, vacation, apprenticeship funds, and other 
direct costs resulting from Federal, State or local laws, as well as 
assessment or benefits required by lawful collective bargaining 
agreements.  The use of a labor classification which would increase 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 77 - 

the extra work cost will not be permitted unless the contractor 
establishes the necessity for such additional costs.  Labor costs for 
equipment operators and helpers shall be reported only when such 
costs are not included in the invoice for equipment rental. 

(b) Materials.  The cost of materials reported shall be at invoice or lowest 
current price at which such materials are locally available in the 
quantities involved, plus sales tax, freight and delivery.  Materials 
cost shall be based upon supplier or manufacturer’s invoice.  If 
invoices or other satisfactory evidence of cost are not furnished 
within fifteen (15) Days of delivery, then the Engineer shall determine 
the materials cost, at its sole discretion. 

(c) Tool and Equipment Use.  Costs for the use of small tools, tools 
which have a replacement value of $1,000 or less shall be 
considered included in the markups described below.  Regardless of 
ownership, the rates to be used in determining equipment use costs 
shall not exceed listed rates prevailing locally at equipment rental 
agencies, or distributors, at the time the work is performed. 

(d) Overhead, Profit and Other Charges.  The mark-up for overhead 
(including supervision) and profit on work added to the Contract shall 
be according to the following: 

i. “Net Cost” is defined as consisting of costs of labor, materials 
and tools and equipment only excluding overhead and profit.  
The costs of applicable insurance and bond premium will be 
reimbursed to the Contractor and subcontractors at cost only, 
without mark-up.  Contractor shall provide District with 
documentation of the costs, including but not limited to payroll 
records, invoices and such other information as District may 
reasonably request. 

ii. For Work performed by the Contractor’s forces the added cost 
for overhead and profit shall not exceed fifteen (15%) percent 
of the Net Cost of the Work. 

iii. For Work performed by a subcontractor, the added cost for 
overhead and profit shall not exceed fifteen (15%) percent of 
the subcontractor’s Net Cost of the Work to which the 
Contractor may add five (5%) percent of the subcontractor’s 
Net Cost. 

iv. For Work performed by a sub-subcontractor the added cost 
for overhead and profit shall not exceed fifteen (15 %) percent 
of the sub-subcontractor’s Net Cost for Work to which the 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 78 - 

subcontractor and general contractor may each add an 
additional five (5%) percent of the Net Cost of the lower tier 
subcontractor. 

iv. No additional markup will be allowed for lower tier 
subcontractors, and in no case shall the added cost for 
overhead and profit payable by District exceed twenty-five 
(25%) percent of the Net Cost as defined herein, of the party 
that performs the Work. 

9) All of the following costs are included in the markups for overhead and profit 
described above, and Contractor shall not receive any additional 
compensation for: Submittals, drawings:  field drawings, Shop Drawings, 
including submissions of drawings; field inspection; General 
Superintendence; General administration and preparation of cost 
proposals, schedule analysis, Change Orders, and other supporting 
documentation; computer services; reproduction services; Salaries of 
project engineer, superintendent, timekeeper, storekeeper, and secretaries; 
Janitorial services; Small tools, incidentals and consumables; Temporary 
on-Site facilities (Offices, Telephones, Internet access, Plumbing, Electrical 
Power, lighting; Platforms, Fencing, Water), Jobsite and Home office 
overhead or other expenses; vehicles and fuel used for work otherwise 
included in the Contract Documents; Surveying; Estimating; Protection of 
Work; Handling and disposal fees; Final cleanup; Other incidental Work; 
Related warranties; insurance and bond premiums. 

10) For added or deducted Work by subcontractors, the Contractor shall furnish 
to the District the subcontractor’s signed detailed record of the cost of labor, 
material and equipment, including the subcontractor markup for overhead 
and profit.  The same requirement shall apply to sub-subcontractors. 

11) For added or deducted work furnished by a vendor or supplier, the 
Contractor shall furnish to the District a detailed record of the cost to the 
Contractor, signed by such vendor or supplier. 

12) Any change in The Work involving both additions and deletions shall 
indicate a net total cost, including subcontracts and materials.  Allowance 
for overhead and profit, as specified herein, shall be applied if the net total 
cost is an increase in the Contract Price; overhead and profit allowances 
shall not be applied if the net total cost is a deduction to the Contract Price.  
The estimated cost of deductions shall be based on labor and material 
prices on the date the Contract was executed. 

13) Contractor shall not reserve a right to assert impact costs, extended job site 
costs, extended overhead, constructive acceleration and/or actual 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 79 - 

acceleration beyond what is stated in the change order for work.  No claims 
shall be allowed for impact, extended overhead costs, constructive 
acceleration and/or actual acceleration due to a multiplicity of changes 
and/or clarifications.  The Contractor may not change or modify the District’s 
change order form in an attempt to reserve additional rights. 

14) If the District disagrees with the proposal submitted by Contractor, it will 
notify the Contractor and the District will provide its opinion of the 
appropriate price and/or time extension.  If the Contractor agrees with the 
District, a change order will be issued by the District.  If no agreement can 
be reached, the District shall have the right to issue a unilateral change 
order setting forth its determination of the reasonable additions or savings 
in costs and time attributable to the extra or deleted work.  Such 
determination shall become final and binding if the Contractor fails to submit 
a claim in writing to the District within fifteen (15) Days of the issuance of 
the unilateral change order, disputing the terms of the unilateral change 
order, and providing such supporting documentation for its position as the 
District may require.   

15) No dispute, disagreement or failure of the parties to reach agreement on 
the terms of the change order shall relieve the Contractor from the obligation 
to proceed with performance of the work, including extra work, promptly and 
expeditiously. 

16) Any alterations, extensions of time, extra work or any other changes may 
be made without securing consent of the Contractor’s surety or sureties. 

ARTICLE 47. OCCUPANCY 

The District reserves the right to occupy or utilize any portion of The Work at any time 
before completion, and such occupancy or use shall not constitute Acceptance of any 
part of Work covered by this Contract.  This use shall not relieve the Contractor of its 
responsibilities under the Contract. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 80 - 

ARTICLE 48. INDEMNIFICATION 

To the extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
District, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers from and against all 
claims, damages, losses and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs 
to defend arising out of the performance of the Work described herein, and caused in 
whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone whose acts any of 
them may be liable, except where caused by the active negligence, sole negligence, or 
willful misconduct of the District, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized 
volunteers. 

To the fullest extent allowed by law, Contractor shall defend (with Counsel of District’s 
choosing), indemnify and hold the District, its elected officials, officers, employees, agents 
and authorized volunteers free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes 
of action, costs, expenses, liabilities, losses, damages or injuries, at law or in equity, 
regardless of whether the allegations are false, fraudulent, or groundless, to property or 
persons, including wrongful death, to the extent arising out of or incident to any acts, 
omissions or willful misconduct of Contractor, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
consultants and contractors arising out of or in connection with the performance of the 
Work or this Contract, including claims made by subcontractors for nonpayment, including 
without limitation the payment of all consequential damages and attorneys’ fees and other 
related costs and expenses.  Contractor shall defend, at Contractor’s own cost, expense 
and risk, with Counsel of District’s choosing, any and all such aforesaid suits, actions or 
other legal proceedings of every kind that may be brought or instituted against District, its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents and authorized volunteers.  To the extent of 
its liability, Contractor shall pay and satisfy any judgment, award or decree that may be 
rendered against District, its elected officials, officers, employees, agents and authorized 
volunteers in any such suit, action or other legal proceeding.  Contractor shall reimburse 
District, its elected officials, officers, employees, agents and authorized volunteers for any 
and all legal expenses and costs incurred by each of them in connection therewith or in 
enforcing the indemnity herein provided.  The only limitations on this provision shall be 
those imposed by Civil Code Section 2782. 

ARTICLE 49. RECORD (“AS BUILT”) DRAWINGS 

a. Contractor shall prepare and maintain a complete set of record drawings (herein 
referred to as “as-builts”) and shall require each trade to prepare its own as-builts.  
Contractor shall mark the as-builts to show the actual installation where the 
installation varies from the Work as originally shown.  Contractor shall mark 
whichever drawings are most capable of showing conditions fully and where shop 
drawings are used, Contractor must record a cross-reference at the corresponding 
location on the contract drawings. Contractor shall give particular attention to 
concealed elements that would be difficult to measure and record at a later date. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 81 - 

Contractor shall use colors to distinguish variations in separate categories of The 
Work. 

b. Contractor shall note related change order numbers where applicable.  Contractor 
shall organize as-builts into manageable sets, bound with durable paper cover 
sheets and shall print suitable title, dates and other identification on the cover of 
each set.  The suitability of the as-builts will be determined by the Engineer. 

ARTICLE 50. RESOLUTION OF CONSTRUCTION CLAIMS 

a. Contractor shall timely comply with all notices and requests for changes to the 
Contract Time or Contract Price, including but not limited to all requirements of 
Article 47, Changes and Extra Work, as a prerequisite to filing any claim governed 
by this Article. The failure to timely submit a notice of delay or notice of change, or 
to timely request a change to the Contract Price or Contract Time, or to timely 
provide any other notice or request required by this agreement shall constitute a 
waiver of the right to procedures of this Article. 

b. Effective January 1, 1991, Section 20104 et seq., of the California Public Contract 
Code prescribes a process utilizing informal conferences, non-binding judicial 
supervised mediation, and judicial arbitration to resolve disputes on construction 
claims of $375,000 or less. 

c. Effective January 1, 2017, Section 9204 of the Public Contract Code prescribes a 
process for negotiation and mediation to resolve disputes on construction claims. 
The intent of this Article is to implement Sections 20104 et seq. and Section 9204 
of the California Public Contract Code. This Article shall be construed to be 
consistent with said statutes. 

d. For purposes of this Article, “Claim” means a separate demand by the Contractor, 
after a change order duly requested in accordance with Article 47 “Changes and 
Extra Work” has been denied, for (A) a time extension, (B) payment of money or 
damages arising from work done by or on behalf of the Contractor pursuant to the 
Contract for a public work and payment of which is not otherwise entitled to, or (C) 
an amount the payment of which is disputed by the District.  

e. Claims governed by this Article may not be filed unless and until the 
Contractor completes all procedures for giving notice of delay or change and 
for the requesting of a time extension or change order, including but not 
necessarily limited to the procedures contained in Article 47 “Changes and 
Extra Work,” and Contractor’s request for a change has been denied in 
whole or in part.  Claims governed by this Article must be filed no later than 
the date of final payment. 

f. The claim shall be submitted in writing to the District and shall include on its first 
page the following in 16 point capital font: “THIS IS A CLAIM.”  Furthermore, the 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 82 - 

claim shall include the documents necessary to substantiate the claim.  Nothing in 
this subdivision is intended to extend the time limit or supersede notice 
requirements otherwise provided by contract for the filing of claims, including all 
requirements pertaining to compensation or payment for extra work, disputed 
work, and/or changed conditions.  Failure to follow such contractual requirements 
shall bar any claims or subsequent lawsuits for compensation or payment thereon. 

g. Supporting Documentation: The Contractor shall submit all claims in the 
following format: 

1) Summary of claim merit and price, reference Contract Document provisions 
pursuant to which the claim is made  

2) List of documents relating to claim: 

i. Specifications 

ii. Drawings 

iii. Clarifications (Requests for Information) 

iv. Schedules 

v. Other 

3) Chronology of events and correspondence 

4) Analysis of claim merit 

5) Analysis of claim cost 

6) Time impact analysis in CPM format 

h. District’s Response. Upon receipt of a claim pursuant to this Article, District shall 
conduct a reasonable review of the claim and, within a period not to exceed 45 
Days, shall provide the Contractor a written statement identifying what portion of 
the claim is disputed and what portion is undisputed. Any payment due on an 
undisputed portion of the claim will be processed and made within 60 Days after 
the public entity issues its written statement.  

1) If the District needs approval from the District Board to provide the 
Contractor a written statement identifying the disputed portion and the 
undisputed portion of the claim, and the District Board does not meet within 
the 45 Days or within the mutually agreed to extension of time following 
receipt of a claim sent by registered mail or certified mail, return receipt 
requested, the District shall have up to three Days following the next duly 
publicly noticed meeting of the District Board after the 45-Day period, or 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 83 - 

extension, expires to provide the Contractor a written statement identifying 
the disputed portion and the undisputed portion. 

2) Within 30 Days of receipt of a claim, the District may request in writing 
additional documentation supporting the claim or relating to defenses or 
claims the District may have against the Contractor. If additional information 
is thereafter required, it shall be requested and provided pursuant to this 
subdivision, upon mutual agreement of District and the Contractor.  The 
District’s written response to the claim, as further documented, shall be 
submitted to the Contractor within 30  Days (if the claim is less than $15,000, 
within 15 Days) after receipt of the further documentation, or within a period 
of time no greater than that taken by the Contractor in producing the 
additional information or requested documentation, whichever is greater. 

i. Meet and Confer. If the Contractor disputes the District’s written response, or the 
District fails to respond within the time prescribed, the Contractor may so notify the 
District, in writing, either within 15 Days of receipt of the District’s response or 
within 15 Days of the District’s failure to respond within the time prescribed, 
respectively, and demand in writing an informal conference to meet and confer for 
settlement of the issues in dispute. Upon receipt of a demand, the District shall 
schedule a meet and confer conference within 30 Days for settlement of the 
dispute. 

j. Mediation. Within 10 business Days following the conclusion of the meet and 
confer conference, if the claim or any portion of the claim remains in dispute, the 
public entity shall provide the Contractor a written statement identifying the portion 
of the claim that remains in dispute and the portion that is undisputed. Any payment 
due on an undisputed portion of the claim shall be processed and made within 60 
Days after the public entity issues its written statement. Any disputed portion of the 
claim, as identified by the contractor in writing, shall be submitted to nonbinding 
mediation, with the public entity and the Contractor sharing the associated costs 
equally. The public entity and Contractor shall mutually agree to a mediator within 
10 business Days after the disputed portion of the claim has been identified in 
writing, unless the parties agree to select a mediator at a later time.  

1) If the parties cannot agree upon a mediator, each party shall select a mediator 
and those mediators shall select a qualified neutral third party to mediate 
with regard to the disputed portion of the claim. Each party shall bear the 
fees and costs charged by its respective mediator in connection with the 
selection of the neutral mediator.  

2) For purposes of this section, mediation includes any nonbinding process, 
including, but not limited to, neutral evaluation or a dispute review board, in 
which an independent third party or board assists the parties in dispute 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 84 - 

resolution through negotiation or by issuance of an evaluation. Any 
mediation utilized shall conform to the timeframes in this section. 

3) Unless otherwise agreed to by the public entity and the contractor in writing, 
the mediation conducted pursuant to this section shall excuse any further 
obligation under Section 20104.4 to mediate after litigation has been 
commenced. 

4) The mediation shall be held no earlier than the date the Contractor completes 
the Work or the date that the Contractor last performs Work, whichever is 
earlier. All unresolved claims shall be considered jointly in a single 
mediation, unless a new unrelated claim arises after mediation is 
completed. 

k. If following the mediation, the claim or any portion remains in dispute, the 
Contractor must file a claim pursuant to Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 900) 
and Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 910) of Part 3 of Division 3.6 of Title 1 
of the Government Code prior to initiating litigation.  For purposes of those 
provisions, the running of the period of time within which a claim must be filed shall 
be tolled from the time the Contractor submits his or her written claim pursuant to 
subdivision (a) until the time the claim is denied, including any period of time 
utilized by the meet and confer conference. 

l. The following procedures are established for all civil actions filed to resolve claims 
of $375,000 or less: 

1) Within 60 Days, but no earlier than 30 Days, following the filing or 
responsive pleadings, the court shall submit the matter to non-binding 
mediation unless waived by mutual stipulation of both parties or unless 
mediation was held prior to commencement of the action in accordance with 
Public Contract Code section 9204 and the terms of this Agreement.  The 
mediation process shall provide for the selection within 15 Days by both 
parties of a disinterested third person as mediator, shall be commenced 
within 30 Days of the submittal, and shall be concluded within 15 Days from 
the commencement of the mediation unless a time requirement is extended 
upon a good cause showing to the court. 

2) If the matter remains in dispute, the case shall be submitted to judicial 
arbitration pursuant to Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 1141.10) of 
Title 3 of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, notwithstanding Section 
1114.11 of that code.  The Civil Discovery Act of 1986 (Article 3 
(commencing with Section 2016) of Chapter 3 of Title 3 of Part 4 of the Code 
of Civil Procedure) shall apply to any proceeding brought under this 
subdivision consistent with the rules pertaining to judicial arbitration. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 85 - 

i. In addition to Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 1141.10) of Title 
3 of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, (A) arbitrators shall, when 
possible, be experienced in construction law, and (B) any party 
appealing an arbitration award who does not obtain a more favorable 
judgment shall, in addition to payment of costs and fees under that 
chapter, also pay the attorney’s fees on appeal of the other party. 

m. Government Code Claims:  In addition to any and all contract requirements 
pertaining to notices of and requests for compensation or payment for extra work, 
disputed work, construction claims and/or changed conditions, the Contractor must 
comply with the claim procedures set forth in Government Code Sections 900, et 
seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the District.  Such Government Code claims 
and any subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims shall be 
limited to those matters that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to 
extra work, disputed work, construction claims, and/or changed conditions have 
been followed by Contractor.  If no such Government Code claim is submitted, or 
if the prerequisite contractual requirements are not satisfied, no action against the 
District may be filed. A Government Code claim must be filed no earlier than 
the date the work is completed or the date the Contractor last performs work 
on the Project, whichever occurs first. A Government Code claim shall be 
inclusive of all unresolved claims unless a new unrelated claim arises after 
the Government Code claim is submitted. 

n. The District’s failure to respond to a claim from the Contractor within the time 
periods described in this Article or to otherwise meet the time requirements of this 
Article shall result in the claim being deemed rejected in its entirety. 

ARTICLE 51. DISTRICT’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE CONTRACT 

a. Termination for Cause:  The District may, without prejudice to any other right or 
remedy, serve written notice upon Contractor of its intention to terminate this 
Contract if the Contractor: (i) refuses or fails to prosecute The Work or any part 
thereof with such diligence as will ensure its completion within the time required; 
(ii) fails to complete The Work within the required time; (iii) should file a bankruptcy 
petition or be adjudged a bankrupt; (iv) should make a general assignment for the 
benefit of its creditors; (v) should have a receiver appointed; (vi) should persistently 
or repeatedly refuse or fail to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper 
materials to complete the work; (vii) should fail to make prompt payment to 
subcontractors or for material or labor; (viii) persistently disregard Applicable Laws, 
ordinances, other requirements or instructions of the District; or (ix) should violate 
any of the provisions of the Contract Documents.  

The notice of default and intent to terminate shall contain the reasons for 
termination. Unless within ten (10) Days after the service of such notice, Contractor 
resolves the circumstances giving rise to the notice of default to the District’s 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 86 - 

satisfaction, or makes arrangements acceptable to the District for the required 
corrective action, this Contract shall terminate.  In such case, Contractor shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment until the Project has been finished.  The 
District may take over and complete The Work by any method it may deem 
appropriate.  Contractor and its surety shall be liable to the District for any excess 
costs or other damages incurred by the District to complete the Project.  If the 
District takes over The Work, the District may, without liability for so doing, take 
possession of and utilize in completing The Work such materials, appliances, plant, 
and other property belonging to the Contractor as may be on the Project site.  

b. Termination For Convenience:  In addition to its right to terminate this Contract 
for default, the District may terminate the Contract, in whole or in part, at any time 
upon ten (10) Days written notice to Contractor.  The Notice of Termination shall 
specify that the termination is for the convenience of the District, the extent of 
termination and the effective date of such termination.  

After receipt of Notice of Termination, and except as directed by the District, the 
Contractor shall, regardless of any delay in determining or adjusting any amounts 
due under this Termination for Convenience clause, immediately proceed with the 
following obligations: 

1) Stop Work as specified in the Notice. 

2) Complete any Work specified in the Notice of Termination in a least 
cost/shortest time manner while still maintaining the quality called for 
under the Contract Documents. 

3) Leave the Site and any other property upon which the Contractor 
was working and upon which the facility (or facilities) forming the 
basis of the Contract Documents is situated in a safe and sanitary 
manner such that it does not pose any threat to the public health or 
safety. 

4) Terminate all subcontracts and purchase orders to the extent that 
they relate to the portions of The Work terminated. 

5) Place no further subcontracts or orders, except as necessary to 
complete the remaining portion of The Work. 

6) Submit to the District, within ten (10) Days from the effective date of 
the Notice of Termination, all of the documentation called for by the 
Contract Documents to substantiate all costs incurred by the 
Contractor for labor, materials and equipment through the Effective 
Date of the Notice of Termination.  Any documentation substantiating 
costs incurred by the Contractor solely as a result of the District's 
exercise of its right to terminate this Contract pursuant to this clause, 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 87 - 

which costs the Contractor is authorized under the Contract 
Documents to incur, shall: (i) be submitted to and received by the 
District no later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date of the 
Notice of Termination; (ii) describe the costs incurred with 
particularity; and (iii) be conspicuously identified as "Termination 
Costs Occasioned by the District's Termination for Convenience." 

7) District’s total liability to Contractor by reason of the termination shall 
be limited to the total (without duplication of any items) of: 

i. The reasonable cost to the Contractor for all Work performed 
prior to the effective date of the termination, determined in 
accordance with the force account provisions of ARTICLE 46, 
including the Work done to secure the Project for termination.  
Reasonable cost may not exceed the applicable percentage 
completion values derived from the progress schedule and the 
Cost Breakdown.  Deductions shall be made for cost of materials 
to be retained by the Contractor, cost of Work defectively 
performed, amounts realized by sale of materials, and for other 
appropriate credits or offsets against cost of Work as allowed by 
the Contract Documents.  Reasonable cost will include 
reasonable allowance for Project overhead and general 
administrative overhead, not to exceed five percent (5%) of the 
cost. Contractor shall not be entitled to reimbursement under this 
section for Work for which Contractor has already received, or is 
eligible to receive, compensation under the terms of the Contract.   

ii. When, in the District’s opinion, the cost of any item of Work is 
excessively high due to costs incurred to remedy or replace 
defective or rejected Work, reasonable cost to be allowed will be 
the estimated reasonable cost of performing the Work in 
compliance with requirements of the Contract Documents and 
excessive actual cost shall be disallowed.   

iii. A reasonable allowance for profit on cost of Work performed as 
determined in accordance with ARTICLE 46 provided that the 
Contractor establishes to the District’s satisfaction that the 
Contractor would have made a profit had the Project been 
completed, and provided further that the profit allowed shall not 
exceed five percent (5%) percent of the cost. Contractor shall not 
be entitled to an allowance for profit on any work for which 
Contractor has received, or is eligible to receive, compensation 
under the terms of the Contract.  



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 88 - 

iv. Reasonable costs to the Contractor of handling material returned 
to vendors, delivered to the District or otherwise disposed of as 
directed by the District.   

v. A reasonable allowance for the Contractor’s internal 
administrative costs in preparing termination claim.   

vi. Reasonable demobilization costs, and reasonable payments 
made to Subcontractors or suppliers on account of termination.   

8) In no event shall the District be liable for unreasonable costs incurred 
by the Contractor or subcontractors after receipt of a notice of 
termination.  Such non-recoverable costs include, but are not limited 
to, the cost of or anticipated profits on Work not performed as of the 
date of termination, post-termination employee salaries, 
unreasonable post-termination administrative expenses, post-
termination overhead or unabsorbed overhead, surety costs of any 
type, costs of preparing and submitting the Contractor’s termination 
claim, attorney fees of any type, and all other costs relating to 
prosecution of a claim or lawsuit.   

9) The District shall have no obligation to pay the Contractor under this 
ARTICLE 51b (Termination for Convenience) unless and until the 
Contractor provides the District with updated and acceptable as-
builts and Record Documents for Work completed prior to 
termination.   

10) In arriving at the amount due the Contractor under this clause there 
shall be deducted in whole or in the appropriate part(s) if the 
termination is partial: 

11) All unliquidated advances or other payments on account previously 
made to the Contractor, including without limitation all payments 
which are applicable to the terminated portion of the Contract 
Documents, 

12) Any claim the District may have against the Contractor in connection 
with the Work, and   

13) The agreed price for, or proceeds of sale of, any materials, supplies, 
or other things kept by the Contractor and not otherwise recovered 
by or credited to the District. 

14) These provisions are in addition to and not in limitation of any other 
rights or remedies available to the District.  



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 89 - 

c. Savings Clause.  If District terminates Contractor for cause, and if it is later 
determined that the termination was wrongful, such default termination shall 
automatically be converted to and treated as a termination for convenience.  In 
such event, Contractor shall be entitled to receive only the amounts payable under 
this section, and Contractor specifically waives any claim for any other amounts or 
damages, including, but not limited to, any claim for consequential damages or lost 
profits. 

d. Exception.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article, when immediate 
action is necessary to protect life and safety or to reduce significant exposure or 
liability, the District may immediately order Contractor to cease Work until such 
safety or liability issues are addressed to the satisfaction of the District or the 
Contract is terminated. 

ARTICLE 52. WARRANTY AND GUARANTEE 

a. Contractor warrants that all materials and equipment furnished under this Contract 
shall be new unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents; and that all 
Work conforms to the Contract Document requirements and is free of any defect 
whether performed by the Contractor or any subcontractor or supplier. 

b. Unless otherwise stated, all warranty periods shall begin upon the filing of the 
Notice of Completion.  Unless otherwise stated, the warranty period shall be for 
one year. 

c. The Contractor shall remedy at its expense any damage to District-owned or 
controlled real or personal property. 

d. Contractor shall furnish the District with all warranty and guarantee documents 
prior to final Acceptance of the Project by the District. 

e. The District shall notify the Contractor, in writing, within a reasonable time after the 
discovery of any failure, defect, or damage.  The Contractor shall within ten (10) 
Days after being notified commence and perform with due diligence all necessary 
Work to complete or correct the Work at issue.  If the Contractor fails to promptly 
remedy any defect, or damage; the District shall have the right to replace, repair, 
or otherwise remedy the defect, or damage at the Contractor’s expense. 

f. In the event of any emergency constituting an immediate hazard to health, safety,  
property, or licensees, when caused by Work of the Contractor not in accordance 
with the Contract requirements, the District may undertake at Contractor’s 
expense, and without prior notice, all actions necessary to correct such condition. 

g. With respect to all warranties, express or implied, from subcontractors, 
manufacturers, or suppliers for Work performed and Materials furnished under this 
Contract, the Contractor shall: 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 90 - 

1) Obtain for District all warranties that would be given in normal commercial 
practice or that are required in the Contract Documents; 

2) Require all warranties to be executed, in writing, for the benefit of the 
District; and 

3) Enforce all warranties for the benefit of the District, unless otherwise 
directed in writing by the District. 

This Article shall not limit the District’s rights under this Contract or with respect to latent 
defects, gross mistakes, or fraud.  The District specifically reserves all rights related to 
defective work, including but not limited to the defect claims pursuant to California Code 
of Civil Procedure Section 337.15. 

ARTICLE 53. DOCUMENT RETENTION & EXAMINATION 

a. In accordance with Government Code Section 8546.7, records of both the District 
and the Contractor shall be subject to examination and audit by the State Auditor 
General for a period of three (3) years after final payment.   

b. Contractor shall make available to the District any of the Contractor’s other 
documents related to the Project immediately upon request of the District. 

c. In addition to the State Auditor rights above, the District shall have the right to 
examine and audit all books, estimates, records, contracts, documents, bid 
documents, subcontracts, and other data of the Contractor (including electronic 
records, computations and projections) related to negotiating, pricing, or 
performing the modification in order to evaluate the accuracy and completeness of 
the cost or pricing data at no additional cost to the District, for a period of four (4) 
years after final payment. 

ARTICLE 54. SOILS INVESTIGATIONS 

When a soils investigation report for the Project site is available, such report shall not be 
a part of the Contract Documents. Any information obtained from such report as to 
subsurface soil condition, or to elevations of existing grades or elevations of underlying 
rock, is approximate only and is not guaranteed.  Contractor acknowledges that any soils 
investigation report (including any borings) was prepared for purposes of design only and 
Contractor is required to examine the site before submitting its bid and must make 
whatever tests it deems appropriate to determine the underground condition of the soil.   

ARTICLE 55. SEPARATE CONTRACTS 

a. The District reserves the right to let other contracts in connection with this Work or 
on the Project site.  Contractor shall cooperate with and permit other contractors 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 91 - 

reasonable access and storage of their materials and execution of their work and 
shall properly connect and coordinate its Work with theirs. 

b. To ensure proper execution of its subsequent Work, Contractor shall immediately 
inspect work already in place and shall at once report to the Engineer any problems 
with the work in place or discrepancies with the Contract Documents. 

c. Contractor shall ascertain to its own satisfaction the scope of the Project and 
nature of any other contracts that have been or may be awarded by the District in 
prosecution of the Project to the end that Contractor may perform this Contract in 
the light of such other contracts, if any.  Nothing herein contained shall be 
interpreted as granting to Contractor exclusive occupancy at site of the Project.  
Contractor shall not cause any unnecessary hindrance or delay to any other 
contractor working on the Project.  If simultaneous execution of any contract for 
the Project is likely to cause interference with performance of some other contract 
or contracts, the Engineer shall decide which Contractor shall cease Work 
temporarily and which contractor shall continue or whether work can be 
coordinated so that contractors may proceed simultaneously.  The District shall not 
be responsible for any damages suffered or for extra costs incurred by Contractor 
resulting directly or indirectly from award, performance, or attempted performance 
of any other contract or contracts on the Project site. 

ARTICLE 56. NOTICE AND SERVICE THEREOF 

All notices shall be in writing and either served by personal delivery or mailed to the other 
party as designated in the Bid Forms.  Written notice to the Contractor shall be addressed 
to Contractor’s principal place of business unless Contractor designates another address 
in writing for service of notice.  Notice to District shall be addressed to the District as 
designated in the Notice Inviting Bids unless District designates another address in writing 
for service of notice.  Notice shall be effective upon receipt or five (5) Days after being 
sent by first class mail, whichever is earlier.  Notice given by facsimile shall not be 
effective unless acknowledged in writing by the receiving party. 

ARTICLE 57. NOTICE OF THIRD PARTY CLAIMS 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 9201, the District shall provide Contractor with 
timely notification of the receipt of any third-party claim relating to the Contract. 

ARTICLE 58. STATE LICENSE BOARD NOTICE 

Contractors are required by law to be licensed and regulated by the Contractors’ State 
License Board which has jurisdiction to investigate complaints against contractors if a 
complaint regarding a patent act or omission is filed within four (4) years of the date of 
the alleged violation.  A complaint regarding a latent act or omission pertaining to 
structural defects must be filed within ten (10) years of the date of the alleged violation.  



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 92 - 

Any questions concerning a contractor may be referred to the Registrar, Contractors’ 
State License Board, P.O. Box 26000, Sacramento, California 95826. 

ARTICLE 59. INTEGRATION 

a. This Contract, together with its incorporated documents, contains the entire, 
integrated agreement of the parties hereto, and supersedes any and all other prior 
or contemporaneous negotiations, understandings and oral or written agreements 
between the parties hereto.  Each party acknowledges that no representations, 
inducements, promises or agreements have been made by any person which are 
not incorporated herein, and that any other agreements shall be void.   

b. Any modification of this Contract shall be effective in in writing signed by all parties 
hereto.  No oral order, objection, direction, claim or notice by any party or person 
shall affect or modify any of the terms or obligations contained in the Contract 
Documents.   

ARTICLE 60. ASSIGNMENT 

Contractor shall not assign, transfer, convey, sublet, or otherwise dispose of this Contract 
or any part thereof including any claims, without prior written consent of the District.  Any 
assignment without the written consent of the District shall be void.  Any assignment of 
money due or to become due under this Contract shall be subject to a prior lien for 
services rendered or Material supplied for performance of Work called for under the 
Contract Documents in favor of all persons, firms, or corporations rendering such services 
or supplying such Materials to the extent that claims are filed pursuant to the Civil Code, 
the Code of Civil Procedure or the Government Code. 

ARTICLE 61. CHANGE IN NAME AND NATURE OF CONTRACTOR’S LEGAL 
ENTITY 

Should a change be contemplated in the name or nature of the Contractor’s legal entity, 
the Contractor shall first notify the District in order that proper steps may be taken to have 
the change reflected on the Contract and all related documents.  No change of 
Contractor’s name or nature will affect District’s rights under the Contract, including but 
not limited to the bonds. 

ARTICLE 62. ASSIGNMENT OF ANTITRUST ACTIONS 

Pursuant to Section 7103.5 of the Public Contract Code, in entering into a public works 
contract or subcontract to supply goods, services, or materials pursuant to a public works 
contract, Contractor or subcontractor offers and agrees to assign to the District all rights, 
title, and interest in and to all causes of action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton 
Act (15 U.S.C. Section 15) or under the Cartwright Act (chapter 2 (commencing with 
Section 16700) of part 2 of division 7 of the Business and Professions Code), arising from 
the purchase of goods, services, or materials pursuant to this Contract or any subcontract.  



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 93 - 

This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time the District makes final 
payment to the Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties. 

ARTICLE 63. PROHIBITED INTERESTS 

No District official or representative who is authorized in such capacity and on behalf of 
the District to negotiate, supervise, make, accept, or approve, or to take part in 
negotiating, supervising, making, accepting or approving any engineering, inspection, 
construction or material supply contract or any subcontract in connection with 
construction of the project, shall be or become directly or indirectly interested financially 
in the Contract. 

ARTICLE 64. LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

a. Contractor shall give all notices and comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations bearing on conduct of work as indicated and 
specified by their terms.   References to specific laws, rules or regulations in the 
Contract Documents are for reference purposes only and shall not limit or affect 
the applicability of provisions not specifically mentioned.  If Contractor observes 
that drawings and Specifications are at variance therewith, he shall promptly notify 
the Engineer in writing and any necessary changes shall be adjusted as provided 
for in this Contract for changes in work.  If Contractor performs any work knowing 
it to be contrary to such laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, and without such 
notice to the Engineer, he shall bear all costs arising therefrom. 

b. Contractor shall be responsible for familiarity with the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (“ADA”) (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.).  The Work will be performed in compliance 
with ADA laws, rules and regulations.  Contractor shall comply with the Historic 
Building code, including but not limited to, as it relates to the ADA, whenever 
applicable. 

c. Contractor acknowledges and understands that, pursuant to Public Contract Code 
section 20676, sellers of “mined material” must be on an approved list of sellers 
published pursuant to Public Resources Code section 2717(b) in order to supply 
mined material for this Contract. 

ARTICLE 65. PATENT FEES OR ROYALTIES. 

The Contractor shall include in its bid amount the patent fees or royalties on any patented 
article or process furnished or used in the Work.  Contractor shall assume all liability and 
responsibility arising from the use of any patented, or allegedly patented, materials, 
equipment, devices or processes used in or incorporated with The Work, and shall 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the District, its officials, officers, agents, employees 
and representatives from and against any and all liabilities, demands, claims, damages, 
losses, costs and expenses, of whatsoever kind or nature, arising from such use. 



SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00700 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

- 94 - 

ARTICLE 66. OWNERSHIP OF DRAWING 

All Contract Documents furnished by the District are District property. They are not to be 
used by Contractor or any subcontractor on other work nor shall Contractor claim any 
right to such documents.  With exception of one complete set of Contract Documents, all 
documents shall be returned to the District on request at completion of the Work. 

ARTICLE 67. NOTICE OF TAXABLE POSSESSORY INTEREST 

In accordance with Revenue and Taxation Code Section 107.6, the Contract 
Documents may create a possessory interest subject to personal property taxation for 
which Contractor will be responsible. 
 
 
 

END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS



SECTION 00750 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00750 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

- 95 - 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

SP – 1  DIFFERING SITE CONDITIONS 
In the event that site conditions are materially different than shown on the plans or 
observed during the mandatory site visit, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Engineer 
in writing. The Engineer shall investigate the conditions, and if found that such conditions 
do materially differ and cause an increase or decrease in the Contractor’s cost of, or the 
time required for, performance of any part of the Work under this Contract, the Engineer 
will recommend to the District that an equitable adjustment be made by modifying the 
Contract by Change Order to account for differing site conditions. 
 
No Claim of the Contractor under this clause or any other shall be allowed unless the 
Contractor has given notice as indicated above.. 
 
No Claim of the Contractor for an equitable adjustment hereunder shall be allowed if 
asserted after final payment under this Contract. 
 
SP – 2  USE OF STANDARDS 
The District’s Standard Technical Specifications and Standard Details (most recent 
edition) are considered a part of the Contract Documents and are the primary reference 
for technical Specifications for the construction of District projects. Any item of work not 
specified in the following Technical Specifications sections or not shown in the Bid 
Drawings shall be subject to the District’s Standard Technical Specifications and 
Standard Details .  
 
SP – 3  DESCRIPTION OF BID ITEMS 
The Bid Items listed in Section 00400 Bid Form are described in further detail in Section 
00900 – Measurement and Payment. The descriptions provided are intended as a guide 
for measurement and payment and may not include all items or work necessary to 
complete the Project. Any items not described, but necessary to complete the Project as 
specified within the Contract Documents shall be considered included in the appropriate 
Bid Item.  
 
SP – 4 DAMAGE TO PAVEMENT AND CONCRETE 
The Contractor shall provide all necessary protection to existing pavement and concrete 
so as to avoid scraping, gouging, imprinting, cracking edges or otherwise causing 
damage during the entire Project.  The District shall direct the Contractor to repair any 
damage as deemed necessary by the District.  The Contractor shall repair said damage 
using methods required by the District or the parties may agree to an alternative method 
in advance of said repairs.  All costs of repairs to existing pavement and concrete due to 
damage caused by the Contractor shall be solely the responsibility of the Contractor. 
 
 

END OF SPECIAL CONDITIONS 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 96 - 

6700 MADISON AVENUE AT DEWEY DRIVE WATER MAIN PROJECT 
C21-105 

 
The work described herein shall be performed according to the Citrus Heights Water 
District General Specifications as follows: 
 
1. SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The work shall include installing: 
 

• 115 lineal feet of 8” Pressure Class 350 Ductile Iron Pipe (PC350 DIP) 
 
The work includes all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals, to completely install 
an operating facility in accordance with these Citrus Heights Water District General 
Specifications and the Contract Documents. 
 
The Work shall be complete, and all work, materials, and services not expressly shown 
or called for in the Contract Documents which may be necessary for the complete and 
proper construction of the Work in good faith shall be performed, furnished, and installed 
by the Contractor as though originally so specified or shown, at no increase in cost to the 
District. 
  



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 97 - 

2. DISTRICT FURNISHED ITEMS 
 

• The District shall furnish water for construction at no cost to the Contractor. 
 

• The District shall provide for initial compaction testing as deemed necessary by 
the District at no cost to the Contractor. 

 
• The District shall provide for bacteriological sampling of the water in the water main 

and services prior to reconnection of same at no cost to the Contractor. 
 

• The District shall provide an Encroachment Permit approved by the County of 
Sacramento and pay all costs for fees and inspection at no cost to the Contractor. 
 

• The District shall file and maintain a Notice of Exemption for the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

 
3. CONTRACTOR FURNISHED ITEMS 
 

• The Contractor shall furnish all other material including but not limited to pipeline 
and appurtenances, sand, 3/4” aggregate base, concrete for thrust blocks, 
temporary and final paving, and hauling and disposal of spoils.  The Contractor is 
advised to order and acquire the specified materials well enough in advance so as 
not to cause the Project to be delayed or to necessitate substitutions.  Additional 
work days will not be granted for failure to obtain materials in a timely manner. 

 
• The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining any necessary permit for the 

disposal of chlorinated water and coordinating with the proper agency.  Any 
variation on this method will require approval in advance by Citrus Heights Water 
District.  The discharge of chlorinated water into any surface water drainage 
system is strictly prohibited by law. 

 
• The Contractor shall furnish a Traffic Control Plan approved by the County of 

Sacramento. The Traffic Control Plans shall comply with the Encroachment 
Permits. 

  



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 98 - 

4. ITEMS OF WORK, MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
 
Bid Item 1, Mobilization:  Includes obtaining a temporary discharge permit as required.  
Includes preparatory work and operations, including, but not limited to, that necessary for 
the movement of personnel, equipment, supplies, and incidentals to the Project site; for 
the establishment of all work site offices, buildings, and other facilities necessary for the 
Project; and for all other work and operations which must be performed, including costs 
incurred, prior to beginning work on the various contract items at the work site. 
 
The bid item for mobilization shall be no more than eight percent (8%) of the total contract 
amount.  The first payment for mobilization shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the 
bid item amount.  The Contractor shall submit an invoice to the District for payment of 
mobilization upon execution of the Agreement for Construction Services. 
 
Bid Item 2, Sheeting, Shoring and Bracing:  Consists of providing sheeting, shoring 
and bracing for below-grade excavations as is necessary to provide a safe work 
environment for the workers.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper 
application of sheeting, shoring, and bracing as required at any trench depth.  
Furthermore, the Contractor shall comply with all requests by the District Inspector for 
applying of sheeting, shoring, and bracing at any trench depth. 
 
The Contractor shall refer directly to Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations and the 
Labor Code, produced by the State of California Department of Industrial Relations and 
the Cal/OSHA Consultation Service Research and Education Unit, for detailed 
information regarding the regulation’s scope, specifications, and exceptions and for other 
requirements that may be applicable to their operations. 
 
The bid item for sheeting, shoring, and bracing shall be no more than one percent (1%) 
of the total contract amount.  The first payment for sheeting, shoring, and bracing shall 
be one hundred percent (100%) of the bid item amount.  The Contractor shall submit an 
invoice to the District for payment of sheeting, shoring, and bracing upon execution of the 
Agreement for Construction Services. 
 
Bid Item 3, Traffic Control Plan and Implementation:  Includes preparing and obtaining 
approval for a Traffic Control Plan, procurement and placement of all traffic control 
materials, equipment, and markings, and fulfillment of all other requirements as specified 
in the approved Traffic Control Plan.  The Contractor shall coordinate required inspections 
with the County of Sacramento Encroachment Inspector.  The Contractor shall comply 
with the approved County of Sacramento Encroachment Permits, and shall implement 
traffic control procedures as directed by the County Inspector and the District Inspector.  
The Contract lump sum price paid for Traffic Control Implementation includes 
compensation for all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals and for all work 
involved with Traffic Control Implementation, including placement of surface mounted 
channelizers, electronic advance message boards, flashing arrow boards, construction 
area and stationary mounted signs, project information signs, flagging, removal of all 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 99 - 

traffic control materials, equipment, and markings from the site upon completion of work, 
complete in place, as shown on the Project Plans and as directed by the County Inspector.  
This bid item also includes any traffic control necessary for night time work, if necessary. 
 
The bid item for the traffic control plan and implementation shall be no more than five 
percent (5%) of the total contract amount.  The first payment for the traffic control plan 
and implementation shall be fifty percent (50%) of the bid item amount and shall be 
invoiced with the Contractor’s monthly payment request following receipt of the Notice to 
Proceed from the District.  The remaining fifty percent (50%) of the bid item amount shall 
be invoiced by the Contractor with the following monthly payment request. 
 
Bid Item 4, Storm Water Pollution Prevention Implementation:  Includes 
procurement and placement of all storm water pollution protection materials and 
equipment, and fulfillment of all other requirements as specified in the Project Plan.  The 
Contractor shall coordinate required inspections with the County of Sacramento 
Encroachment Inspector and the District Inspector.  The Contractor shall comply with 
changes to the approved storm water pollution protection plans as required by the 
County of Sacramento Encroachment Inspector and the District Inspector.  The contract 
lump sum price paid for Storm Water Pollution Prevention Implementation includes 
compensation for all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals and for doing all 
work involved with Storm Water Pollution Prevention Implementation, including filter 
bags, gravel filled bags, geotextile fabric or erosion control blankets, staples, temporary 
fiber rolls, stakes, and removal of all storm water pollution protection materials and 
equipment from the site upon completion of work and as directed by the County and 
District Inspectors. 
 
The bid item for the storm water pollution prevention plan and implementation shall be no 
more than one percent (1%) of the total contract amount.  Payment for the storm water 
pollution prevention plan and implementation shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the 
bid item amount and shall be invoiced with the Contractor’s monthly payment request 
following receipt of the Notice to Proceed from the District. 
 
Bid Item 5, Install 8” Pressure Class 350 Ductile Iron Pipe (PC350 DIP) Water Main:  
Includes construction saw cutting and removal of existing paving, excavation, all potholing 
prior to or during construction, and the installation of 8" Pressure Class 350 Ductile Iron 
Joint Pipe (PC350 DIP) water main, mechanically restrained with bolted external joints, 
as indicated on the Project Plan.  Includes the installation of tees, elbows, caps, spools, 
and adaptors, flexible couplings, nuts, bolts, gaskets, insulated locator wire and non-
detectable locator tape, thrust blocks, backfill, compaction, and temporary paving.  
Includes disinfection, hydrostatic pressure testing (150 PSI for two hours), flushing, and 
bacteriological testing of the new water mains prior to connecting to the existing water 
mains.  Payment shall be at the contract unit price per each unit, complete. 
See CONTRUCTION DETAILS “TREN_711” and “TREN_713SC” 
 
 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 100 - 

Bid Item 6, 8” Connection to Existing 8” Water Main:  Includes connecting newly 
constructed 8” water main to existing 8” water main as indicated on the Project Plan.  
Includes installing all materials and fittings, with the exception of water main, as 
necessary to obtain proper alignment with the existing water main as indicated on the 
Project Plan.  Water main shall be invoiced at the linear footage price as part of the 
appropriate bid item.  Includes potholing prior to construction, insulated locator wire and 
non-detectable locator tape, backfill, and compaction.  Includes disinfection, flushing, and 
bacteriological testing.  Includes removal of existing caps and blow-offs, valve boxes and 
risers, and thrust blocks regardless of size.  Payment shall be at the contract unit price 
per each unit, complete. 
See PROJECT PLANS, Sheet 4, Note 2 and 3. 
 
Bid Item 7, 3” to 4” Max. Depth Asphaltic Concrete (AC) Paving Restoration:  This 
work includes removal of temporary paving, surface preparation, subsurface compaction 
as necessary and installation of 1/2" aggregate Asphalt Concrete to a 3” to 4” Maximum 
depth (installed in 2" maximum lifts) in accordance with County of Sacramento Standard 
Construction Specifications.  Spoils from demolition shall be properly disposed of by the 
Contractor outside County right -of-way.  Includes replacement of pavement striping, 
lettering, and reflective buttons, disturbed during the project and as directed by the 
Inspector. 
 
Final paving lift shall be applied using a paving finishing machine to provide an even 
surface with minor compaction.  Hand raking of the final paving lift shall be minimal and 
only in areas where a paving finishing machine cannot be used.  No disturbance of the 
paving shall be allowed until a pavement roller has adequately compacted the paving, 
and the paving has properly cooled. All paving not conforming to said specifications shall 
be removed and properly replaced by the Contractor at no cost to the District. 
 
The contract unit price paid per square foot for 3” to 4” Max. Asphaltic Concrete (AC) 
Paving Restoration shall include compensation for all labor, materials, tools, equipment 
and incidentals and for doing all work involved in 3” to 4” Max. Asphaltic Concrete Paving 
Restoration, including all pavement striping, lettering, and reflective buttons, complete in 
place, as shown on the plans, as specified in these specifications, and as directed by the 
District Inspector.  Payment shall be based upon the quantity of paving restoration, not 
the quantity of Slurry Seal. 
 
See CONTRUCTION DETAIL “TREN _713SC”. 
 
Bid Item 8, Concrete Planter Curb Restoration:  This work includes construction and 
finish saw cutting, removal, subsurface recompaction with 4" minimum 3/4" aggregate 
base compacted to 95%, and replacement with six-sack concrete mix, and finish to match 
existing.  The replaced curb shall be constructed in conformance with County of 
Sacramento Standard Construction Specifications.  Spoils from demolition shall be 
properly disposed of by the Contractor outside County right of way. 
 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 101 -

The contract unit price paid per lineal foot for Concrete Planter Curb Restoration shall 
include compensation for all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals and for 
doing all work involved in Concrete Planter Curb Restoration, including furnishing and 
placing aggregate base material, complete in place, as shown on the plans, as specified 
in these specifications, and as directed by the County and District Inspector. 
See SPECIAL PROVISIONS, Concrete Restoration. 

Bid Items 9, Landscape Restoration – Lawn or Planter Area:  This work consists of 
restoring customer’s lawn or planter area to its original or better condition prior to water 
installation.  Includes sod removal and replacement or reinstallation, grading, mulching, 
irrigation and sprinkler systems, and a general site cleanup.  Payment shall be at the 
contract price per each unit, complete. 
See SPECIAL PROVISIONS, Landscape Restoration. 

5. ORDER OF WORK

The order of work outlined below is to minimize public inconvenience and water service 
interruptions.  The Contractor is to submit a more detailed written schedule of the order 
of work based on this outline. 

1. Obtain approvals of submittals for the following items:  Discharge permit if required, 
materials, pipeline and appurtenances, backfill material design, asphalt mix 
design, concrete design mix, and Construction Schedule.

2. Order and coordinate delivery of material and equipment, and request location 
services from Underground Service Alert (USA).  Telephone: 1-800-642-2444 or 
811.

3. Install new water mains with temporary caps with 2” blow-offs at points of 
connection to the existing system.  Obtain approval from the District for installation 
and then backfill excavation.

4. Install temporary 2” Construction Water Service(s) as required by the District 
Inspector to allow pressurization of the old system and the new system 
simultaneously.
See CONTRUCTION DETAILS, Construction Detail WS_290.

5. Flush and hydrostatically test water main.  Disinfect (Chlorinate) and De-
chlorinate water main. District performs bacteriological sampling.

6. Coordinate with District Inspector for connecting new water mains to existing water 
mains upon notification by District of satisfactory bacteriological sampling.

7. Restore sites to pre-construction conditions as required and obtain approval from 
the District and the County of Sacramento.



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 102 - 

 
6. BACTERIOLOGICAL TESTING PROCEDURE AND TIMETABLE 
 
Before project construction begins: 
 

1. CHWD Water Quality personnel shall sample for both Coliform 
(Presence/Absence) and Heterotrophic Plate Count (HPC) on mains adjacent to 
the project. (SimPlate may be substituted for HPC) 
 

During project: 
 

2. CHWD Project Management personnel will provide a 24-hour notice to the 
Regional Water Quality Control Board for all flushing events. 
 

3. The newly constructed mains shall be filled by the contractor and purged to remove 
any trapped air using the District-approved and tested backflow prevention device 
specification. All best management practices shall be followed to insure no 
sediment or chlorine reaches any drain inlet or creek.  

 
4. The newly constructed mains shall pass the District pressure check requirements. 

 
5. The mains shall be chlorinated at 100 ppm for a minimum of 24 hours by the 

contractor using an approved chlorination specialist. 
 

6. The chlorine concentration shall be checked after 24 hours and a minimum 
residual of 25 ppm must be present throughout the new mains. 
 

7. The mains shall be flushed by the contractor until the chlorine concentration 
matches the normal system residual. All best management practices shall be 
followed to insure no sediment or chlorine reaches any drain inlet or creek.  
 

8. CHWD Project Management personnel shall submit a sampling plan to the 
Operations Manager for approval. 
 

9. CHWD Water Quality personnel, when practical, will collect Coliform and HPC 
samples according to the approved sampling plan. The sampling schedule will be 
submitted to the Operations Manager and the Water Quality Supervisor with at 
least a 24-hour notice. 
 

10. Samples shall be taken for both Coliform and Heterotrophic Plate Count (HPC) at 
24 and 48 hour intervals after completion of flushing. 
 

11. CHWD Project Management personnel shall submit negative sample 
documentation to Operations Manager for acceptance prior to the any connections 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 103 - 

to the CHWD distribution system. Sample result documentation generally takes 3-
5 business days after samples are delivered to lab. 
 

12. CHWD Water Quality personnel will sample mains downstream of project for 
Coliform and HPC after the new main is connected to the CHWD distribution 
system. 

 
The Contractor shall allow 8-10 business days for the Disinfection/Sampling Procedure 
prior to any connection to the District’s distribution system.  Larger systems will require 
additional time for chlorination and flushing.  Bacteriological samples shall only be 
collected between 8:00am and 2:00pm Monday through Thursday.  Any positive results 
on any sample taken shall require a repeat of the Disinfection/Sampling Procedure until 
all samples test negative.  HPC samples require a plate count of less than 500 on any 
sample taken. 
 

1. DAY 1 - Chlorinate new mains to 100 PPM and complete to allow flushing time on 
following day.  

 
---24-hour chlorine detention period--- 

 
2. DAY 2 - Flush new mains to normal residual and complete before 2:00pm. (Similar 

to system residual) 
 

---24-hour sampling detention period--- 
 

3. DAY 3 - Obtain first Coliform and HPC samples before 2:00pm. 
 

---24-hour sampling detention Period--- 
 

4. DAY 4 - Obtain second Coliform and HPC samples before 2:00pm. 
 

---3 to 5 business days for laboratory testing and review--- 
 

5. DAY 7-9 - Sample documentation provided to Operations Manager and 
customer notification of shut-down 

 
---24-hour notification period--- 

 
6. DAY 8-10 - Connection to CHWD distribution system only after clearance from 

Operations Manager is received. 
 
7. EXCAVATION AND POTHOLING 
 
Prior to beginning any excavation, the Contractor shall call Underground Service Alert 
(USA) (800) 642-2444 or 811, at least two (2) working days in advance, to arrange for 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 104 - 

utility location.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the location and protection of all 
existing utilities.  The Contractor shall expose and verify locations and elevations of 
existing utilities prior to construction as specified in the plans and specifications.  
The types, locations, sizes and/or depths of the existing underground utilities as 
shown on the plans were obtained from sources of varying reliability.  The 
Contractor is cautioned that only actual excavation will reveal the types, extent, 
sizes, location, and depths of such underground utilities.  If a utility is damaged, 
the Contractor shall contact the utility company immediately for repair.  The 
Contractor shall pay all costs for such repair if said damage is determined to be the 
responsibility of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall receive no additional compensation 
for removing and reinstalling any pipe or appurtenances due to a lack of proper advance 
potholing. 
 
Removal of soil, concrete, asphalt and other existing improvements shall be considered 
as excavation.  Excavation shall also include exploration and/or “Potholing” to determine 
the location of existing underground facilities and obstructions, and shall be considered 
as a normal part of this work. 
 
The Contractor shall immediately advise the District of inaccurate pothole data or any 
other pothole data which presents a conflict to the proposed water main alignment.  The 
District shall provide direction in advance of any water main installation to resolve the 
conflict. 
 
The District assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of utility markings other than water 
mains and appurtenances.  Should the Contractor fail to locate any utility, the Contractor 
shall be solely responsible for contacting that utility to schedule a re-mark.  The Contractor 
is advised that the District assumes no responsibility for additional costs for further 
excavation to locate a non-water related utility. 
Furthermore, should the Contractor choose to abandon all attempts to locate a utility, the 
Contractor is hereby advised that they are proceeding with water main installation at their 
own risk.  The District will not provide any written waiver of the requirement to locate in 
such case.  Should the Contractor later encounter the utility during trenching operations, 
the District assumes no responsibility for cost of realignment of the new water main or 
repair for damage to the utility. 
 
8. REMOVAL, RELOCATION OR PROTECTION OF EXISTING UTILITIES 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 4215 of the California Government Code, 
any contract to which a public agency, as defined in Section 4402, is a party, the public 
agency shall assume the responsibility, between the parties to the contract, for the timely 
removal, relocation, or protection of existing main or trunk-line utility facilities located on 
the site of any construction project that is a subject of the contract, if such utilities are not 
identified by the public agency in the Project Plans and general specifications made a 
part of the Notice Inviting Bids.  The agency shall compensate the Contractor for the costs 
of locating, repairing damage not due to the failure of the Contractor to exercise 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 105 - 

reasonable care, and removing or relocating such utility facilities not indicated in the plans 
and general specifications with reasonable accuracy, and for equipment on the Project 
necessarily idled during such work. 
 
The Contractor shall not be assessed liquidated damages for delay in completion of the 
Project, when such delay was caused by the failure of the public agency or the owner of 
the utility to provide for removal or relocation of such utility facilities. 
 
Nothing herein shall be deemed to require the public agency to indicate the presence of 
existing service laterals or appurtenances when the presence of such utilities on the site 
of the construction project can be inferred from the presence of other visible facilities, 
such as buildings, meter and junction boxes, on or adjacent to the site or construction; 
provided, however, nothing herein shall relieve the public agency from identifying main or 
trunk lines in the Project Plans and specifications. 
 
If the Contractor, while performing the Contract, discovers utility facilities not identified by 
the public agency in the contract Documents it shall immediately notify the public agency 
and utility in writing. 
 
The public utility, where they are the owners, shall have the sole discretion to perform 
such repairs or relocation work or permit the Contractor to do such repairs or relocation 
work at a negotiated price. 
 
The Contractor shall cooperate fully with all utility forces of the District or forces of other 
public or private agencies engaged in the relocation, altering, or otherwise rearranging of 
any facilities which interfere with the progress of the work, and shall schedule the work 
so as to minimize interference with said relocation, altering, or other rearranging of 
facilities. 
 
9. HOURS OF WORK 
 
The Contractor shall schedule all work activities per the Encroachment Permits, Monday 
through Friday, with Saturdays, Sundays, and District Holidays being excluded. The 
Contractor shall indicate the need for non-normal work hours in the various schedules 
submitted during the progress of the Project. 
 
Overtime work shall not entitle the Contractor to any compensation for any contract item 
in addition to that stipulated in the contract for the kind of work performed.  In case of 
extra work ordered by the District, no additional payment shall be made to the Contractor 
because of the payment by him of overtime wage rates for such work, unless the use of 
overtime work in connection with such extra work is specifically ordered in writing by the 
District, and then only to such extent as extra payment is regularly being made by the 
Contractor to his personnel for overtime work of a similar nature in the same locality. 
 
If, due to Contractor negligence, the District is called out after hours to restore water 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 106 - 

service, the Contractor shall be back-charged at a rate of $75 per hour per District 
employee for said restoration.  All such charges shall be documented by the District and 
deducted by the District from retention monies due the Contractor. 
 
 
 
10. MATERIAL SUBMITTALS 
 
The Contractor shall submit the following items for District approval prior to the beginning 
of the Project: 
 
Submittal List 
 
Item Description Submittal Summary 
Pipe and Fittings Product Data Sheets or other information 
Sand Gradation and Material Certification 
Import Backfill Gradation and Material certification 
Asphalt Mix Design Mix Design 
Concrete Mix Design Mix Design 
Chlorination Specialist Applicable State Contractors License Number 
 
11. VARIATIONS FROM PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS OR OTHER CONTRACT 

DOCUMENTS 
 
Any portions of the work, which do not conform to the General Specifications, Special 
Provisions, Construction Details, Map and Project Plans, or other Contract Documents, 
shall be clearly identified by the Contractor in a written letter noting such variation.  In the 
event of a conflict between the General Specifications and Special Provisions, the Special 
Provisions shall prevail. 
 
The District reserves the right to make such modifications or alterations, reductions or 
omissions, extra or additional work to the General Specifications and Contract 
Documents, including the right to increase or decrease the quantity of any item or portion 
of the work or to omit any item or portion of the work, as may be deemed by the District 
as necessary or advisable, and to require such extra work as may be determined by the 
District to be required for the proper completion or construction of the whole work 
contemplated.  All charges shall be considered a part hereof and subject to each and all 
of its terms and requirements. 
 
Increases or decreases in the quantities shown in the bid schedule, regardless of the 
magnitude of the change, the percentage change from the bid schedule quantity or the 
elimination of a contract item of work does not constitute a change requiring a change 
order, a change in the scope of the work, or a change in the character of the work.  
Contractor shall be paid the unit price quoted in the Proposal for Construction Services 
for the actual quantities used. 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 107 - 

 
No change or deviation from the Contract Documents or General Specifications shall be 
made by the Contractor without written authorization from the District setting forth a 
complete description of the change. 
 
12. CALIFORNIA CONTRACTOR’S LICENSE CLASSIFICATION 
 
In accordance with the provisions of California Public Contract Code Section 3300, the 
District has determined that the Contractor must possess a valid California State Class A 
- General Engineering Contractor Contractor’s License at the time that the Contract is 
awarded and throughout the Contract’s duration.  Failure to possess the specified license 
shall render the bid as non-responsive, and shall act as a bar to award the Contract to 
any bidder not possessing said license at the time of award. 
 
13. SUBCONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
Subcontractor(s) shall possess a valid California State Contractor’s License as applicable 
to the work performed.  All subcontracts shall include provisions that the Contract 
between the District and Contractor is part of the subcontract, and that all terms and 
provisions of said Contract are incorporated in the subcontract.  Copies of the subcontract 
shall be made available to the District upon written request and shall be provided to the 
District at the time any litigation is filed against the District concerning the Project.  The 
Contractor shall pay subcontractor(s) for completed work within thirty (30) days of receipt 
of payment from the District. 
 
14. PERMIT FOR CONSTRUCTION WATER 
 
A Construction Water Permit, a fire hydrant meter, and a fire hydrant meter deposit is 
required for use of any District fire hydrant(s).  The construction water fees are waived for 
the duration of the Contract and shall entitle the Contractor access to and reasonable use 
of water from assigned fire hydrants connected to the District’s water distribution system. 
 
15. SAFETY AND HEALTH PROVISIONS 
 
Fixed or portable chemical toilets, properly obscured from public observance, shall be 
provided for the use of the employees of the Contractor.  Toilets at the site shall conform 
with OSHA Safety and Health Standards for Construction.  Toilets shall be serviced daily 
and shall be removed from the work site on Saturdays, Sundays, and District Holidays 
unless work is authorized for those days. 
 
16. INJURY AND ILLNESS PREVENTION/HAZARD COMMUNICATION 
 
The Contractor shall maintain written “Injury and Illness Prevention,” “Confined Space 
Entry,” and “Hazard Communications” programs and shall provide the District with 
documentation of same prior to the execution of the Agreement for Construction Services. 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 108 - 

 
17. PRE-CONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE 
 
A Pre-construction Conference shall be held at the office of the Project Manager (Citrus 
Heights Water District, 6230 Sylvan Road, Citrus Heights, CA 95610) for the purpose of 
discussing with the Contractor the Scope of Work, General Specifications, existing 
conditions, submittals, materials, construction equipment, and other essential matters 
relating to the satisfactory completion of the work.  This conference shall be held prior to 
the issuance of the Notice to Proceed.  The Contractor’s representatives shall include the 
Competent Person, Project on-Site Superintendent, other primary superintendents and 
may also include representative’s subcontractors, service providers and material 
suppliers if any. 
 
18. PROJECT MEETINGS 
 
The Contractor, the District Inspector, and Project Manager shall establish a routine 
meeting schedule throughout the course of the Project to discuss progress, changes, 
questions, and to update the Project Schedule.  Meetings shall occur at two week intervals 
or more frequently if needed. 
 
19. CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
 
A Construction Schedule shall be prepared and submitted by the Contractor to the District 
for review and approval prior to the issuance of the Notice to Proceed.  Biweekly updates 
shall be provided thereafter and until completion of the project.  Full compensation for 
preparing the Construction Schedule and biweekly updates thereto shall be considered 
as included in the contract prices paid for the various items of work, and no additional 
payment will be allowed therefor. 
 
20. EMERGENT MATTERS AFTER HOURS 
 
Matters requiring an emergent response after working hours include but are not limited to 
public safety and the protection of private property, such as; degradation of temporary 
paving, unsafe traffic plates, leaking piping, customers without water service, violations 
of storm water pollution prevention implementation and unsafe construction.  The 
Contractor is advised that the District has the authority to determine what matters shall 
constitute an emergency, and the Contractor shall respond to all such emergencies until 
measures have been taken to remedy the matter to the District’s satisfaction. 
 
21. EMERGENCY CONTACT AND CONTRACTOR RESPONSE 
 
Prior to commencement of the Project, the Contractor shall designate a competent person 
to be responsible for responding to emergencies during non-work hours resulting from 
the Contractor’s work.  Said person shall be available at all hours and shall be housed 
near the Project site.  The maximum allowable response time shall be 30-minutes as 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 109 - 

determined by MapQuest.  The District shall be provided with a cellular telephone number 
and other relevant contact information for said designated competent person.  The 
Contractor is solely responsible for informing the District of any changes in designation of 
the responsible person or contact information during the course of the Project. 
 
22. TRENCH AND EXCAVATION COMPETENT PERSON ASSIGNMENT AND 

RESPONSIBLITIES 
 
The Contractor is hereby notified that a Trench and Excavation Competent Person shall 
be assigned to the Project at all times and shall be present on the Project during any and 
all work periods as specified in the Competent Person Assignment Form (see following 
page).  The Trench and Excavation Competent Person shall be present at the Pre-
Construction Conference and shall complete and sign this Form during the Conference.  
Should substitution of the assigned Trench and Excavation Competent Person be 
required, a new form shall be completed prior to initiating or continuing any work period, 
and that substituted Trench and Excavation Competent Person shall assume all 
responsibilities of the title. 
 



SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 

SECTION 00900 
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS 

- 110 - 

 
Trench and Excavation “Competent Person” Assignment 
 
PROJECT NAME: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
(Name of individual)______________________________________________________________________ 
 has been designated a “Competent Person” for Trenching & Excavation Operations by 
 
(Name of employer)_______________________________________________________________________ 
 based on the individual’s training, experience and demonstrated skills in the following: 
 

1. Knowledge of Cal-OSHA Code of Regulations, Title 8, Article 6 Excavations (Section 1539-1547) 
2. Soil classification 
3. Use of protective systems and safe access to and from all work levels or surfaces 

 
As such, the individual has the ability to detect: 

1. Conditions that could result in cave-ins 
2. Failures in protective systems 
3. Potential hazardous atmospheres 
4. Other hazards including those associated with confined spaces, and has 
5. The authority to take prompt corrective measures to eliminate existing and predictable 

 hazards and to stop work when required.  
 
Inspections shall be made by the Competent Person and must be documented.  The following 
specifies the frequency and conditions requiring inspections: 

1. Daily and before the start of each shift 
2. As dictated by the work being done in the trench 
3. After every rainstorm or other events that could increase hazards, e.g. rain event, 

wind storm, thaw, earthquake, etc. 
4. When fissures, tension cracks, sloughing, undercutting, water seepage, bulging of the trench,  

a change in soil types or other similar conditions that occur 
5. When there is a change in the size, location, or placement of the spoil pile nearest the excavation  
6. When there is any indication of change or movement in protective systems or adjacent structures  

 
Designated by: 
 
Signature: ___________________________________________________Date____________________ 
 
Name _______________________________________________Title_____________________________ 
 
____________________________________________ Title______________________ Date___________ 
Signature of individual assigned as Competent Person: 
 
Office telephone number: (       ) ___________________   Cellular number: (        ) ________________ 
 
After-hours telephone: (        ) ____________________   Pager number: (        ) __________________ 
 

 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 111 - 

6700 MADISON AVENUE AT DEWEY DRIVE WATER MAIN PROJECT 
C21-105 

 
1. Traffic Control Requirements 
 
The following traffic control requirements shall be adhered to as a basis for bidding 
purposes.  The County of Sacramento shall provide the traffic control requirements 
upon submittal of the encroachment permit by the contractor.  Adjustments may be 
required in the field for the purposes of installing the water main and appurtenances. 
 
DRIVEWAY ACCESS: The Contractor shall allow driveway access (ingress and egress) 
for all residential properties within the temporary traffic control zone unless special 
arrangements are approved by the property owner and the County of Sacramento. 
 
PEDESTRIAN ACCESS: All temporary traffic controls shall incorporate measures to 
ensure full and safe access for pedestrians and shall be in full compliance with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Title 24 of the California Code. Submittal of 
separate pedestrian signage and routing plans may be required by the County of 
Sacramento to ensure compliance with access requirements. 
 
BICYCLE ACCESS: When the road shoulder or designated bike lane is blocked by work 
zone or temporary traffic control measures, temporary traffic controls shall be 
incorporated to provide safe passage for bicyclists through the work zone.  “Share the 
Road” signs shall be placed at the beginning of the taper or closure and a minimum lane 
width of 12 feet shall be maintained in the lane shared by bicycles. 
 
2. U.S.A. Markings and Tire Markings 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible for removal of all U.S.A. markings and tire markings 
from construction equipment via power-washing or other approved method at no 
additional expense to the District. 
 
3. Damage to Pavement and Concrete 
 
The Contractor shall provide all necessary protection to existing pavement and concrete 
so as to avoid scraping, gouging, imprinting, cracking edges or otherwise causing 
damage during the entire Project.  The Contractor shall exercise caution to avoid 
damaging pavement along the edge of pavement where the water main is to be installed 
on the shoulder of the roadway.  The District Inspector or the County of Sacramento shall 
direct the contractor to repair any damage as deemed necessary.  The Contractor shall 
repair said damage using methods required by the Inspector or shall agree to an 
alternative method in advance of said repairs.  All costs of repairs to existing pavement 
and concrete due to damage caused by the Contractor shall be solely the responsibility 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 112 - 

of the Contractor. 
 
4. Storage of Equipment and Materials 
 
Storage of equipment and materials on the properties shall not be permitted without the 
written permission of the property owner.  The Contractor shall contact the County of 
Sacramento to determine if any use permits are required and obtain same, if required, at 
no additional expense to the District. 
 
Storage of equipment and materials within the County of Sacramento right-of-way shall 
require coordination with the District Inspector and County of Sacramento Encroachment 
Inspector.  Requirements of the Encroachment Permit shall prevail. 
 
5. Minimum Cover 
 
Minimum cover on all main lines shall be 36” below finish grade unless otherwise shown 
on the plans or specifically approved by the District Inspector.  Minimum cover on all 
service lines shall be 24” below finish grade unless otherwise specifically approved by the 
District Inspector.  For the purposes of this contract “finish grade” shall be the grade of 
the completed trench, including restored surfaces.  The restored surfaces shall match 
existing grade. 
 
6. Backfill, Compaction, and Compaction Testing 
 
Lawn, Planter, and Other Non-traffic Locations:  Backfill around service piping, valves 
and fittings shall be #2 washed sand to a minimum of 3” below and 9” above.  Backfill 
around water mains and service saddles shall be #2 washed sand to a minimum of 6” 
below and 12” above.  Remaining backfill shall be 100% ¾” crushed rock to the bottom 
of the meter box.  Above this level, backfill shall be native soil at optimum moisture 
content, placed in 3” lifts and hand-compacted to 90% minimum. 
 
Roadway, Driveway, and Traffic Locations:  Backfill around service piping, valves and 
fittings shall be #2 washed sand to a minimum of 3” below and 9” above.  Backfill around 
water mains and service saddles shall be #2 washed sand to a minimum of 6” below and 
12” above.   
 
Proper haunching of the pipe shall be achieved by hand shovel slicing sand under the 
haunches of the pipe.  With the pipe in place, the first lift of sand shall not exceed the 
springline of the pipe.  No additional sand shall be added until the entire section of pipe 
has been properly haunched. 
 
Compaction in the sanded pipe zone shall be 90% minimum.  Remaining backfill shall be 
100%  ¾” crushed rock to the bottom of the meter box.  Above this level, the remaining 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 113 - 

trench backfill shall be 100% import ¾” aggregate base compacted to 95% minimum. 
 
Compaction at all paved locations shall be 95% minimum.  Compaction at all other 
locations shall be 90% minimum unless otherwise specified by the District Inspector. 
 
Initial compaction testing shall be performed at the discretion and expense of the District.  
Backfill not meeting compaction specifications shall be corrected by the Contractor at no 
additional expense to the District.  Follow-up compaction testing shall be performed by 
the District at the expense of the Contractor.  No extra time or payment shall be provided 
due to work delays for these tests. 
 
Any surface settlement during the guarantee period shall be the responsibility of the 
Contractor. 
 
7. Thrust Blocks 
 
Thrust blocks shall be constructed of Type II six-sack Portland cement.  Concrete shall 
conform to either the 1” or 1 ½” gradation at the option of the Contractor, unless otherwise 
specified in these Specifications or as required by the District Inspector.  No backfill 
material shall be compacted above thrust blocks prior to a 24-hour period. 
 
Trailers with “buggies” shall not be used to haul concrete.  Concrete shall be hauled in 
cement mixing trucks or trailers only and shall be mechanically mixed at the site prior to 
placement. 
 
8. Temporary Trench Restoration 
 
Temporary paving (asphalt plant-mix cutback) shall be placed at locations and maintained 
at locations wherever excavation is made through pavement, sidewalk or driveways, as 
shown on the Project Plans, or as directed by the District.  Temporary paving shall be 
placed as soon as the condition of the backfill is suitable to receive it and shall remain in 
place until the condition of the backfill is suitable for permanent resurfacing.  Thickness 
of the temporary paving shall be one and one-half inches (1-½”) unless otherwise shown 
on the Project Plans.  Temporary paving shall be maintained at the same elevation as the 
existing surrounding surfaces until the permanent surfacing is placed.  Temporary paving 
shall be placed using a hand powered compaction device.  
 
Trench plates and their installation shall comply with the Encroachment Permit.  Trench 
plates shall be pinned prior to subjecting them to public traffic.  The edges of the trench 
plates shall be lined with temporary paving wedges.  The 2” Construction Water Service 
(See Exhibit G, Construction Detail WS_290) and all temporary blow-offs shall be 
plumbed below the roadway surface and installed in traffic-rated valve boxes for the 
duration of the Project. 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 114 - 

 
9. Resilient Wedge Gate Valves 
 
The resilient wedge gate valves shall fully comply with the latest revision of AWWA C509, 
and shall also be UL listed and FM approved.  The valves shall be tested and certified to 
ANSI/NSF 61. 
 
The valve shall have a 250 psig working pressure. 
 
The valve type shall be NRS (non-rising stem). 
 
The valve shall have an arrow cast on the operating nut or handwheel showing opening 
direction. The direction of opening shall be counterclockwise (left). 
 
The NRS valves shall be provided with a 2” square operating nut. The bolt that attaches 
the operating nut to the stem shall be recessed into the operating nut so as not to interfere 
with valve wrench operation. 
 
The valve body, bonnet, stuffing box, and disc shall be composed of ASTM A-126 Class 
B grey iron or ASTM A395 or A536 ductile iron. The body and bonnet shall also adhere 
to the minimum wall thickness as set forth in Table 2, section 4.3.1 of AWWA C509. Wall 
thickness less than those in Table 2 are not acceptable. 
 
The valve disc and guide lugs must be fully (100%) encapsulated in SBR ASTM D2000 
rubber material. The peel strength shall not be less than 75 pounds per inch. 
 
The valves shall have all internal and external ferrous surfaces coated with a fusion 
bonded thermosetting powder epoxy coating of ten (10) mils nominal thickness.  The 
coating shall conform to AWWA C550. 
 
 
10. Chlorination and Flushing 
 
The Contractor shall use a licensed Chlorination Specialist for the process of introducing 
a chlorine solution into the new water system.  Said specialist shall maintain an Active 
C36 (Plumbing) and C55 (Water Conditioning) license with the California State Licensing 
Board. 
 
Chlorine shall be introduced into the system at a minimum of 50 PPM and a maximum of 
100 PPM.  The Inspector shall be provided with proof of uniform chlorination throughout 
the system within the stated range using an approved test procedure.  All requirements 
of American Water Works Association standard C651-05 (Disinfecting Water Mains) shall 
be followed. 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 115 - 

 
Chlorinated water shall be properly disposed of using dechlorination procedures outlined 
in American Water Works Association standard C651-05 (Disinfecting Water Mains) and 
shall comply with all regulations.  The Inspector shall be provided with proof of uniform 
dechlorination at a minimum of 10 minute intervals during disposal using an approved 
test procedure.  Dechlorination shall be maintained at 0.0 PPM at all times during any 
disposal of any water into a drainage system. 
 
11. Sprinklers 
 
The properties may have underground sprinkler systems.  It is the Contractor’s 
responsibility to locate the system piping, and if disturbed, repair or replace it to its original 
condition at no cost to the District or property owner.  Sprinkler system repairs and 
reconnections shall be made using Schedule 40 PVC pipe w/Schedule 40 fittings or 
better.  Full compensation for restoration of existing sprinkler systems shall be considered 
as included in the contract unit prices paid for the various items of work, and no additional 
payment will be allowed therefor. 
 
12. Concrete Restoration 

 
♦ Materials 
 
 Class A-2 Concrete – Shall contain six (6) sacks (564 pounds) of Portland 

cement per cubic yard and shall have a maximum size of course aggregate 
of three-quarter inch (3/4”)  

 
 Concrete shall be hauled in cement mixing trucks or a trailer mounted barrel 

mixer only and shall be mechanically mixed at the site prior to placement.  
All ingredients are to be thoroughly intermingled during mixing, and all 
aggregate particles are to be completely coated with cement paste. 

 
 Note: Transporting or use of concrete in non-mixing trucks or trailers 

(“buggies”) is not permitted. 
 
♦ Installation 
 

All new concrete shall be installed within thirty (30) calendar days of 
removal. All concrete construction shall conform to existing finishes.  
Thickness shall be 4” minimum and 6” maximum.  Temporary “cut-back” 
asphalt shall be placed in sidewalks and other pedestrian traffic areas, until 
the final restored concrete can be placed. 
 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 116 - 

Restored concrete surfaces shall be installed per County of Sacramento 
Standard Construction Specifications Plan 4-30 and Section 27. 
 
Doweling and restored concrete surfaces shall comply with County of 
Sacramento Specifications as required. 
 

 
♦ Saw-cutting 
 
 Double saw cutting is required for all locations in the concrete.  An initial 

construction saw-cut is required to facilitate the locating and excavating of 
existing water distribution facilities or other utilities and to permit the 
installation of the proposed facilities.  After facility installation, backfill and 
compaction, a second final saw-cut 6” beyond the excavation is required 
immediately prior to restoration of the surface.  Saw cutting to the nearest 
expansion or control joint is required if within 18” of a proposed facility or at 
the direction of the District.  Saw cut shall be for full depth of the slab.  Edges 
remaining after removal shall be square, uniform, and with no chips or 
spalling. 

 
♦ Placement 
 
 Replaced portions of concrete shall be finished to match existing surfaces. 
 
♦ Vandalism 
 
 Contractor shall take all reasonable precautions to protect wet concrete 

from damage or vandalism. 
 

 
13. Landscape Restoration 
 
Landscape restoration work shall be performed by the Contractor.  If the Contractor is 
unable to satisfactorily restore the landscaping, a Landscape Contractor shall be retained.  
The Landscape Contractor to be used shall be provided in Exhibit A, List of 
Subcontractors if work exceeds one percent (1.00%) of total amount of bid. 
 
Provide all labor, materials, services and equipment necessary to complete all landscape 
restoration work, including but not limited to the following: 

 
1.  Sod removal and replacement 
2.  Ground Cover removal and replacement 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 117 - 

3.  Shrub removal and replacement 
4.  Pruning 
5.  Grading 
6.  Mulching – Shredded Bark 
7.  Weed Retardant Fabric replacement 
8.  Cleanup 
9.  Restoration of Sprinkler Systems 
 
♦ Sod Removal and Replacement 
 
 All lawn areas disturbed by the work shall be re-sod according to the 

following procedures: The grass shall be cut to a height of 2".  The sod shall 
be removed with an appropriate tool, cutting a minimum of 1 1/2" below the 
surface of the soil.  The sod shall be stockpiled and maintained in a healthy 
condition, and shall be replaced within three (3) days of the time it was cut. 

 
 If the sod removed is not healthy when it is to be relayed, it shall be replaced 

with new sod.  New sod shall be installed when and where required, within 
fourteen (14) days of the completion of the trench or excavation.  It shall be 
the responsibility of the Contractor to notify the property occupant in writing 
to water the newly replaced sod on a regular basis as required. 

 
 Areas to be planted shall be cultivated until the soil is mixed thoroughly and 

in a loose and fine textured condition.  The top 2” shall be cleared of all 
stones, stumps, dirt clods, debris, etcetera, larger than ¼” in diameter, that 
are brought to the surface as a result of cultivation. 

 
♦ Ground Cover Removal and Replacement 
 
 Ground cover disturbance shall be kept to a minimum and removal confined 

to an immediate area of required excavation.  Replacement shall be with 
healthy new plant material of a like variety, installed in conformance with 
the recommendations of the Sunset Western Garden Book. 

 
 New ground cover shall be installed where required within fourteen (14) 

days of completion of the trench or excavation.  It shall be the Contractor’s 
responsibility to notify the property occupant in writing to water the newly 
replaced ground on a regular basis as required. 

 
♦ Shrub Removal and Replacement 
 
 Any shrubbery, which must be removed, as directed by the District, shall be 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 118 - 

removed by the Contractor so as not to damage it.  If any damage is done 
to the shrubbery, the Contractor at no cost to the District or property owner 
shall replace it.  Replacement shrubs shall be 5-gallon minimum size and 
shall match the size of the removed shrub. 

 
♦ Pruning 
 
 Pruning of any shrubbery or trees shall be conducted under the direction of 

the District and follow sound horticultural practice.  Pruning shall be limited 
to the minimum necessary to provide access to work, to remove injured 
twigs and branches and to compensate for loss of roots during a transplant. 

 
♦ Grading 
 
 Planting beds shall be graded to drain with uniform levels or slopes between 

finished elevations and existing elevations. 
 
 Remove debris, roots, stones, etcetera, in excess of 2” in size. 
 
 Fine grade all planting areas to a smooth, loose, and a uniform surface. 
 
♦ Mulching 
 
 The Contractor shall replace mulch that has been disturbed by the 

operation.  Minimum depth of mulch will be 2”. 
 
♦ Weed Retardant Fabric Replacement 
 
 The Contractor shall replace fabric used to retard weed growth that has 

been disturbed by the operation.  The replaced fabric shall be of similar 
quality and character of the existing fabric disturbed. 

 
♦ Cleanup 
 
 Any excess soil, imported fill, prunes, or other debris shall be removed daily 

from the work zone and disposed of in a lawful manner at the Contractor’s 
expense. 

 
♦ Guarantee and Replacement 
 
 All plant material and sod installed, new or reused, under this Contract shall 

be guaranteed for thirty (30) days from time of installation against any and 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 119 - 

all poor, inadequate, or inferior materials and/or workmanship or improper 
maintenance, as determined by the District. 

 
14. Maintaining Traffic, Public Convenience and Safety 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible for the safety of traffic within the Project limits and on 
the approaches to the Project.  The Contractor shall be responsible for maintaining local 
property access and access to the existing public cross-streets within the limits of this 
contract.  The Contractor shall provide adequate steel plating to protect driveways and 
provide access to properties. 
 
Temporary paving shall be used when trenching occurs across a driveway.  The 
Contractor shall make a reasonable effort to reduce durations of the driveway closures 
by scheduling and coordinating work accordingly. 
 
The Contractor shall provide 72 hour advance notification to the occupants of property to 
which the existing access or frontage parking will be closed for a period of time exceeding 
two (2) hours.  Notification will be by written notice placed on or near the building entrance 
or the property access point to be closed.  The Contractor shall be responsible for making 
access available into the existing driveways at any time during their work day to 
emergency type vehicles such as fire, ambulance, police, and etcetera. 
 
Personal vehicles of the Contractor's employees shall not be parked within the right of 
way. 
 
Minor deviations from the requirements of this section concerning hours of work which do 
not significantly change the cost of the work may be permitted upon the written request 
of the Contractor if in the opinion of the District Inspector, public traffic and convenience 
will be better served and the work expedited.  These deviations shall not be adopted by 
the Contractor until the County of Sacramento and District have approved them in writing.  
 
Pedestrian access facilities shall be provided through construction areas within the right-
of-way as specified herein.  Access shall be American’s with Disabilities Act (ADA) 
compliant.  Pedestrian walkways shall be provided with surfacing of asphalt concrete, 
Portland cement concrete or timber.  Surface shall be skid resistant and free of 
irregularities. 
 
Paved pedestrian access to sidewalks and signals and signal push buttons shall be 
maintained during all stages of construction.  Walkways shall be maintained in good 
condition by the Contractor.  Walkways shall be kept clear of obstructions. 
 
Full compensation for providing said pedestrian facilities shall be considered as included 
in the prices paid for the various contract items of work involved and no additional 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 120 - 

compensation will be allowed therefor. 
 
Any closure or detour of pedestrian access for Contractor’s convenience shall be 
approved in writing by the County of Sacramento and District prior to scheduling work in 
the area under question.  Any request for temporary closure or detour of pedestrians shall 
be made in writing and include plans and information showing requested duration, days 
of the week, routes, signing and safety measures.  Approval or rejection of requests will 
be at the sole discretion of the County of Sacramento and District.  Additional signing and 
safety measures for pedestrians approved as part of a pedestrian access modification 
shall be considered as included in the prices paid for the various contract items of work 
involved and no additional payment shall be made therefor. 
 
15. Public Notification 
 
The District will be responsible for notifying the public, local residents, local businesses, 
local public, Regional Transit Route Scheduling Unit, local law enforcement agencies, 
local fire districts, local public and private ambulance and paramedic service providers, 
local utility companies and any other persons or agencies affected by this Project.  The 
District will be responsible for coordinating with the Contractor to ensure the proper timing 
and information is provided to the public. 
 
16. Construction Layout and Staking 
 
The District will provide construction staking for the water line as described below: 

• Offset stakes will be provided at 50 foot intervals along waterline, grade breaks 
and two stakes will be placed at each waterline angle point along the route.  Offset 
stakes will provide centerline of the water main and cut elevation to flowline of pipe. 

• Staking Waterline Tees or Service Laterals 
• Staking Water Meters or other waterline appurtenances  

The following staking items will not be provided by the District: 

• Staking Saw Cut Line 
• Staking Construction Area Signs 
• Traffic control except as noted below 

 
Contractor Responsibilities: 
 



SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
 

SECTION 01000 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

- 121 - 

• Discuss scheduling of staking needs for Contractor operations and time estimates 
of staking operations with the District Inspector.  Staking needs shall be included 
on the biweekly schedule updates.  

 
• Request construction stakes a minimum of three (3) working days in advance of 

starting an operation that will use the stakes (i.e. if stakes are to be used Thursday, 
the staking request shall be submitted on Monday).  Weekends and holidays are 
not considered working days. 

 
• Submit suitable requests for construction stakes, ensuring that the requested 

staking area is ready for stakes and that the stakes will begin to be used within five 
(5) days of staking. 

 
• Coordinate construction operations so that areas to receive stakes are relatively 

clear of construction equipment activity, in order that stakes can be set in safe and 
expeditious manner to the satisfaction of the District Inspector. 

 
• Contractor shall provide a safe working environment for the survey crews.  

 
• Contractor shall establish priorities for requested construction stakes and note the 

priorities on the staking request. 
 

• Contractor shall preserve all construction stakes.  Replacement of stakes will be 
completed at the expense of the Contractor. 

 
• The Contractor will coordinate with the District Inspector regarding the location and 

placement of Fire Hydrants, Valves, Tees, Crosses, Water Services, ARVs and 
related appurtenances.  The final location of these facilities will require approval 
from the District Inspector. 

 
If the area or facility is not prepared satisfactorily for the stakes, as determined by the 
District Inspector, the staking request will be voided by the District Inspector and the 
Contractor shall submit a new request for the stakes when the area or facility has been 
properly prepared.  If survey crews have been mobilized to an area that is not ready for 
stakes, the District will provide written documentation and charge the Contractor with re-
staking charges for the survey crew’s time. 
 
Full compensation for coordinating construction layout and staking with the District 
Inspector and the District’s staking agents shall be considered as included in the various 
contract items of work and no additional payment will be allowed therefor. 
 

END OF SPECIAL PROVISIONS 



SECTION 01100 
PROJECT PLANS 

 
 

SECTION 01100 
PROJECT PLANS 

6700 MADISON AVENUE AT DEWEY DRIVE WATER MAIN PROJECT 
C21-105 

 
The following Project Plans pertain to Citrus Heights Water District’s 6700 Madison 
Avenue at Dewey Drive Water Main Project C21-105: 
 
 
 6 Sheets Project Plans are 22” x 34” and shall be purchased as 

a portion of the Bid Package 



SECTION 01200 
ENCROACHMENT PERMIT DOCUMENTS 

 
 

SECTION 01200 
ENCROACHMENT PERMIT DOCUMENTS 

6700 MADISON AVENUE AT DEWEY DRIVE WATER MAIN PROJECT 
C21-105 

 
 
The following Encroachment Permit Documents pertain to Citrus Heights Water 
District’s 6700 Madison Avenue at Dewey Drive Water Main Project C21-105: 
 
County of Sacramento Encroachment Permit 
 
Encroachment Permit and Attachments (21 Pages) 
 
 



ENCROACHMENT PERMIT

U.S.A. TICKET NO.
Phone (800) 227-2600

1. Permit Type:  Utility

2. Application is made for permissions to excavate, construct and/or otherwise encroach on County right-of-way by performing 
the work described below on:

6700 Madison Avenue at Dewey Drive

3. Scope of Work:

Project Location

CITRUS HEIGHTS WATER DISTRICT
CONSTRUCT I I 5 LINEAR FEET OF NEW 8" WATER MAIN IN SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2022 PER A TT ACHED 
PROPOSED PLANS . ALL CONSTRUCTION WILL OCCUR ON SITE AT 6700 MADISON A VENUE. THIS PERMIT 
APPLICATION IS FOR USING THE RIGHT-TURN LANE ON DEWEY DRIVE FOR POSITIONING EQUIPMENT AND 
MATERIALS DURING APPROVED WORKING HOURS. NO MATERIAL OR EQUIPMENT WILL STORED IN THE RIGHT-OF-
WAY DURING NON-WORKING HOURS.

4. Except for Annual Permits: Permittee shall schedule a pre-construction meeting to activate this permit by calling 
CMID at (916) 875-2707.

5. Before starting work, the Permittee shall notify Sacramento County Construction Management at (916) 875-2707,24 hours in 
advance of the date work is to begin.
     a) For emergency work, notification shall be provided within 1 hour of dispatch as defined in Section 7-8.03 of the
         County Standard Construction Specifications
     b) No notification required for work that does not involve excavation and does not obstruct or modify
         pedestrian, bicycle or vehicular traffic patterns.

6. Permittee shall contact the County Survey Section at (916) 874-6546 for potential location of survey monuments.
7. Applicant must check with all Utility Companies serving the area covered by this permit, for location of existing underground 

pipes, conduits or cables.  Underground Service Alert (U.S.A.) does not locate non-pressurized sewer and drainage facilities.
8. Attention is directed to teh General Provisions attached hereto and to any specific conditions made a part of hereof.
In consideration of the granting of this application, it is agreed by the applicant that the County of Sacramento and any officer or employee thereof 
shall be saved harmless by the applicant from any liability or responsibility for any accident, loss or damage to persons or property, happening or 
occuring as the proximate result of any of the work undertaken under the terms of this application and the permit or permits which may be granted 
in response to thereto, and that all of said liabilities are hereby assumed by the applicant.  It is further agreed that if any part of this installation 
interferes with future use of the highway, it must be removed or relocated, as designated by the Director of County Engineering, at the expense 
ofthe applicant or their successor in interest.

FOR USE BY UTILITY COMPANIES

District: Division:

Engineer: Job No: C21-105

Contact Person:

Applicant Signature:

Applicant: Phone:

Address:

PAUL DIETRICH

 

CITRUS HEIGHTS WATER DISTRICT     PAUL DIETRICH (916) 735-7723

PO BOX 286 CITRUS HEIGHTS CA 95611 - 5611

DEPARTMENTAL REVIEW APPROVED DATE DEPARTMENTAL REVIEW APPROVED DATE
WATER SUPPLY N/A WATER QUALITY YES 7/8/2022
TRANSPORTATION YES 7/20/2022 TECHNICAL RESOURCES YES 7/20/2022
WATER RESOURCES YES 6/23/2022 Sub. Order Number: 90014131

Customer Number: 1000000602
Approved application is subject to payment of fees, pre-construction meeting with CMID, Attachment A, and is revocable at 
any time. This permit is nontransferable and EXPIRES ONE YEAR from date issued.

*ANNUAL Permits expire December 31 of the year permit is issued.

On Behalf of the Director of County Engineering

By:
CMID INSPECTOR Date

Plan Submittal Date: "ASBUILT" Inspector Approval    

6/22/2022 Name Date

827 - 7TH STREET, ROOM 105, SACRAMENTO, CA 95814
SACRAMENTO COUNTY MUNICIPAL SERVICES AGENCY

PHONE (916) 874-6544

Phone (916) 735-7723

Fees Due: Current Balance$0.00$365.75 $365.75Fees Paid:

Invoice # Fee Item Fee Due Fee Paid Date Paid 
1473520 IT Recovery Fee Billable $15.75 $0.00
1473520 Permit Fee - Utility Company $350.00 $0.00

ENUC2022-00399

Encroachment 
Inspection 
Area: 02

yees
Highlight



Department of Transportation Specific Comments 
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
Permit No. ENUC2022-00399 
Description of Work: Citrus Heights Water Dist, install 115ft of new 8inch water main, along Dewey Dr 
just S/O Madison Ave 
 
SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL ENCROACHMENT PERMITS 
 
• A mandatory preconstruction meeting is required prior to beginning any work on site. This permit is not 

activated and therefore not approved until a preconstruction meeting held. 
• Site specific notification must be given to Sacramento County Construction Management and Inspection 

Division at (916) 875-2707 a minimum of 24-hours prior to any work. 
• The deposit may be released 180 days after the acceptance of the work provided all inspection costs have 

been paid in full where applicable. 
• Applicant is aware that permit fees DO NOT include inspection charges.  Inspection charges will be billed 

separately at a later date. 
•  All work covered under this encroachment permit shall comply with the provisions of the revised January 

2016 edition of the County of Sacramento Standard Construction Specifications (SCS) and the Standard 
Requirements for Encroachment Permits (attachment “A”).  Prior to the start of any work, it is the 
responsibility of the applicant to be sure that all requirements including those indicated on “Attachment 
A” and the SCS are fully understood.  Any failure to comply with any of the requirements indicated on 
attachment A, the SCS or any requirements indicated below may result in work stoppage, fines and/or 
penalties, or both. This permit is issued in accordance with Division 2, Chapter 5.5 of the Streets and 
Highways Code of the State of California and Chapter 12.08 of the Sacramento County Code as amended 
on January 6, 1998. 

• Specific attention is directed to the “BACKFILL AND PAVEMENT RESTORATION 
REQUIREMENTS” section of attachment “A”. All work covered under this permit shall conform to 
these requirements. Deviations from these requirements shall be reviewed and approved (if appropriate) 
in writing separately from this encroachment review process.   

 
POSSIBLE CONFLICTING PROJECTS 
 
• No projects are proposed at this location which will conflict with the work covered under this permit. 
 
TRAFFIC CONTROL REQUIREMENTS 
 
• An approved traffic control plan will be required prior to beginning work. 
 
• Pedestrian and disabled traffic mitigation to be in compliance with 2016 Sacramento County Standard 

Construction Specifications Section 12.  These provisions shall be shown on TCP. 
 
• Closure of a paved shoulder (or outside lane) requires deployment of “Share the Road” signage (W16-1, 

W11-1) and 25mph speed limit signage (C17/25). 
 
 Tentative work hours: 8:00 am to 3:30 pm  
 (Note: Work hours subject to change based on submitted TCP) 
 Refer to California MUTCD typical applications for TCP requirements.   
 
 
 



TRENCH CUT FEES:  
 
• Trench cut fees if any, will be determined at the conclusion of the project. 
 
PAVEMENT MORATORIUM RESTRICTIONS: 
 
• No roadways included under this permit are subject to the pavement moratorium 
  
HOLIDAY MORATORIUM:  
 
• Madison Ave & Dewey Dr is included as a Holiday Moratorium Street. All construction work on Madison 

Ave & Dewey Dr will be suspended and no activities that interfere with public traffic shall be conducted 
on designated streets (as identified above) during the holiday season (defined as the four-day Thanksgiving 
weekend and December 8 through January 1). SCSCS 7-8.06 

 
Reviewed by BL on 07/19/22 – Sac County ROW Management Section 
  
 
P:\Shared Folders\R-O-W Management\Templates\Encroachment permits/Std Encroachment Permit Comments 1-13-17.doc         



Page 1 of 12 

     

-ATTACHMENT A- 
 

 STANDARD REQUIREMENTS  

FOR  

SACRAMENTO COUNTY ENCROACHMENT PROJECTS 

 
REQUIREMENTS AND STANDARDS 

 

Provisions of the most recent editions of the County of Sacramento Standard Construction Specifications 

(SCS) and the County of Sacramento Improvement Standards shall apply to all work covered under this 

encroachment permit.  This permit is issued in accordance with Division 2, Chapter 5.5 of the Streets and 

Highways Code of the State of California and Chapter 12.08 of the Sacramento County Code as amended on 

January 6, 1998. The following requirements shall also apply to this work.  

 

ACCEPTANCE OF PROVISIONS 

 

It is understood and agreed by the Permittee that performing any work under this permit shall constitute an 

acceptance of the general and specific conditions hereof.  

 

WORK AND MATERIALS 

 

Work and materials shall be in accordance with the current edition of the County of Sacramento “Standard 

Construction Specifications.” All work shall be in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 

VALID PERMIT KEPT ON SITE 

 

This permit is valid only for work done in the unincorporated Sacramento County area.  Any use of private 

property for storage of materials, trenching and/or placement of signage (other than traffic control devices) 

shall be approved by the property owner of the land parcel or acting agent thereof. This permit shall be kept 

on the worksite and must be shown to any authorized representative of the Agency or any law enforcement 

officer upon demand. Fines for failing to provide a valid permit may be accessed in accordance with Chapter 

12.08 of the Sacramento County Code.  

 

GENERAL DEPOSIT 

 

Applicant shall post a $2,500.00 deposit as specified in Chapter 12.08 of the Sacramento County Code.  The 

deposit may be released 180 days after acceptance of the work provided all inspection costs have been paid 

in full where applicable. 

 

GUARANTEE  

 

Should any failure of the work occur within a period of one year after completion and acceptance by the 

Agency, (i.e., sign off of permit), including the refilled excavation settling or if the resurfacing or restoration 

of the roadway disintegrates or develops ruts or holes or if found that materials used were not in compliance 

with County Standard Specifications, the permittee shall repair and/or resurface the work to the satisfaction 

of the Agency.  If the permittee fails or refuses to do such corrective work, the County may elect to complete 

the corrective work and collect the cost of the work from the permittee, or to pursue such other remedies as 

may be available to complete the corrective work at the permittee’s expense.  

 

 

 



Page 2 of 12 

PROSECUTION OF WORK 

 

Any work authorized by this permit shall be performed in a workmanlike, diligent and expeditious manner to 

the satisfaction of the Agency. The Permittee shall submit a schedule prior to beginning work for any project 

lasting more than 5 working days.   

 

U.S.A. NOTIFICATION REQUIRED 

 

The Permittee shall notify Underground Service Alert two working days in advance of performing 

excavation work by calling the toll-free number (800) 227-2600.  U.S.A. notification to be renewed at not 

more than 14 calendar day intervals. 

 

Disregard for or destruction of underground utilities may be cause for revocation of this permit and/or denial 

of future permits at the discretion of the Agency. Any utility so damaged shall be immediately reported to the 

owner and the Agency. 

 

ADDITIONAL NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS  

 

This permit is for work within the County Right of Way only. Applicant is responsible for coordinating and 

obtaining all other permits, permission, rights, etc. necessary for work both within the County Right of Way 

and beyond the limits covered under this permit. 

 

Work performed within the former McClellan Air Force Base must be coordinated with Paul Bernheisel 

(916) 997-1798 or Mike Swart at (916) 643-0830, ext. 230. A McClellan Facility Encroachment permit is 

required through these contacts prior to obtaining a County Permit. 

 

Work performed within the former Mather Air Force Base must be coordinated with Clark Whitten at (916) 

874-2555. Address:  700 H Street, Ste. 7650, Sacramento, CA 95814 

 

STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS WITHIN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY 

 

No equipment of materials shall be parked or stored within any traffic lane or within the public right-of-way 

at any time of day or night, including holidays and weekends without written consent from the Department of 

Transportation. 

 

TREES 

 

Unless specifically approved on the face of this permit, the removal or trimming of a tree(s) requires a 

separate tree permit per County Ordinance, call (916) 874-6291.  

 

TRAFFIC CONTROL REQUIREMENTS AND HOURS OF WORK 

 

A traffic control plan (or plans) shall be submitted for review and approval for any work requiring 

modifications to existing traffic patterns. The traffic control plan (or plans) shall include provisions for  

vehicular, pedestrian and bicycle access. Additionally, the traffic control plans (or plans) shall address traffic 

signal operations for any work performed within 200 feet of a signalized intersection. 

 

Contractor shall contact schools affected by construction to determine if school is in session. If school is in 

session, no construction activities shall take place 30 minutes before and 30 minutes after the  arrival (am) or 

departure (pm) bell.  Contractor shall also be responsible for providing notification to any fire station that 

could potentially be affected by construction activities.  

 

Transportation routes involving a river crossing over the American River have been identified as being 

critical for traffic circulation between areas north and south of the river.  In order to maintain traffic flow 



Page 3 of 12 

across these critical corridors, no lane or road closures are permitted from 7:00 am to 9:00 pm at the 

following locations: 
 

Watt Avenue  Between Folsom Boulevard and Fair Oaks Boulevard 

Sunrise Boulevard Between Folsom Boulevard and Fair Oaks Boulevard 

Hazel Avenue  Between Folsom Boulevard and Winding Way 

 

Lane or road closures at these locations during the times indicated will only be allowed in emergency 

situations or with the written approval of the Director of the Department of Transportation or his designee. 

 

ROAD CLOSURE 

 

No highway or street may be closed without first obtaining approval in writing from the Agency.  If 

permission is granted, it shall be the Permittee’s responsibility to notify the Highway Patrol and Fire 

Department prior to closing the street. 

 

LANE/ROAD CLOSURE DURING NOVEMBER/DECEMBER HOLIDAY SEASON 

 

Unless specifically approved by the Agency, construction will be suspended and no activities that interfere 

with public traffic shall be conducted on designated streets during the holiday season (defined as the four-day 

Thanksgiving weekend and December 8 through January 1). All existing pits, excavations, trenches, and 

openings in the road surface shall be backfilled and paved to produce a level and smooth surface.  All 

barricades and barriers shall be removed from all traffic lanes, unless authorized by the Agency as long-term 

traffic controls.   SCC 7-8.06 

 

MAINTAINING AND PROTECTING TRAFFIC CONTROL FACILITIES 

 

Metal objects (such as manhole frames and lids, valve boxes, bore casings, etc.)  shall not be installed within 

72 inches of a traffic detector loop.  Any traffic signal or detector operation disruption shall be repaired and 

the system made operational within eight hours of the damage.  Should the County elect to provide repair or 

replacement services, the Permittee shall be required to reimburse the County for all costs involved. 

 

EXISTING SPEED TABLES:  
 

If work requires excavating into existing speed tables, one half of the speed table shall be removed and 

reconstructed in accordance with current County speed table requirements. If the remaining half of the speed 

table does not meet current standards, the entire speed table shall be removed and reconstructed in 

accordance with current standards. If excavation is cored and no greater than 1 sq. ft. in area, in lieu of 

removing the speed table, pavement restoration may be as specified in Attachment A for “backfilling of 

potholes and borings within pavement areas”. 

 

DIRECTIONAL BORE REQUIREMENTS 

 

Prior to beginning work, the contractor must submit to the Agency (County of Sacramento Inspector) a 

general work plan. Verify all underground utilities in accordance with Government Code 4216 (SCS sec. 6-

16). Before drilling, prepare a directional bore profile showing all verified utility depths with utility required 

clearances and the projected bore path (elevation). Contractor shall provide directional bore profile to the 

Agency (County of Sacramento Inspector) prior to drilling. Directional bore depths to be a minimum of 42 

inches below pavement grade. Directional bore profile, log of boring operation and a guidance system log 

shall be kept onsite with the permit. Surface incisions on project streets shall not exceed industry bore pit 

standards.  In the event surface incision dimensions (i.e., length and width) exceed industry bore pit 

standards (as determined by the Agency), additional pavement restoration will be required.  Additional 

pavement restoration shall include a slurry seal placed over the entire width of the roadway (or to the 

roadway centerline if disturbances are isolated to one half of the roadway) to encompass the area of restored 



Page 4 of 12 

pavement.  Surface incisions located within 50 feet shall be included in the same slurry seal area.  Slurry seal 

shall extend 4 feet beyond the outermost surface incisions.  

 

TUNNELING 

 

No tunneling will be permitted except on major work as may be specifically approved and set forth on the 

permit thereof. Tunneling under sidewalks are also not allowed. 

 

 

 

PROTECTION OF EXISTING SURFACES 

 

The permittee’s contractor shall use appropriate equipment, construction methods and effort/care to prevent 

damage to existing pavement. The permittee shall also document the pre-existing pavement conditions in a 

manner that will allow construction damage to be identified. The permittee shall make a post construction 

evaluation of the pavement surface upon completion of the work and will be responsible for repairing all 

damage to the pavement surface resulting from construction activities. The permittee will also be responsible 

for repairing any damaged pavement that cannot be identified as pre-existing. 

 

Excavations within sidewalk areas, when not active, must be covered with a material suitable for pedestrian 

use and secured to avoid shifting.  The excavation shall be covered for no more than 7 days (i.e., the 

excavation must be backfilled and the surface restored within 7 days of initial excavation).   Sidewalk repairs 

shall conform to Sacramento County Details 4-25 and 4-43. 

 

MAINTENANCE 

 

The permittee agrees to exercise reasonable care to properly maintain any encroachment placed by it in the 

County right-of-way. The permittee further agrees to repair any damage to portions of the right-of-way 

which occurs as a result of the maintenance of the encroachment.  

 

TRENCHING 

 

Not more than one-half of the width of a traveled way shall be disturbed at one time and the remaining width 

shall be kept open to traffic by bridging or backfilling.  Pedestrian and bicycle facilities shall be maintained 

through the work site at all times unless provisions have been shown on an approved traffic control plan.   

 

TEMPORARY BRIDGING OF EXCAVATIONS AND TRENCHES 

 
The use of steel plates shall be approved by the Agency prior to installation. Steel plates used in the roadway, 

shall have the name and 24 hour emergency telephone number of the contractor responsible for maintaining 

the plates stenciled on the roadway pavement adjacent to the plates.  Painted text shall be in white lettering. 

The text shall be neatly stenciled lettering, a minimum five inches (5”) in height and shall be maintained in a 

neat and legible condition for the duration of plate placement. Steel plates shall conform to the following 

width and thickness requirements: 

 

  Steel Plate Width  Min. Thickness 

  18” or less    ¾” 

  18” to 72”    1” 

  Width greater than 72”  per analysis by engineer 

 

When steel plates are used to cover excavations on roadways with two or more lanes in each direction or 

posted 45 mph or greater posted speed or where the related work is to take place for longer than two (2) 

weeks, the steel plates shall be inlayed or recessed into the existing pavement. Existing pavement surface 

shall be milled out to ensure that the top of plate elevation matches the existing elevations of the adjacent 



Page 5 of 12 

pavement surface. Steel plates must be large enough to allow a minimum of one foot (1’) of bearing on all 

sides of the trench. 

 

When steel plates are used to cover excavations on all other roadways, they maybe placed on top of the 

asphalt with transitional ramps of MC250 asphalt mix (cutback) against all vertical edges of the plates. All 

ramping must be accomplished to provide a minimum angle of approach of twelve to one (12:1), providing a 

smooth, gradual transition between the pavement and the plate. Steel plates shall be anchored to the roadway 

surface with pins or spikes on the four (4) outermost corners. Additional pins shall be placed as necessary to 

assure the steel plates are secured. Pins shall be installed such that they do not protrude above the plate 

surface anymore than is necessary to anchor the plate and shall not create a hazard for the motoring or 

pedestrian public. Steel plates should be welded together to prevent shifting/bouncing where necessary. 

Where the Street surface is uneven, plates shall be bedded on MC250 asphalt mix (cutback). The steel plates 

shall extend beyond the edge of the trench a minimum of 18”, but no more than 30” on all sides. No corner 

of any steel plate shall protrude into the traveled way as to create a hazard to the motoring public.  

 

Steel plates shall have a nonskid surface static coefficient of friction of 0.35 per California Test 342 for all 

steel plates within traveled roadway, and 0.50 per ASTM C 1028 for those steel plates in pedestrian 

crosswalks or accessible areas. When required by the Agency, the Contractor shall certify in writing to the 

Agency that steel plates to be used in the Work meet the required static coefficient of friction.  

 

The length of a series of plates running parallel to traffic wheel paths shall not exceed 30’ unless approved by 

the agency or noted in the TCP or contract drawings. Steel plates shall not remain on the roadway for longer 

than seven (7) calendar days, unless otherwise approved by the Agency 

 

Trench walls and adjacent soils shall be sufficiently stabilized prior to the use of steel plates for bridging. For 

conditions that require a support structure (wide excavation with multiple plates), the system must be 

designed by a registered professional engineer and submitted to the Agency for approval before use. 

 

Steel plates shall be installed to operate with minimum noise levels as indicated in Sacramento County Code, 

Section 6.68, “Noise Control”. All steel plates within the right-of-way, whether used in or out of the traveled 

way, shall be without deformation (e.g., chains, attachments, weldments, or irregularities that can constitute a 

hazard). BUMP (W8-1) warning signs shall be properly posted and maintained in advance of all roadway 

plates placed on the surface of the pavement. The Contractor is responsible to maintain the steel plates in a 

proper condition until the roadway is properly back-filled and patched to allow for the safe passage of 

vehicles. The Contractor shall be responsible for any damages or injuries which may occur as a result of the 

plates being placed in the roadway. The Contractor must reimburse to the Agency any cost for emergency 

repairs. 

 

In sidewalk areas, one and one-eighths inch (1-1/8”) plywood with a nonskid surface static coefficient of 

friction of 0.50 per ASTM C 1028 may be substituted for steel plating where the excavation is less than two 

(2) feet deep and when authorized by the Agency.  Transitional ramps of MC250 asphalt mix (cutback) shall 

be installed against vertical edges in the direction of pedestrian traffic (both up and down-stream). All 

ramping must be accomplished to provide a minimum angle of approach of twelve to one (12:1), providing a 

smooth, gradual transition between the sidewalk and the plate. Plywood shall extend beyond the edge of the 

trench and any overlap shall be a minimum of 18”. Plywood shall not be placed such that it protrudes past the 

sidewalk edge. 

 

REMOVAL OF USA MARKINGS 

 

Before the project is accepted as complete, all USA and other construction related markings shall be removed 

to the satisfaction of the Agency.  Removal shall occur within 30 days of the date the markings are no longer 

needed, or upon completion of the work, whichever is sooner. The Agency will accept natural weathering of 

markings if the markings disappear within the 30 day period. If the markings are in brick paver or concrete 

areas and if by natural weathering or other approved removal methods the markings still remain, the 



Page 6 of 12 

contractor must replace the concrete or the brick pavers in-kind, unless the utility operator has failed to use 

chalk-based paint or other non-permanent marking materials. Excavators and utility operators are encouraged 

to avoid marking in these areas by using offset markings.  Removal methods shall be non-destructive and 

residual shadowing shall not remain. 

 

Removal of markings shall comply with the federal, state and local requirements of the National Pollutant 

Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) and the Regional Water Quality Control Board.   

 

U.S.A. markings not removed by the required time lines may be removed and the sidewalk or street 

repaired/replaced by the Agency at its discretion. The Agency will charge the excavator a service fee equal to 

the actual costs of removal plus an administrative fee of 20% for removing the markings and making any 

repairs and/or replacements. This fee will include the cost to comply with NPDES. 

 

DAMAGE TO EXISTING IRRIGATION SYSTEMS  

 

Irrigation systems owned or operated by the County of Sacramento are located within the right-of-way and 

on dedicated property outside the right-of-way.  In the event the irrigation systems are damaged due the 

permittee’s activities, it shall be repaired under the supervision of the Department of Transportation, Contract 

Landscape Section staff (916-875-5123).  The system shall be repaired in accordance with the current 

County Standards.  Care shall be taken to eliminate any debris from entering the system.  Any damage 

resulting from repairs or contamination into the irrigation system will be the responsibility of the permittee.  

A contractor working in the Landscape construction or maintenance field shall be required for all necessary 

repairs to the landscape system. 

 

Any permittee working in the right-of-way shall verify the location of the utilities with regards to easements.  

It shall be the permittee’s onus to verify they are not encroaching on dedicated properties such as Assessment 

District parcels along the right-of-way.  In the event a utility has been installed on dedicated property outside 

of the right-of-way or utility easements, or is planned to be placed on dedicated property, a utility easement 

must be acquired.  

 

DRIVEWAYS 

 

Portland cement concrete is not allowed for private driveway approaches within County right-of-way unless 

specifically approved by the Director of the Department of Transportation. 

 

CLEANUP 

 

All roadside drainage ditches shall be restored to a true grade and intake and outlet ends of all culverts shall 

be left free from all excess material and debris. 

 

RECORD DRAWING 

 

Upon completion of underground or surface work of consequence, the Permittee shall furnish record 

drawings to CMID showing location and details of work performed. 

 

FUTURE MOVING OF INSTALLATION 

 

The installation authorized herein shall, upon demand of the Agency, be relocated in a timely manner by, and 

at the sole expense of the Permittee whenever construction, reconstruction, maintenance, or traffic conditions 

on the highway may require such relocation.  The permittee must commence such relocation within the time 

specified in said demand and thereafter diligently prosecute the same to completion. 

 

BACKFILLING OF POTHOLES AND BORINGS WITHIN PAVEMENT AREAS 

 



Page 7 of 12 

Backfilling of potholes or similar types of minor excavations shall be with native or aggregate base materials 

compacted to 95%. In lieu of using compacted materials, controlled density fill (CDF) conforming to section 

50-15 of the SCS may be used. 

 

Backfilling of borings for soil or ground water sampling shall be in accordance with Sacramento County 

Environmental Health Requirements and County Standards.  Backfilling of borings within pavement areas 

shall utilize cementitious grout materials regardless of the depth of encountered ground water.  Backfilling of 

the upper one foot of borings/monitoring wells located in pavement areas shall consist of either high strength 

non-shrink grout or fast-setting concrete (minimum compressive strength of 4000 psi).  The grout/concrete 

shall be uniformly color stained black to match surrounding asphalt surfaces (surface staining of placed 

concrete is prohibited).  Placement of material shall utilize hand-rodding methods to facilitate consolidation.  

Once placed and rodded the surface shall be finished smooth using hand-trowel or other methods.   

 

In the event that consolidation of backfill materials occurs within the first 24-hours of placement resulting in 

settlements within the boring/monitoring well hole greater than ¼-inch, the hole shall be subsequently 

refilled with high strength non-shrink grout as required to reestablish a smooth surface. Additionally, if 

separation/shrinkage of the placed concrete is greater than 1/8-inch occurs along the outer perimeter of the 

filled hole, a flexible sealant shall be placed such that it uniformly fills associated gaps/voids. If the above 

criteria are not satisfactorily met, the County Inspector may require cutting/grinding within affected areas 

and subsequently repave in accordance with County Drawing 4-64.  

 

TEMPORARY PAVEMENT REQUIREMENTS 

 

Vehicular travel over backfilled but unpaved excavations will not be allowed. The Contractor shall provide a 

temporary surface suitable for driving consisting of at least one and one half inches (1-1/2”) of plant mix 

type “A” asphalt concrete on all roadways with two or more marked traffic lanes in each direction or 45 mph 

or greater posted speed. Plant mix type “A” or asphalt plant mix cutback maybe used on all other roadways. 

 

All temporary paving shall be identified by painting the words “TEMPORARY PAVEMENT” along with 

the name of the contractor responsible for maintaining the temporary paving material and the date in which 

the material was placed. Painted text shall be in white lettering at the beginning, ending and along the length 

of the temporary paving at a spacing not to exceed 500 ft. The TEMPORARY PAVING and the contractor or 

utility’s name shall be neatly stenciled 5 inches minimum in height and shall be maintained in a neat and 

legible condition. The date in which the material was place may be painted free hand without the use of a 

stencil, but must be legible.  

 

Temporary pavement and/or portions of temporary pavement totaling 1000 ft or greater in length shall also 

be identified with a construction sign placed along the edge of the roadway and constructed in accordance 

with section 34 of the SCS.  Temporary pavement signs shall be 30” X 30” in a diamond configuration and 

shall be orange with 5 inch black lettering. Signs shall be installed at the beginning, ending and at a spacing 

not to exceed 1000 ft. and shall be installed within the road right of way whenever possible. Signs shall not 

be installed in a location that would obstruct visibility or create an obstacle for pedestrians.  Property owner’s 

permission must be obtained if sign is placed on private property. 

 

In no case shall temporary pavement be allowed to remain for a period greater than 30 calendar days unless 

specifically approved by the Department of Transportation Right-of-Way Management Section. 

 

RESTORATION OF SURFACES 

 

(Note: Requirements for Trench Restoration are currently in the process of being revised. New 

requirements may be enforced on this project if final paving has not been completed prior to 

implementation of new requirements.)  

 



Page 8 of 12 

Replace section 14-3 STREET AND PARKING LOTS and Section 14-4 CONCRETE of the County 

Standard Construction Specifications with the following: 

 

14-3 STREETS AND PARKING LOTS 

 

14-3.01 Trench Restoration  

Edges of trench restoration shall be cut/grind so that edges are parallel or perpendicular to the 

centerline of the roadway. All required sand/slurry seal must be placed so that edges are parallel or 

perpendicular to the centerline of the roadway. Edges of existing pavement that are broken or 

damaged shall be removed and neatly trimmed back to stable and undisturbed base and surface 

materials. For locations where the existing pavement is severely fractured, remove loose asphalt to 

the nearest crack beyond the specified restoration limits.     

Repaving of trenched areas shall be in accordance with Standard Drawing 4-64 (including Shallow 

Trench, Deep Trench and Earth Saw Trench Details) with the following exceptions: 

 

Roadways less than 3 years old 

Cuts in pavement that have been constructed or overlaid within the last three (3) years are 

not generally allowed. County Code section 12.09.120 prohibits excavations in newly 

constructed or overlaid roadways for a period of three (3) years.  In circumstances such as 

emergency repair work where no other feasible options exist, the Sacramento County Dept. 

of Transportation may grant a waiver to this restriction. In the event that a waiver is granted, 

the applicant should be prepared to meet more stringent restoration requirements than those 

specified in these specifications.    

 

Roadways with pavement 3 to 5 year old  

Cuts in pavement that have been constructed or overlaid within three (3) to five (5) years 

shall receive a minimum 1-1/2 inch deep grind from lane line to lane line or edge of 

pavement and overlaid with asphalt concrete in conformance with these specifications. At 

roadway intersections and cul-de-sac bulbs, minimum grind and overlay shall extend to 

include the entire ¼ quadrant of the roadway affected by the work.   1-1/2 inch grind depth 

shall be considered a minimum and shall be adjusted as necessary to produce a stable surface 

for new pavement material. A seal coat will not be required.  

For Earth Saw Trench Section, delete “is within 20” of lip of gutter, otherwise 6” minimum” 

and replace with “edge of pavement or lane line”.  A seal coat will not be required 

 

Roadways with pavement greater than 5 years old 

 

Minor Roadways: 

 

Alternate 1 – Comply with requirements of Drawing 4-64 except eliminate tee 

portion of asphalt restoration by limiting the extent of paving to the projected area 

above the trench. Follow the trench paving with a minimum 1-1/2 inch grind and 

overlay from center of roadway to edge of pavement.  

 

Alternate 2 – Comply with requirements of Drawing 4-64.  Slurry seal or sand seal 

from edge of pavement to centerline of roadway and a minimum of two (2) feet 

beyond the trench paving limits. At roadway intersections and cul-de-sac bulbs, 

minimum slurry seal or sand seal shall be placed on the entire ¼ quadrant of the 

roadway affected by the work.  Sand seal applications shall be limited to 250 sq. ft. 

or less or as directed by the County (Black sand shall be used for this 

application).  

 

Roadways with 2 or more lanes in each direction or 45 mph or greater posted speed: 

 



Page 9 of 12 

Add: Arterial and thoroughfares shall receive a minimum 1-1/2 inch deep grind from 

lane line to lane line or edge of pavement and overlay with asphalt concrete in 

conformance with these specifications. 1-1/2 inch grind depth shall be considered a 

minimum and shall be adjusted as necessary to produce a stable surface for new 

pavement material. A seal coat will not be required 

 

Limits for “Seal Coats” specified in section 49-2.02 which is referenced in the “Earth Saw Trench 

Section” detail shall be revised to comply with the limits indicated above. 
 

 

14-3.01 Repair to areas damaged by Contractor’s Operations 

Areas of existing asphalt surfaces damaged during construction shall be removed and the top four 

inches (4”) of base material shall be re-compacted to a minimum relative compaction of ninety-five 

percent (95%). Base or underlying material that is wet, loose, or otherwise unsuitable for supporting 

new paving shall be removed to a maximum depth of twelve inches (12”) below the bottom surface 

of the new asphalt pavement section and replaced with aggregate base material per the requirements 

of Section 22, “Base Material”, of the County Standard Construction Specifications. Aggregate base 

material shall be compacted in layers not exceeding six inches (6”) in depth to a minimum relative 

compaction of ninety-five percent (95%). If unsuitable materials exist below this depth, an approved 

geotextile fabric shall be installed prior to placing the aggregate base materials.  

 

14-3.02 Asphalt Concrete  
The asphalt concrete shall conform to requirements specified in Section 23, “Asphalt Concrete”, of 

the Sacramento County Standard Construction Specifications. If the existing pavement surfacing is 

rubberized asphalt, top layer of new asphalt surfacing shall match the existing. Special attention 

should be noted that section 23-3.02 “Binders” specifies that “Conventional dense graded asphalt 

used on on-ramps, off-ramps, arterial streets and thoroughfare streets shall use PG70-10 binder.”  

 

Contractor is responsible for developing and providing appropriate placing and compacting 

techniques for producing asphalt concrete in conformance with these specifications including the 

determination of minimum acceptable paving temperatures for the specific mix to be used.  

In no case however shall any layer of asphalt concrete be placed when the atmospheric temperature 

is below 50°F, during raining weather or when the roadway is moist or damp. For the purpose of this 

provision, "raining" shall mean any weather condition that causes the roadway to become moist or 

damp. In the case of sudden precipitation, all paving work must stop immediately, all asphalt 

concrete on site not yet placed and all asphalt concrete in transit from the plant shall be rejected. 

Asphalt concrete shall be delivered to the site in a thoroughly blended condition and spread by a self-

propelled asphalt paving machine in such a manner as to avoid segregation during the placing 

operations and placed in such a manner as to achieve a density of not less than 92%, nor greater than 

97% (CTM 309).  Prior to placing asphalt concrete pavement, the vertical edges of any existing 

pavement, curbs, and gutters adjoining the area to be paved shall be clean and given a tack coat of 

asphaltic emulsion. Horizontal surfaces of asphalt (new and/or existing) shall also receive a tack coat 

prior to placing new asphalt. Asphaltic emulsion shall be of the high viscosity type subject to the 

approval of the Agency, and shall conform to Sections 39 and 94 of the State Specifications. Asphalt 

paving machine shall be used for placing the finish lift of asphalt concrete paving on all trench 

restorations. Limited areas inaccessible to mechanical spreading and compaction equipment or where 

irregularities or unavoidable obstacles exists may be spread, raked and luted by hand tools or other 

methods approved by the Agency. Asphalt paving machines shall be mechanical spreading and 

finishing equipment provided with a screed or strike-off assembly capable of distributing the 

material to not less than the full width of the trench. Screed action shall include any cutting, 

crowding or other practical action which is effective on the mixture without tearing, shoving or 

gouging and which produces a surface texture of uniform appearance. The screed shall be adjustable 

to the required section and thickness. The paver shall operate independently of the vehicle being 

unloaded. 



Page 10 of 12 

 

Final pavement surface for trenches greater than 3 feet in width and which are mostly parallel to the 

centerline of the street shall not vary from the edge of a 10 foot straight edge (placed parallel and 

perpendicular to the trench) by more than 3/8-inch, except at intersections or changes in grade.  

 

Final pavement surface for trenches 3 feet or less in width, bore holes having an area less than 50 

square feet, and trenches of any width not mostly parallel to the centerline of the street shall match 

the smoothness of the existing pavement, except final pavement surface grade shall not exceed 3/8-

inch above a line between the existing pavement surface at each edge of the excavation. Final 

pavement below this line is not acceptable.  

 

Pavement not meeting the above requirements shall be removed and replaced. Such pavement shall 

be removed to a minimum depth of 1-1/2 inches for the full width of the trench. The minimum length 

of removal along the trench shall extend for 4 feet beyond the ends of the non-conforming areas, but 

in no case exceed the limits of the original pavement repair. 

 

14-3.02A Density requirements  

The County may require testing of the asphalt concrete used in pavement restoration to verify that 

the materials being place conforms to these specifications. Density of asphalt concrete for quality 

control purposes may be determined by nuclear gage testing or other approved nondestructive testing 

method. At the County’s request, the Contractor shall provide quality assurance testing based on 

sampling of the asphalt on a lot basis defined as each five hundred (500) linear feet of trench. 

Compaction results shall be from comparing the average of density of cores taken from the 

compacted pavement to the Maximum Theoretical Density (Rice) as determined by California Test 

309 (CT 309) taken from randomly sampled material on a lot basis.  A minimum of two (2) cores per 

lot shall be sampled with half of the cores taken at the joint between the newly placed and the 

existing asphalt concrete (not more than 1 ft away from existing asphalt concrete). Contractor shall 

meet with the inspector and mutually agree on the sampling location. The density of each core shall 

be determined per CTM 308. The core samples shall be four inches (4") in diameter. Samples shall 

be neatly cut with a saw, core drill, or other approved equipment. If the density does not fall within 

the specified density range, the Contractor may test at two additional locations within the same 500 

linear feet of trench area and average the results of all three tests. This averaged result shall fall 

within the above-specified range. The Contractor shall notify the County inspector prior to paving 

and provide contact information for Contractor’s testing personnel. The Agency reserves the right to 

conduct parallel quality assurance testing at its discretion in accordance with Caltrans test methods, 

308, 309, and 375. Asphalt not meeting the above specified compaction requirements will be rejected 

on a lot basis.  

 

14-3.03 Seal Coats 

Specified seal coat treatment shall conform to the following requirements and shall not be placed 

until at least seventy-two (72) hours after the placement of the final paving lift. 

 

Slurry Seal (type 2) 

Slurry seal shall be furnished and placed as specified in Section 37-2 for Slurry Seal, of the 

State Specifications, with the exception that the fifth paragraph of Section 37-2.06, 

"Placing", shall be modified to provide that the thickness of application of slurry seal shall 

be adjusted to provide one (1) layer not less than one eighth inch (1/8”) thick nor greater 

than one-quarter inch (1/4”) thick. The requirement for wetting surface prior to placement of 

slurry seal is waived. 

 

Sand Seal 

Sand seal shall be furnished and placed as specified in Section 37-1, 

"Seal Coats”, of the State Specifications with the exception of the requirements for 

the asphaltic binder and aggregate. Asphaltic binder and aggregate shall be as 



Page 11 of 12 

follows: 

 

 The asphaltic materials for sand seal shall conform to the requirements in Section 50-17, 

“Asphalt, Liquid Asphalt, and Asphaltic Emulsion”, of these Specifications. The 

asphaltic materials shall be CRS 1. 

 The rate of application of CRS 1 shall vary between 0.08 and 0.15 gallons per square 

yard as directed by the Agency, depending upon the surface condition and weather. 

 Aggregate for sand seal shall conform to Section 37-2.02C, “Aggregate”, of the State 

Specifications and shall be spread at the rate of six (6) to ten (10) pounds per square 

yard, or as directed by the Agency. Preparation of seal coat, applying bituminous binder, 

spreading, and finishing shall be in accordance with Section 37, “Bituminous Seals”, of 

the State Specifications, with the exception that steel wheeled rollers for sand seal may 

be eliminated and the pneumatic roller used for all seal  operations. Asphaltic emulsion 

shall be applied by a distributor truck. 

 Black sand shall be used for this application. 

 

 

14-3.04 Shoulders 

Surface restoration of trenches located in a shoulder within six feet (6’) of the traveled way 

shall consist of a structural section equal to the original, or as shown on the Plans, but having a 

minimum of five inches (5”) of aggregate base compacted to a relative compaction of ninety-five 

percent (95%).  

 

14-4 CONCRETE 

 

Repairs to concrete curbs, gutters, sidewalks, driveways and other concrete surfaces shall be made by 

removing and replacing the entire portions between joints or scores, except as follows: 

 

 Curb and gutter shall be replaced between saw cuts so that the remaining or new curb and 

gutter will not be less than four feet (4’) in length, measured from the saw cut to the nearest 

score mark, expansion joint, construction joint or weaken plane joint. 

 The entire width of sidewalk shall be replaced between saw cuts for a length of not less than 

four feet (4’) in length, measured from the saw cut to the nearest score mark, expansion 

joint, construction joint or weaken plane joint. 

 Driveways shall be replaced as directed by the Agency, either completely or partially by saw 

cutting in the middle of the driveway. 

 Existing driveways not in conformance with current ADA requirements shall be completely 

removed and replaced to conform to current requirements.  

 In accordance with section 4-18 of the County of Sacramento Improvement Standards and 

the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), California Code of Regulations, Title 24 and the 

California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, any modification of any portion of 

an intersection shall require access improvements to all corners of that intersection. Re-

construction of existing sidewalk ramps as a result of damage to the sidewalk ramp shall be 

considered a modification to a portion of the intersection. All existing corners of an 

intersection where sidewalk ramps are not in conformance with current ADA requirements 

shall be completely removed and replaced to conform to current requirements.    

 Curb dowels and reinforcing shall be provided and shall be installed in accordance with 

Section 27-6 of the County Standard Construction Specifications. 

 

Replacement shall be in accordance with the applicable requirements, including the placement of 

Aggregate Base Class 2 under the new concrete as specified in Section 27, “Curb, Gutter, Sidewalk, 

and Drainage Structures” of the County Standard Construction Specifications. Pedestrian access 

shall be maintained in accordance with Section 12-12.02, “Pedestrian and Bicycle Access’ of the 

County Standard Construction Specifications. 



Page 12 of 12 

 

14-5 PAVEMENT MARKINGS 

 

Replace entire section with the following: 

 

Except where specified otherwise in these Specifications or the Special Provisions, the Contractor 

shall replace all crosswalks, legends and other permanent pavement markings and raised markers 

that have been disturbed, destroyed or covered by the Work. Damaged pavement legends shall be 

completely removed and crosswalks shall be removed from edge of road to centerline in accordance 

with section 13-2.09 “Removal of Traffic Stripes and Pavement Markings” and a sand seal or slurry 

seal conforming to section 14-3.04 “Seal Coat” shall be applied. Seal coat shall cover the entire 

pavement surface and extend a minimum of 6 inches past the areas where the legend has been 

removed. All edges of seal coat shall be perpendicular or parallel to the centerline of the roadway. 

Pavement markings shall then be replaced in accordance with section 48-2 “Thermoplastic Traffic 

Stripes and Pavement Markings”.       
 

 

 

 

P:\Shared Folders\R-O-W Management\Templates\Encroachment permits\Attachment A Comments - January 3, 

2018.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



DWR STANDARD REQUIREMENTS FOR ENCROCHMENT PERMITS 

Show all County storm drain facilities within the vicinity of the project site and denote with SD. 

If project disturbs one acre or more, project owner must determine if coverage under the Construction 
General Permit (CGP) or a waiver of coverage must be obtained.  Include Waste Discharge 
Identification (WDID) number on construction drawings. 

NOTES TO BE INCLUDED ON CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS: 

1. For locations where tunneling/trenching occurs under existing storm drain pipe, control density 
backfill shall be used consistent with Section 50-15 of the Sacramento County Standard 
Construction Specifications (September 2001 Revised March 2004, Revised January 2008 and 
Revised January 1, 2016).

2. Sacramento County Department of Water Resources requires a minimum horizontal separation 
of 36 inches and a minimum vertical separation of 12 inches from nearest side of storm drain 
facility. All drainage facilities shall be field verified prior to any construction activity.

3. All drain inlets within the project limits and any downstream inlets that may be affected shall 
be protected using Sacramento County Standard Construction Specifications (September 2001 
Revised March 2004, Revised January 2008 and Revised January 1, 2016).

4. If during construction, the drainage system is damaged or found to be damaged, immediately 
contact the Drainage Maintenance Engineering Office by calling 311 and the inspector. Repairs 
shall adhere to the current Sacramento County Standard Construction Specifications. 

POTHOLE NOTE: 

Prior to beginning construction, the contractor shall pothole   all drainage locations on these plans and 
allow utility company appointed surveys to locate the Utilities within l/10 (0.10') of a foot. After 
surveys have located the utilities, the contractor shall backfill the potholed areas in accordance with 
Sacramento County Standard Construction Specifications. Utility companies shall review the 
information provided by surveys and revise the alignment of the utility lines as necessary. 

DWR ENCROACHMENT PERMIT STORM WATER CONDITION OF APPROVAL 

1. Contractor shall inspect on a daily basis all immediate access roads and gutters.  At a minimum
daily (or when deemed necessary by the inspector) and prior to any rain event, the discharger
shall remove sediment or other construction activity related materials that are deposited on
the roads and gutters (by vacuuming or sweeping).

2. A haul route plan and soil export destination locations shall be part of this permit.  Grading
permit/s may be required for soil disposal locations.





 

Review drawing attached to this permit. For lower lateral location contact U.S.A. 1-800-227-

2600. In the event of damage and or broken SASD (sewer) facilities, contact SASD Radio room at 

(916) 875-6730 and provide location of damage line, a SASD representative will document and 

evaluate the damage. 

 

We are enforcing County Standard .Please plot public utilities with offset dimensions relative to 

other facilities, utilities; center line & right of way, and write adjacent Assessor’s Parcel Number 

(see Encroachment Review application form). Please request Plan & Profile of the sewer 

facilities in your project area in writing and or visit us from 1:00 PM to 4:30 PM at: 

 10060 Goethe Rd.  

Sacramento Ca. 95827 

 

Maintain 5’ Min. Horizontal clearance to Sewer facilities. Except Water Main per State Health & 

Safety code requires 10’ min Horizontal clearance. 

Maintain 1’ Min. Vertical clearance to Sewer facilities on all crossings. 

 

To access any SASD sewer: 

An approved Access Permit is required. Access Permit is available on SASD website 

www.sacsewer.com , please allow 10 days for approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.sacsewer.com/


yees
Text Box
ALAN TANNEHILL

yees
Text Box
KEN JARAMILLO

yees
Line

yees
Line

yees
Line

yees
Line



yees
Text Box
ENUC2022-00399













































































































































































































































































































































































https://www.neptunetg.com/resources/case-studies/benicia








https://muellersystems.com/resource-library/case-studies/
https://www.waterworld.com/water-utility-management/smart-water-utility/article/14072177/an-investment-in-quality-of-life
https://www.waterworld.com/water-utility-management/smart-water-utility/article/14072177/an-investment-in-quality-of-life
https://www.wwdmag.com/advanced-metering-infrastructure-ami/modern-meter-reading




















https://sensus.com/resources/case-studies/topic/water/


















https://www.xylem.com/en-us/brands








https://www.badgermeter.com/industries/water-distribution/managed-solution-beacon-advanced-metering-analytics/?sizeuniturlpart=inch&sizeminvalue=-2147483648&sizemaxvalue=2147483647&temperatureuniturlpart=fahrenheit&temperatureminvalue=-2147483648&temperaturemaxvalue=2147483647&pressureuniturlpart=pounds-per-square-inch&pressureminvalue=-2147483648&pressuremaxvalue=2147483647


https://www.badgermeter.com/resources/5049e9ff-d6a1-4bea-9259-56d43598bbba/understanding%20rf%20propogation%20of%20amr-ami%20systems%20whitepaper%20mrt-wp-1.pdf/
https://www.badgermeter.com/resources/5049e9ff-d6a1-4bea-9259-56d43598bbba/understanding%20rf%20propogation%20of%20amr-ami%20systems%20whitepaper%20mrt-wp-1.pdf/


https://www.badgermeter.com/resources/a2499e36-a867-4114-a0a0-57755515224f/orion%20water%20endpoints%20manual%20ori-um-00025-en.pdf/




http://www.aclara.com/


















































eric.vaughan
Stamp










































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	Special Meeting Agenda 
	Regular Meeting Agenda 
	CC-1a August 17 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes 
	CC-1b September 6 2022 Special Meeting Minutes 
	CC-1c  September 19 2022 Special Meeting Minutes 
	CC-02 through CC-09 Financial reports 
	CC-10 Employee Recognition 
	CC-11 Long Range Agenda 
	CC-12 Engineering Report 
	CC-13 Operations Report 
	CC-14 2022 Water Supply
	CC-15 Water Supply Reliability 
	CC-16 Water Efficiency
	CC-17 Resolution 07-2021 Extending Public Meetings 
	Attachment: Resolution 07-2021 Authorizing Remote Public Meetings 

	CC-18 Agreement with TAK Communications 
	Attachment: Construction Agreement 

	B-1 Advanced Water Meter Replacement Planning Study Update 
	Attachment: Meter Replacement Program Planning Study Final Report




